
Agenda and Meeting Materials
May 18, 2015

Grand Ballroom
UCF Fairwinds Alumni Center

12676 Gemini Boulevard, North
(for GPS)

University of Central Florida
4000 Central Florida Boulevard

Orlando, Florida 32816

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Introductory Materials

1



ACTIVITIES
BOARD OF GOVERNORS MEETINGS

Grand Ballroom
UCF Fairwinds Alumni Center
University of Central Florida

Orlando, Florida
May 18, 2015

By Telephone Conference Call
Dial-in Number:  888-670-3525

Participant Code:  4122150353# (listen only)

Monday, May 18, 2015

8:15 – 9:00 a.m. Breakfast will be provided

9:00 - 10:30 a.m. Facilities Committee
Chair:  Mr. H. Wayne Huizenga, Jr.; Vice Chair: Mr. Dick Beard
Members: Carter, Doyle, Hosseini, Levine, Link, Morton, Robinson

10:30 – 10:45 a.m. Break

10:45 a.m. – Facilities Committee (continued)
12:00 p.m.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Introductory Materials

2



12:00 – 1:00 p.m. Lunch will be provided

1:00 – 2:30 p.m. Health Initiatives Committee
or upon Chair:  Mr. Ed Morton
Adjournment of Members: Beard, Carter, Doyle, Levine, Robinson
Previous Meetings

2:30 – 2:45 p.m. Break

2:45 – 4:00 p.m. Health Initiatives Committee (continued)

Please note that this schedule may change at the Chair's privilege.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Introductory Materials

3





AGENDA
Facilities Committee

Grand Ballroom
UCF Fairwinds Alumni Center
University of Central Florida

Orlando, Florida
May 18, 2015

9:00 a.m. – 12:00 p.m.
or

Upon Adjournment of Previous Meetings

Chair: Mr. H. Wayne Huizenga, Jr.; Vice Chair: Mr. Dick Beard
Members: Carter, Doyle, Hosseini, Levine, Link, Morton, Robinson

1. Call to Order and Opening Remarks Governor H. Wayne Huizenga, Jr.

2. Approval of Committee Meeting Minutes Governor Huizenga
Minutes, March 18, 2015

3. Facilities Return on Investment (ROI) Mr. Chris Kinsley
Assistant Vice Chancellor

Finance and Facilities
Board of Governors

4. Public Private Partnership Guidelines Mr. Kinsley
Ms. Vikki Shirley

General Counsel
Board of Governors

5. Concluding Remarks and Adjournment Governor Huizenga

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Facilities Committee

4



STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA 
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

Facilities Committee
May 18, 2015

SUBJECT: Minutes of the Meeting held March 19, 2015

PROPOSED COMMITTEE ACTION

Approval of the minutes of the Facilities Committee Meeting held on March 19, 2015.

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF GOVERNORS ACTION

Article IX, Section 7, Florida Constitution

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Board members will review and approve the minutes of the meeting held on March 19, 
2015 at Florida A&M University. 

Supporting Documentation Included: Minutes: January 21, 2015

Facilitators/Presenters: Governor H. Wayne Huizenga, Jr.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Facilities Committee

5



MINUTES
STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA

BOARD OF GOVERNORS
FACILITIES COMMITTEE

FLORIDA A&M UNIVERSITY
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

March 19, 2015

Video or audio archives of the meetings of the Board of Governors
and its Committees are accessible at http://www.flbog.edu/.

Chairman H. Wayne Huizenga, Jr., convened the Board of Governors Facilities 
Committee meeting at 9:25 a.m., March 19, 2015. The following members were present: 
Vice Chair Dick Beard, Mori Hosseini, Alan Levine, Wendy Link and Kathy Robinson, 
and Matt Carter via telephone. Other members present included Stefano Cavallaro, 
Dean Colson, Patricia Frost, Tom Kuntz, Ned Lautenbach, Pam Stewart and Norm 
Tripp.

1. Call to Order

Governor Huizenga called the meeting of the Facilities Committee to order. 

2. Approval of Minutes of the Meetings of the Facilities Committee 

Governor Robinson moved that the Committee approve the minutes of the 
Facilities Committee meeting held January 21, 2015. Governor Link seconded the 
motion, and members of the Committee concurred.

3. Public Notice of Intent to Approve Amednded Board Regulation 14.020 
University Supervision of Construction Program

Following staff discussions with the Division of State Marshal, there was one 
change recommended by the Board staff. This change would align with the regular 
process to be effective today, but the Board is delaying implementation to provide 
ample time for the State Fire Marshall to make any staffing changes that need to be 
made and to allow the Board to understand which universities may use certified safety 
inspectors instead of the Fire Marshal. No questions were posed. Mr. Beard moved to 
approve the Amended Board of Governors Regulation 14.020 University Supervision of 
Construction Program. Mrs. Robinson seconded the motion, and members of the 
committee concurred.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Facilities Committee

6



4. Florida Polytechnic University Housing

The third action item addressed a public-private partnership project between 
Florida Polytechnic University and Vestcor Communities, Inc., or its affiliate. This 543-
bed, five-story facility would remain consistent with the architecture of the new 
institution and include 1,500 gsf for exclusive university use to address needs of
students who currently reside off campus. Following a presentation on the housing 
project by FPU President Randy Avent, Governor Hosseini moved that the Committee 
adopt a resolution approving Florida Polytechnic University to enter into a ground 
lease and an operating agreement for the project, as presented, with Vestcor 
Communities, Inc., or its affiliate, subject to President Avent’s agreement that he will go 
to the Board of Trustees of Florida Polytechnic University and ask them to rescind the 
policy requiring freshmen students to live on campus for their first year. This motion 
was seconded by Governor Beard, and members of the Committee concurred.

5. 2016-2017 Legislative Budget Request Guidelines

This item was discussed extensively in the prior committee (Budget and 
Finance), with the primary change being an accelerated schedule. Governor Beard 
motioned to approve the 2016-2017 Legislative Budget Request Guidelines for the Fixed 
Capital Outlay. Governor Robinson seconded the motion, and members of the 
Committee concurred.

6. Concluding Remarks and Adjournment

In conclusion Governor Huizenga introduced a new change within the Diligent 
Boardbooks system under the Facilities Committee tab. Now, to the extent feasible, staff 
will work to place key Committee reference information, previously provided as large 
attachments via email, and make it accessible through Diligent. Information on the 
Summary Information on Approved Projects, Calculation of Formula Maintenance, and 
Info Brief on University Construction Costs has already been added under the Facilities 
Committee tab. Governor Huizenga then mentioned that the annual Facilities 
Committee Workshop will take place September 22, 2015. There being no further 
business following, the meeting adjourned at 10:25 p.m., March 19, 2015.

______________________________
H. Wayne Huizenga, Jr., Chair

_____________________________
Kristen Connors,
Facilities Planner, Finance & Facilities

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Facilities Committee

7



STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

Facilities Committee
May 18, 2015

SUBJECT: Facilities Return On Investment (ROI)

PROPOSED COMMITTEE ACTION

For Information

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF GOVERNORS ACTION

Article IX, Section 7, Florida Constitution

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

As previously discussed during the November Committee meeting, Board staff had 
been working to develop a uniform measure of Facilities’ Return on Investment (ROI). 
At the February Board meeting, Chair Hosseini encouraged staff to accelerate the 
development of an ROI tool.

Working in coordination with the Florida College System, the Governor’s Budget Office, 
and other stakeholders a common ROI checklist has been developed for higher 
education facilities. A brief introduction of the ROI checklist was made during the 
March Committee meeting. 

Supporting Documentation Included: ROI Checklist

Facilitators/Presenters: Mr. Chris Kinsley

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Facilities Committee

8



Higher Educational Facilities 
Return on Investment 

 
This is a tool developed by a collaborative group of stakeholders designed to facilitate 
the identification of return on investment metrics for higher education facilities. Check 
any box(es) that apply, provide a quantitative explanation, and identify the term or 
years in which ROI information is provided. 
 
Institution: ___________________________________________________________________ 
Project: ______________________________________________________________________ 
Total Project Cost:                                  $ XX.0 M 
Previous Funding (State):                     $ XX.0 M 
Current Request:                                    $ XX.0 M 
STEM (Yes or No): _____________________________________________________________ 
Contact Person (Name, Position, Office and Cell Phone No., Email): 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Check any box(es) that apply and provide a quantitative explanation.  Identify the term 
or years in which ROI information is projected. 
 

1.  Number of Additional Degrees and Certificates Produced and How Those 
Degrees are Meeting the Needs of our State (Job Openings, Average Wages of 
those Job Openings, etc) 

  Explanation: 
 

2.  Number of Additional Students Served and the Benefits/Efficiencies Created 
(increase graduation rate, alleviate waitlist, increase academic support, etc) 

  Explanation: 
 

3.  Amount of Additional Research Funding to be Obtained; Patents Awarded 
  Explanation: 
 

4.  Project is in an Area of Strategic Emphasis as Determined by the Board of 
Governors’ Gap Analysis or the Department of Economic Opportunity’s 
National Occupational Forecast 

  Explanation: 
 

5.  Improves the Ranking of a Preeminent Program or Improves on a 
Performance Funding Model Metric 

  Explanation: 
 
 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Facilities Committee

9



6.  Increase Business Partnerships Which Will Lead to Guaranteed Internships 
and Jobs for Students  

  Explanation: 
 

7.  Project Improves the Use, either Operationally or Academically, of Existing 
Space 

  Explanation: 
 

8.  Contribution of Local Funds Through Matching Grants, Property Donations, 
etc.  

Explanation: 
 

9.  Reduces Future Deferred Maintenance Cost and Extends the Life of the 
Facility by Bringing the Project up to Existing Standards (cost-benefit analysis of 
renovation or new facility vs. maintenance) 

  Explanation: 
 
Other Pertinent Information not included above: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Facilities Committee

10



BOARD ofGOVERNORS
State University System of Florida

2015-16 Higher Educational Facilities 
Return on Investment Checklists Overview

Chris Kinsley, Assistant Vice Chancellor, Finance & Facilities
May 18, 2015

www.flbog.edu

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Facilities Committee

11



BOARD ofGOVERNORS State University System of Florida     2www.flbog.edu

ROI Checklists Development Timeline

Date Key Event

November 5, 2014 Board staff began working to develop a uniform measure of Higher
Educational Facilities’ Return on Investment.

February 19, 2015 Chair Hosseini encouraged staff to accelerate the development of 
an ROI tool.

February 20-27, 
2015

Meetings were held with the Governor’s Office and the Florida 
College System to develop a checklist.

May 18, 2015 A common ROI Checklist was presented before the Board.

April 7, 2015 The universities received ROI Checklist instructions to review and 
update data to support their facility projects. 

April 15, 2015 All ROI Checklists were due back to Board staff for review.

April 20, 2015 Board staff reviewed all ROI Checklists.

April 28, 2015 Final Draft versions of ROI Checklists were sent to the Governor’s 
Office.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Facilities Committee

12



BOARD ofGOVERNORS State University System of Florida     www.flbog.edu

ROI Checklist Overview

Collaborative Development

Quantitative Explanations

• Degrees/Certificates Produced that meet State needs
• Students Served and Benefits/Efficiencies
• Increased Research Funding
• Areas of Strategic Emphasis or DEO Occupational Forecast
• Preeminent Program Rankings or Improve PBF Metrics
• Increase Business Partnerships
• Improve Existing Space
• Local Fund Contributions
• Reduction of Future Deferred Maintenance / Extends Life of Facility

9 Key Areas

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Facilities Committee

13



BOARD ofGOVERNORS State University System of Florida     4www.flbog.edu

Checklist Question # of Projects 
Able to Mark
Checkbox

1. Number of Additional Degrees and Certificated Produced and How Those 
Degrees are Meeting the Needs of our State (Job Openings, Average Wages 
of those Job Openings, etc.)

19

2. Number of Additional Students Served and the Benefits/Efficiencies 
Created (increase graduation rate, alleviate waitlist, increase academic 
support, etc.)

21

3. Amount of Additional Research Funding to be Obtained; Patents Awarded 16

4. Project is an Area of Strategic Emphasis as Determined by the Board of 
Governors’ Gap Analysis or the Department of Economic Opportunity’s 
National Occupational Forecast 

6

5. Improves the Ranking of a Preeminent Program or Improves on a 
Performance Funding Model Metric

17

ROI Checklist – Summary of University Responses

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Facilities Committee

14



BOARD ofGOVERNORS State University System of Florida     5www.flbog.edu

Checklist Question # of Projects 
Able to Mark
Checkbox

6. Increase Business Partnerships Which Will Lead to Guaranteed Internships 
and Jobs for Students

16

7. Project Improves the Use, either Operationally or Academically, of Existing
Space

20

8. Contribution of Local Funds Through Matching Grants, Property Donations, 
etc.

12

9. Reduces Future Deferred Maintenance Cost and Extends the Life of the 
Facility by Bringing the Project up to Existing Standards (cost-benefit analysis 
of renovation or new facility vs. maintenance)

11

ROI Checklist – Summary of University Responses

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Facilities Committee

15



BOARD ofGOVERNORS
State University System of Florida

www.flbog.edu

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Facilities Committee

16



STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

Facilities Committee
May 18, 2015

SUBJECT: Public Private Partnership Guidelines 

PROPOSED COMMITTEE ACTION 

Discussion of draft guidelines related to Public Private Partnerships. 

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF GOVERNORS ACTION

Article IX, Section 7, Florida Constitution; Sections 1013.171 and 1010.62, Florida 
Statutes

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Public-Private partnerships (P3s) have been used in Canada and Europe as a common 
financing mechanism for the past few decades and over the last several years have 
gained in popularity in the United States as an alternative method for the completion of 
major capital projects. In Florida, P3s have been used primarily for road projects, such 
as the I-595 express lanes in Miami and the I-4 expansion project in the Orlando area. 

The State University System has been interested in using P3s as well; however, no 
specific policies governing these complex transactions exist, leading to an ambiguous 
environment. In each of the past three years, various legislative solutions were 
proposed to clarify P3 rules for state entities, including state universities. However, 
while P3 statutes have been adopted for some governmental units, no change in law 
occurred for the universities. Following the 2014 Session, the Board of Governors 
conducted a P3 workshop in August, inviting university staff, external P3 experts, the 
State Division of Bond Finance, the Executive Office of the Governor, and other key 
stakeholders to participate. Out of this workshop, the consensus position was that 
Board staff, assisted by the universities, would establish a set of draft guidelines within 
the existing legal framework for university P3s. 

The attached Issue Summary describes in brief the position of each university, the State 
Division of Bond Finance and the Board staff. 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Facilities Committee

17



Supporting Documentation Included: Public Private Partnership Guidelines Issue
Summary

Facilitators/Presenters: Mr. Chris Kinsley; Ms. Vikki Shirley

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Facilities Committee

18



State University System of Florida - DRAFT ISSUE SUMMARY 

Ref. No. Issue Summary Option A Option B Option C 
Board staff 
preliminary 

position

Division of Bond 
Finance

Universities 
Supporting Option A

Universities 
Supporting Option 

B

Universities 
Supporting Option C

Comments Lead

Universit
Vote

Missng

1 Term of Lease 40 Years A 40-year term is the 
expectation; however, 
the  Board may consider 
a longer term if 
appropriate justification 
is provided, but in no 
event to exceed a 50-
year term.

The term of any lease 
associated with the 
Project "will be for a term 
not in excess of 99 years 
or the life expectancy of 
the permanent facilities 
constructed thereon, 
whichever is shorter" 
with the expectation of 
an engineering report for 
any Project with a 
proposed useful life of 
more than 50 years. 

B A FAU,FSU,UF,
USF,UWF, 

FGCUFPU, UCF, 
NCF,UNF, FIU, FAMU

All universities agree with option C, with the board considering a longer 
term with appropriate justification. Justification would include 
demonstrating that projected revenues match debt service requirements 
and an engineering report regarding the useful life of the project.   We 
note that a shorter term lease may in some cases require increases in 
rates to students.

USF
2 Maximum Term of 

Project Debt
30 years Permanent debt with 

terms of 30 years or less 
after the construction 
period is the expectation; 
however, the Board may 
consider a longer debt 
term when justified. 

40 years B B FSU, UF,FAU, 
FIU,FPU,NCF,UNF,
UCF,UWF, FAMU, 

USF, FGCU

All universities agree with option C with the board considering a longer 
term with appropriate justification.   All universities believe that flexibility 
balanced with the university's risk tolerance are key to a successful P3 
project.  USF commented in a debt/equity situation that the private entity 
should have the flexibility to determine their own debt terms.  Increases in 
cost result from unnecessarily restrictive or commercially infeasible 
provisions so it is important not to eliminate the universities' ability to 
propose terms with appropriate support and to preserve the BOG's ability 
and willingness to consider the soundness of each proposal.  Additionally, 
as noted above, term length affects the rates to students.

USF
3 No deferral of debt 

past construction 
period (Amortization 
of principal should be 
scheduled within 6 
months of project 
Certificate of 
Occupancy)

Exceptions require 
justification and BOG 
approval.

Not required. 
Repayment of Principal 
may be extended. 

A A FSU, UNF, USF, 
UWF, FIU, FAU, FPU, 

NCF, UCF, UF, 
FAMU, FGCU

The universities selected Option C in order to account for the variability in 
financing models for P3 projects.   

USF
4 On Campus BOG  approval required 

for P3s
A A FIU, FPU, FSU, NCF, 

UF, USF, UWF, UNF, 
UCF, FAMU, FAU, 

FGCU

The definition of P3 is central.  All universities agree with "A" if the 
definition of P3 is apporpriately tailored.  BOG approval should be 
reserved for projects materially impacting or likely to materially impact on 
a university's debt rating. The definition appears to have been expanded 
to include any project on a university campus regardless of revenue 
stream, type of project or impact on debt rating.   Not all on campus 
projects need BOG approval.  Projects among only the university and 
university- affiliated entities should not require approval.  For this reason, 
university-affiliated entities should not be defined as "Private Parties" 
triggering the P3 guidelines.   See Items 12 and 13.

UF

1

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Facilities Committee

19



State University System of Florida - DRAFT ISSUE SUMMARY 

Ref. No. Issue Summary Option A Option B Option C 
Board staff 
preliminary 

position

Division of Bond 
Finance

Universities 
Supporting Option A

Universities 
Supporting Option 

B

Universities 
Supporting Option C

Comments Lead

Universit
Vote

Missng

5 Adjacent Property Board approval required 
for P3s

"Adjacent" is better 
defined as "Under 
university jurisdiction" 
See Issue No. 7

Board approval not 
required for P3s.

B B FAU, FSU, UCF, 
UWF, FAMU, FIU, 
FPU, NCF, UNF, 

USF, FGCU,
 UF

The universities support Option C unless the P3 project is likely to have a 
material impact on a university or DSO debt rating, in which event 
approval would need to be sought.    UF proposes this compromise on 
"university jurisdiction" (which, per #10, should bring most universities 
into agreement): Guidelines should apply to projects on campus (defined 
as per BOG Reg. 8.009), except as noted in #4, and also apply to off 
campus projects directly undertaken by a university or DSO on university- 
or state-directly-owned land.  Guidelines should not apply as noted in UF 
exclusion (e)--where a properly formed, insulating, separate affiliate such 
as an LLC (whose manager or controlling equity, membership, or board 
interest is held by a university, DSO and/or other university affiliate)  (1) 
will directly repay debt or construct project wherever it is (same as the 
University/DSO exclusion); or (2) is entering the transaction with the 
Private Party off campus on land not directly owned by the university or 
state/leased to university-- and if the land is owned by a university-
controlled entity, it is not immediately adjacent or across a normal public 
way from the campus.  The liability of a capitalized LLC (e.g., one owning 
the land) is limited to its assets--and does not extend to a univ.'s or 
DSO's assets; and if off campus and not immediately adjacent to or 
across a normal public way from campus, the univ. should not be 
compelled to step in and bond rating should not be impaired.   

UF
6 What approval is 

required to lease land 
under University 
jurisdiction?

BOT approval required 
by s. 1013.171; BOG 
approval required for any 
P3s as defined. 

A A FIU, FPU, FSU, NCF, 
UF, UNF, UWF,  UCF, 

FAMU, FGCU,
USF, FAU

Under current law, universities have authority to enter into ground leases.  
Definition of P3 is central.  

UCF

7 What approval is 
required to purchase 
or lease-purchase 
land or buildings not 
under University 
jurisdiction? 

Not a P3 as defined; 
follow s. 1010.62 if using 
a debt mechanism. 

A A FIU, FAU, FPU, FSU, 
NCF, UCF, UF, UNF, 
USF, UWF, FAMU, 

FGCU

UCF

8 What if the land is 
owned by a university 
DSO, or governmental 
agency at federal, 
state, county or 
municipal level?

A University may obtain 
a long-term lease for 
land. Once the land is 
under university 
jurisdiction, it then must 
follow either the P3 
guidelines, or Debt 
Management guidelines 
(if the university is 
responsible for the debt), 
in order to construct a 
facility. The lease term 
must be a minimum of  
40 years; and must cover 
the entire expected 
useful life of the facility. 

B B FAU, FIU, FPU, NCF, 
UCF,  UNF, UWF, UF, 
FAMU, FSU, FCGU, 

USF

FSU

9 Off Campus
(other than adjacent)

P3 Guidelines are not 
applicable to land not 
under university 
jurisdiction. 

C C FAU, FIU, FPU, FSU, 
NCF, UCF, UF, UNF, 
USF, UWF, FAMU, 

FGCU

The term university jurisdiction needs to be clarified to bring it in line with 
Items 4, 5 and 10. 

FSU

2

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Facilities Committee

20



State University System of Florida - DRAFT ISSUE SUMMARY 

Ref. No. Issue Summary Option A Option B Option C 
Board staff 
preliminary 

position

Division of Bond 
Finance

Universities 
Supporting Option A

Universities 
Supporting Option 

B

Universities 
Supporting Option C

Comments Lead

Universit
Vote

Missng

10 Limited Liability 
Company's (LLC)

P3 Guidelines apply to 
University OR DSO 
controlled LLCs. If a 
university, DSO or LLC 
conveys a real property 
interest that is intended 
to result in construction 
of a facility that will serve 
a university use, this 
requires BOG approval. 

The Board could 
grandfather in existing 
University-controlled 
LLCs 

University or DSO-
controlled  LLCs should 
be able to engage in P3 
projects outside of the 
P3 Guidelines. 

A A UCF, FSU, UF, UNF, 
USF, UWF, 

FAMU,FIU, FPU, 
FGCU,

FAU, NCF

The universities support Option C unless the P3 project is likely to have a 
material impact on the university's or DSO's debt rating, in which event 
approval would need to be sought.  Item 10 is similar to #5.  An on-
campus project meeting the defintiion of "Facility" (and "Project" with a 
"Private Party") as agreed upon, is subject to the guidelines; others are 
not. Univs nationally frequently engage in economic development in 
communities; this is good for FL. If a univ. facilitates a project off campus, 
whether adjacent or not, for economic development and the univ. is not at 
risk for the project, then it should not be subject to the guidelines.  LLCs 
are prudent, routine insulating structures that ensure non-project-related 
assets are not at risk. If a univ. or in-family entity creates a capitalized 
LLC (that holds project-related off campus property), and that LLC does 
the off campus project with a Private Party, any liability is limited to the 
LLC's assets (mainly the property). The off campus locale supports the 
LLC's insulating purpose; bond rating is unlikely to be affected. B. 
Watkins told UF that the concept is fine from a debt perspective (as long 
as the drafting emphasizes that the LLC exemption is limited to off 
campus projects that are not immediately adjacent to or across a normal 
public way from campus). Notice to the BOG was also discussed.  

UF
11 Extraordinary Projects 

(Hotels, Athletics, etc.) 
& method of financing

Leg. Approval required 
for both project and 
financing method (Back 
of Bill)

Leg. Approval required 
(Back of Bill)

Leg. Approval should not 
be required. 

B A FAU, FIU, FSU, UCF, 
UNF, USF, UWF, 
FPU, NCF, UF, 
FAMU, FGCU

Universities within Florida and outside Florida are routinely engaged in 
these types of project.   There is no need for this additional approval due 
to the specific use of the project.  

UCF
12 Review Period The initial request must 

be submitted for review 
90 Days prior to BOG 
meeting date.

90 days, with staff 
flexibility to consider late 
submissions. 

Request must be 
submitted for review 45 
days prior to BOG 
meeting date. However, 
the submission must be 
correct; and free from 
errors and omissions, or 
the clock starts over. 

A A UCF, UF, UNF, 
FAMU,FPU, 

NCF,FAU, FIU, UWF. 
FAU

The universities have choosen options here but strongly support a 
process that permits pre-authorization of projects as described in Item 13 
below. P3 projects are diffferent than regular universeity debt-financed 
projects in that the third parties are "at risk" during the ITN selection 
process and negotiation period as they must commit to specific terms, 
expend substantial time and funds, secure a lender, and then await 
approval.   A 90 day time period is a long time to hold pricing open and 
this risk will increase financing costs, may limit financing options, and 
increase univ. project costs.  Our current approach for debt issuance 
authorization allows the university to seek approval for the financing 
before actually financing the project and selecting the design and 
construction team, etc.  The universities should be allowed to proceed 
with P3 projects upon receiving general approval from the BOG for the 
ITN and the pro forma.  Errors should only require an extension of review 
time if material.

FIU

3

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Facilities Committee

21



State University System of Florida - DRAFT ISSUE SUMMARY 

Ref. No. Issue Summary Option A Option B Option C 
Board staff 
preliminary 

position

Division of Bond 
Finance

Universities 
Supporting Option A

Universities 
Supporting Option 

B

Universities 
Supporting Option C

Comments Lead

Universit
Vote

Missng

13 Project  pre-approval 
by Board

Not provided for. Universities have an 
"Information Only" option 
to share preliminary 
project data with the 
Board, and solicit 
informal feedback. 

Universities have the 
option of seeking "pre-
approval"; as long as the 
they stay within a 
defined envelope, no 
further approval is 
required. 

B A FIU, FSU, UCF, UF, 
UNF, USF, FAMU, 

UWF, FPU, 
NCF,FGCU,

FAU

The universities strongly support Option C allowing universities to have 
the ability to seek pre-approval of projects within parameters approved by 
the BOG--and to get additional approval (on a short schedule) of any 
limited provisions that exceed the up front approval (if any).  This 
approach will create more certainty in the process, give better leverage to 
universities in negotiations, and reduce impact of this approval process 
on pricing.  If it is essential for BOG to provide approval after the 
transaction is negotiated, it makes more sense--at a university's option--
to allow for both an initial authorization and an abbreviated post-
review/approval period delegated to the Chancellor or staff to confirm the 
project fits within the original authorization.  However, having the 
University's counsel and financial advisor certify to the BOG that the 
project fits within the approved parameters should suffice, as they are 
competent, ethical, professionals.   See attached list of submittals for pre-
approval.

FIU / UF
14 Documentation 

Requirements 
As provided in Draft P3 
Guidelines

A A FAU, FIU, FPU, NCF, 
UCF, UF, UNF, UWF,  

USF, FSU, FGCU

 Rather than focus solely on cost effectiveness, this documentation  
requirement should be changed to be best value to the university, which 
would allow for cost effectiveness as well as other considerations. See 
Item 17 below. FAMU-  no position.

UWF
15 Post-Approval 

Reporting
As provided in Draft P3 
Guidelines

B B FAU, FIU, FPU, NCF, 
UCF, UF, UNF, UWF, 

FSU, USF, FAMU, 
FGCU

Effort should be made to standardize post-approval reporting rather than 
providing for reporting to be a project by project determination.  
Additionally, the requirement for any other reporting deemed necessary is 
already cvoered by BOG Regulation 9.009 and can be deleted.  This is 
another area where certainty will help us.  

UWF
16 Parking, Housing, 

Student Life
No special Leg. Approval 
required

B B FAU, FIU, FSU, NCF, 
UCF, UF, UNF, USF, 
UWF, FPU, FAMU. 

FGCU 
UCF

17 Cost-Benefit Standard 
to apply

A cost-benefit analysis 
showing that the P3 
procurement 
methodology is the most 
cost effective method of 
delivering the Project; 
and providing 
justification supporting 
the use of the P3 
procurement method,  
with priority being placed 
on student affordability. 

A cost-benefit analysis 
showing that the P3 
procurement 
methodology is a 
reasonably cost efffective 
method of delivering the 
Project; with priority 
being placed on student 
affordability. 

B A FAU, FIU, FPU, FSU, 
NCF,  USF, UWF, UF, 

UCF, UNF, FAMU, 
FGCU

 Student costs are n/a to many P3 projects so this should be clarified.   In 
cases in which student costs, i.e., housing rates, are relevant, priority 
should be on value to students and university, not affordability only. For 
example, a project without a common space with TVs might be more 
affordable but might not be marketable.   Cost effectiveness evaluations 
must include all costs, including construction, financing, and operational 
costs.

FIU
18 The provisions of s. 

1010.62 (University 
Debt Statute) apply to 
any university or DSO 
revenues associated 
with a P3 project. 

All revenue restrictions 
and the functional 
relationship test apply. 

The application of s. 
1010.62  revenue 
limitations should be 
applied in a common 
sense manner; i.e. 
materiality. 

Since the project is not 
university or DSO debt, 
these provisions are 
inapplicable. 

B A FAU, FIU, FSU, NCF, 
UCF, UNF, USF, 

UWF, FPU, FGCU, 
UF

FAU

4

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Facilities Committee

22



State University System of Florida - DRAFT ISSUE SUMMARY 

Ref. No. Issue Summary Option A Option B Option C 
Board staff 
preliminary 

position

Division of Bond 
Finance

Universities 
Supporting Option A

Universities 
Supporting Option 

B

Universities 
Supporting Option C

Comments Lead

Universit
Vote

Missng

19 Mandatory 
consideration of Bond 
Finance concerns by 
the BOG. 

Should the Division of 
Bond Finance disagree 
with any 
recommendation of the 
Board of Governors staff 
or suggest that any 
additional information be 
presented to the Board 
of Governors, such 
recommendations or 
information shall be 
included with any 
recommendation 
provided by the Board of 
Governors staff to the 
Board of Governors.  
(Current practice for 
Debt approvals, as well 
as last 2 P3s)

A A DBF's analyses and recommendations should be presented only when 
they relate to the University's or DSO's debt. BOG, as the approval 
authority for P3 projects, should have the flexiblity to determine when or 
whether to consult with DBF or other Financial Advisors with respect to 
other aspects of P3 projects. 

FAU

FIU, FPU, 
NCF, UF, 

UWF, 
UNF,FGCU,
FSU, UCF, 

USF,
FAU, FAMU

20 Do Private Party 
Tenant improvements 
over $5 million require 
BOG approval? 

Only if related to a P3 
project as defined. Does 
not apply to operating 
agreements. 

Approval not required. C A FAU, FIU, FPU, FSU, 
NCF, UCF, UF, UNF, 
USF, UWF, FAMU, 

FGCU
FAU

21 DSOs DSOs will follow either 
the P3 or Debt 
Guidelines for 
universities.

A A FAU, FIU, FPU,  NCF, 
UCF, UF, UNF, USF, 
UWF, FAMU. FGCU, 

FSU
FSU

5

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Facilities Committee

23



Upfront Approval—Scope of Proposal Anticipated

1. Board of Trustees (and, if applicable, DSO Board) have endorsed the
project pre-approval envelope and have endorsed the concept of the 
project. Board of Trustees (and, if applicable, DSO Board) approval 
will be obtained prior to entering binding agreements for the P3 
Project.  

2. Names and qualifications of legal and financial experts who will 
advise the University.

3. ITN meeting the requirements of BOG Guidelines will be issued.

4. How the Project will be consistent with the strategic priorities and 
mission of the university, with appropriate references to both the 
university strategic plan and mission statement.  

5. Demand information (in light of current facilities). 

6. Envelope Facility program:  location, size and ownership [UFBOT or 
IITF] of site, use of Facility, maximum size/minimum key amenities 
and specifications (e.g., # of rooms and types of common areas for 
dorms, parking needs, etc.).  Whether the Project is included in a 
campus master plan, or is not required to be included in a campus 
plan, with appropriate references and documentation.  If on campus, 
the location of the Project shall be provided on a current campus map.

7. Maximum term of the lease and of the financing.  Anticipated schedule 
for solicitation, negotiation/documentation, design and construction 
(with contingency cushion).

8. Whether the Facility will be owned by the University upon end of the 
term or whether there will be an option to require the private 
developer to remove the facility and options for addressing 
maintenance and repairs (with ability for developers to propose more 
favorable options).

9. Financial and qualification assumptions: 

∑ Why the Project will be a cost effective method for meeting 
university needs and purposes, taking into account the 
availability or unavailability of other funding sources and the 
financial pro forma parameters.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Facilities Committee

24



∑ What will be required of the Private Party to demonstrate 
ability to obtain financing and service the project.

∑ How experience of the Private Party and key personnel will be 
determined and experience required (specifying type of 
experience sought).

∑ Financing options and parameters (as applicable, minimum 
equity to be required, etc.).

∑ Anticipated sources of revenues necessary to fully fund the 
construction, operation and maintenance of the Project.  If 
student fees/payments are involved, the cost of existing 
campus and market options and whether (and by what 
maximum percentage) cost is anticipated to exceed existing 
options and how this affects value to students (e.g., if the Project 
will provide amenities that aren’t available in existing options). 

∑ The minimum expected rate of return for a revenue-generating 
Project, and the anticipated uses of any revenues returned to the 
university or DSO.

∑ University involvement, methodology, limits, controls in 
approving initial and future fees if fees are a source of revenues.
Some parameters (e.g., not more than X% above the cost of 
certain comparable existing facilities).

∑ Insurance required.

10. Summary of key terms of the proposed agreement with the Private 
Party, including the provisions that are designed to protect the 
university or the DSO generally and in the event of a material default 
by the Private Party (e.g., bonds, restrictive covenants, recognition and 
subordination agreements, recordation obligations, escrows).

11. Other information the University provides in support of the approval
or which is requested by Board staff and/or the Division of Bond 
Finance.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Facilities Committee

25



AGENDA
Health Initiatives Committee Workshop

Grand Ballroom, UCF Fairwinds Alumni Center
University of Central Florida

Orlando, Florida
May 18, 2015

1:00 p.m. – 4:00 p.m.
or

Upon Adjournment of Previous Meetings

Chair: Mr. Ed Morton
Members: Beard, Carter, Doyle, Levine, Robinson

Purpose of the Meeting

∑ Review the Committee’s draft report, Supply/Demand Workforce Gap Analysis 
on Health-Related Programs, and discuss the occupations that appear to be under-
supplied

∑ Consider the effect of additional contextual factors to determine which 
occupations are under-supplied and which are sufficiently supplied, as 
appropriate

1. Call to Order and Opening Remarks Governor Ed Morton

2. Gap Analysis for Health Occupations Ms. Amy Beaven
Director, STEM/Health Initiatives,

Board of Governors
Review of Potentially Under-Supplied Occupations
Review of Sufficiently-Supplied Occupations (if time allows)

3. Concluding Remarks and Adjournment Governor Morton

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

26



STATE UNIVERSITY SYSTEM OF FLORIDA
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

Health Initiatives Committee Workshop
May 18, 2015

SUBJECT: Gap Analysis for Health Occupations

PROPOSED COMMITTEE ACTION

For Information

AUTHORITY FOR BOARD OF GOVERNORS ACTION

Article IX, Section 7, Florida Constitution

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

In August 2013 the Board of Governors Health Initiatives Committee was established to 
provide leadership for the development of system-level policy regarding health 
initiatives.  During the first year of its Two-Year Work Plan, the Committee is 
conducting an environmental scan encompassing three areas:  health-related education, 
health care delivery impacted by the health care academic experience, and health-
related research.  The work of the Committee will lead to the development of a strategic 
plan that will guide the State University System in both the foreseeable future as well as 
in the long-term when Florida is expected to experience even more stress on its health 
care delivery system.

The Health Initiatives Committee will meet to consider additional information, and 
feedback from its Advisory Group, on gaps in the health workforce. The Committee 
will review the findings in a draft report that includes supply-demand gaps in 23 
occupations, as well information on nursing.  The final report is scheduled to be 
presented to the Board of Governors in June as part of this year's environmental scan in 
health education, research, and healthcare delivery. 

Supporting Documentation Included: Supply/Demand Workforce Gap Analysis on 
Health-Related Programs as Part of the 
Environmental Scan of the Board of Governors 
Health Initiatives Committee

Facilitators/Presenters: Ms. Amy Beaven

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

27



Errata Sheet for 
Supply/Demand Workforce Gap Analysis 

on Health-Related Programs 
as Part of the Environmental Scan

of the Board of Governors Health Initiatives Committee

May 18, 2015

1

∑ Figure 3 Summary of Projected Annual Demand and Annual Supply by 
Occupation (table currently in Excel), rows on Physicians, last two columns, the 
supply-demand figures have been replaced with text that reads:

o See occupational chapter for additional details on GME and demand-
supply by specialty area

∑ P. 2, Table of Contents,
o Page numbers have changed to reflect the addition of new text and a 

corresponding page shift
o A new section titled, Emerging and Evolving Occupations, has been 

added after the Results and Occupational Chapters section
∑ P. 16, last paragraph, the following sentence was modified:

o For some occupations, a significant portion of individuals obtain licenses 
in the state of Florida and then either (1) leave the state within a year or 
(2) fail to move into the state and establish a Florida practice address.

∑ P. 18, Nursing chapter, first paragraph, the following was deleted:
o The chapter on Registered Nurses, Nurse Practitioners, and Nurse 

Anesthetists will be revised based on feedback and additional information 
from the Health Initiatives Committee’s Advisory Group meeting on May 
12th. The tables below are provided for discussion purposes and may be 
modified after review of additional data.

∑ P. 18, Nursing chapter, a Summary Observation section has been added with the 
following bullet points:

o The Florida Department of Economic Opportunity projects 6,979 annual 
openings for Registered Nurses, 357 annual openings for Nurse 
Practitioners, and 140 annual openings for Nurse Anesthetists from 2014
to 2022*.  

o Florida produced roughly 8,600 new Registered Nursing graduates, 580 
new Nurse Practitioner graduates, and 140 new Nurse Anesthetist 
graduates in 2012-2013* (those not previously licensed for the specific 
occupation).

o Meaningful post-graduation employment data for nursing graduates 
was not available at the time of analysis due to confounding factors in 
the reporting by CIP code. However, data from the Florida Center for 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

28



Errata Sheet for 
Supply/Demand Workforce Gap Analysis 

on Health-Related Programs 
as Part of the Environmental Scan

of the Board of Governors Health Initiatives Committee

May 18, 2015

2

Nursing on nursing employment may provide this additional context 
going forward.

o Florida issued 22,965 new Registered Nurse licenses, 523 new Nurse 
Practitioner licenses and 165 new Nurse Anesthetist licenses in 2014* 
(includes licenses issued to Florida graduates and in-migration); 14,256 
with an in-state active Registered Nurse license, 256 with an in-state 
active Nurse Practitioner license, and 44 with an active in-state Nurse 
Anesthetist license remain in Florida the following year.

o A final supply-demand gap analysis for the nursing occupations is not 
available at the time of print for this report. The analysis requires 
consideration of additional contextual factors and several Florida-based 
reports on nursing will become available as the Health Initiatives 
Committee moves into its strategic planning and implementation year. 
The Florida Center for Nursing, in conjunction with health industry 
leaders, will evaluate the current and future needs in nursing and is 
expected to produce a report in early 2016. Several of the critical 
contextual factors that should be considered for a thorough analysis 
include: shortages that may currently exist but are not captured in the 
baseline data of the DEO’s projections, increasing demand for nurses 
with a bachelor’s degree due to more complex care and hospitals 
seeking Magnet status, nuanced demand where some positions require 
advanced training and are not actually available to new nursing 
graduates, changes in health care delivery that impact the demand for 
registered nurses and advanced practice nurses, and factors that impact 
the growth of nursing programs and education pathways for nursing. 

o The data provided in the tables below are current estimates of supply 
and demand, but further data collection and analysis is required to 
determine the true estimate of gaps in the nursing workforce. The 
Health Initiatives Committee will continue to review the nursing 
occupations as part of its work in 2015-2016.

∑ P. 19-29, Nursing chapter, text describing each of the tables and sources for data 
in the tables have been added 

∑ P. 19, Table 1A for Nursing has been modified in the following ways:

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

29



Errata Sheet for 
Supply/Demand Workforce Gap Analysis 

on Health-Related Programs 
as Part of the Environmental Scan

of the Board of Governors Health Initiatives Committee

May 18, 2015

3

o The “Adjusted Supply” column was changed to “Adjusted Graduates*”
with a corresponding notation below the table.

o “Supply-Demand” has been changed to “Adj. Graduates – Demand”.
o The numbers for Annual Demand, Adjusted Graduates, and Adj. 

Graduates – Demand were previously summed (and merged in the table) 
for Registered Nurses, Nurse Practitioners, and Nurse Anesthetists. The 
numbers have now been separated and estimates are provided for each of 
the three occupations. This change is consistent with the figures included 
in Figure 3. Summary of Projected Annual Demand and Annual Supply 
by Occupation.

∑ P. 31, Physician chapter, Summary Observations, the 5th bullet was modified to 
the following sentence:

o Additional data on Graduate Medical Education and results from a 
recent Florida-based supply-demand gap analysis for Physician 
specialties is included in this section. These additional contextual 
factors highlight current and projected shortage areas for Physicians, 
both geographically and in specialty areas.  

∑ P. 46, Summary Observations, 5th bullet point, the following sentence was 
modified:

o Based on available data, it appears that the projected annual openings are 
SUFFICIENTLY SUPPLIED. However, the supply-demand gap analysis 
for Physical Therapists should be reviewed again in the coming years,
as the impacts of an aging workforce and the shift to the doctoral level 
could disrupt the current balance.

∑ P. 52, Summary Observations, 5th bullet point and asterisk notation, the 
following sentences were modified:

o Based on available data, it appears that the projected annual openings are 
SUFFICIENTLY SUPPLIED. In addition to a significant amount of in-
migration for the occupation, the new supply of roughly 100 graduates 
per year from the Lake Erie College of Medicine Dental School will 
increase the number of Dentists in Florida and fill annual demand over 
the projected period.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

30



Errata Sheet for 
Supply/Demand Workforce Gap Analysis 

on Health-Related Programs 
as Part of the Environmental Scan

of the Board of Governors Health Initiatives Committee

May 18, 2015

4

o ** Does not include, however, new supply of graduates from Lake Erie 
College of Medicine Dental School. (Asterisks and notation were deleted).

∑ P. 55, third paragraph, the following sentence was added to the end of the 
paragraph:

o However, the new supply of 100 graduates per year from the Lake Erie 
College of Medicine Dental program could bring the annual number of 
newly licensed Dentists above the projected annual demand, yielding a 
sufficient supply of Dentists.

∑ P. 59, Summary Observations, 5th bullet point, the following sentence was 
modified:

o Based on available data, it appears that the projected annual openings are 
SUFFICIENTLY SUPPLIED. However, the supply-demand gap analysis 
for Occupational Therapists should be reviewed again in the coming 
years, as the impacts of an aging workforce and any increases in out-
migration could disrupt the current balance.

∑ P. 100, Summary Observations, 5th bullet point, the following sentence was 
modified:

o Based on available data, it appears that the projected annual openings are 
SUFFICIENTLY SUPPLIED.

∑ P. 127, Summary Observations, 5th bullet point, the following sentence was 
modified:

o Based on available data, it appears that the projected annual openings are 
SUFFICIENTLY SUPPLIED. (Question mark was replaced with a period)

∑ P. 132, Summary Observations, 5th bullet point, the following sentence was 
modified:

o Based on available data, it appears that the projected annual openings are 
UNDER-SUPPLIED SUFFICIENTLY SUPPLIED. The adequate supply 
of graduates and license-holders in closely related occupations could fill 
any unmet demand for Marriage and Family Therapists. At the 5-digit 
SOC, where related occupations can be grouped together, the supply of
therapists and counselors far exceeds the projected number of openings.

∑ P. 141, Summary Observations, 5th bullet point, the following sentence was 
modified:

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

31



Errata Sheet for 
Supply/Demand Workforce Gap Analysis 

on Health-Related Programs 
as Part of the Environmental Scan

of the Board of Governors Health Initiatives Committee

May 18, 2015

5

o Based on available data, it appears that the projected annual openings are 
UNDER-SUPPLIED SUFFICIENTLY SUPPLIED. The adequate supply 
of graduates and license-holders in closely related occupations could fill 
any unmet demand for Rehabilitation Counselors. At the 5-digit SOC, 
where related occupations can be grouped together, the supply of 
therapists and counselors far exceeds the projected number of openings.

∑ P. 147, Summary Observations, 5th bullet point, the following sentence was 
modified:

o Based on available data, it appears that the projected annual openings are
UNDER-SUPPLIED SUFFICIENTLY SUPPLIED. A lack of licensure 
data means that in-migration estimates are not available. Additional 
supply from in-migration and a newly proposed program in Music 
Therapy at Florida Gulf Coast University are likely to fill any unmet 
demand over the projected period.

∑ P. 161, a new section on Emerging and Evolving Occupations with the following 
paragraphs has been added:

As part of its environmental scan, the Health Initiatives Committee and Advisory 
Group considered emerging and evolving health occupations.  Emerging occupations 
are newly forming occupations in which new skills and competencies in the 
workforce are becoming formally recognized.  Evolving occupations are occupations 
that currently exist but are being redefined by changes in necessary skills and 
competencies.

One area of particular concern is personalized medicine and the need for a workforce 
with practice-oriented and increasingly complex biomedical knowledge and skills. 
Further review of programs that prepare graduates for the practice of personalized 
medicine, in subjects like Genetics, Pharmacogenetics, and Bioinformatics, may be 
warranted. Genetics and Bioinformatics may be program areas that are evolving and 
in the future it may be necessary to prepare more Genetic Counselors and more 
medical science graduates with practice-oriented skills in personalized medicine. 
Pharmacogenetics on the other hand may be an emerging area where student and 
workforce demand will grow as new technologies are developed.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

32



Errata Sheet for 
Supply/Demand Workforce Gap Analysis 

on Health-Related Programs 
as Part of the Environmental Scan

of the Board of Governors Health Initiatives Committee

May 18, 2015

6

Another area of concern is preventive and population health and an increasing need 
for community-based health workers. Occupational Health and Safety Specialists 
and Environmental Health Scientists were two occupations that could not be fully 
evaluated for this gap analysis based on the current classification of programs. The 
role of Health Educators, Community Health Workers (typically not required to have 
a Bachelor’s degree), Epidemiologists, Occupational Health and Safety Specialists, 
and Environmental Health Scientists may evolve to be needed in a greater number of 
workforce settings and demand may increase as health promotion and prevention 
programs expand.

∑ P. 161, the section on Conclusion and Next Steps has been modified to delete 
some text and replace it with the following paragraphs:

Nurses and Physicians are the most likely of the 21 occupational groups presented in 
the results section of this report to be under-supplied. Physical Therapists, 
Occupational Therapists, and Dentists had contextual factors that indicate they are
sufficiently supplied but should be monitored for changes to supply or demand. For 
those occupations with Florida licensure, only Marriage and Family Therapists had 
fewer licenses issued in 2014 than the projected annual openings. However, 
considerable overlap in the counselor and therapy occupations leads to the 
conclusion that overall supply is sufficient to fill any unmet demand for the specific 
counselor and therapy occupations. Several occupations had fewer graduates in 2012-
2013 than the projected number of projected openings, but licensing data suggests that 
in-migration may offset this gap. Enough licenses for Physical Therapists, Occupational 
Therapists, and Veterinarians appear to be issued each year to meet the projected 
annual openings, but a gap could be created if in-migration falls, if a high percentage 
chooses not to work (or only part-time) in the field, or if demand increases above the 
projections.  

Nurse Practitioners and Nurse Anesthetists appear to be under-supplied when the 
retention of license-holders in Florida is considered. This may not be a problem of 
producing enough Florida graduates, since 720 pre-professional Nurse Practitioners 
and Nurse Anesthetists graduated in 2012-2013 and the projected annual openings for 
both occupations is 497. Rather, retention of graduates and license-holders may be the 
problem, as more than half of the 2014 licensees (388 of 688) left the state within a year 
of licensing. Similarly, the annual licensing for Dentists also falls short of meeting the 
511 projected annual openings when considering that only 443 of the 569 licenses issued 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

33



Errata Sheet for 
Supply/Demand Workforce Gap Analysis 

on Health-Related Programs 
as Part of the Environmental Scan

of the Board of Governors Health Initiatives Committee

May 18, 2015

7

in 2014 currently remain in-state and active. However, in this case, the addition of 100 
new graduates a year from the Lake Erie College of Medicine Dental program should
offset this shortage beginning in 2016.

The next steps of Health Initiatives Committee will be to consider the analysis and draw 
conclusions on which occupations are under-supplied. Population growth and the 
distribution of the population (and health care needs) around the state are two trends 
that influence all of the occupations reviewed for this report and are additional 
factors to consider as the Committee moves forward. Florida’s population will 
continue to grow.  The state’s demographics are not expected to stabilize or to 
decrease, as other states project.  Instead, all projections show continued increases in 
population as far out as these projections are made. Florida’s health care needs are 
not evenly distributed throughout the state.  Rural areas, in particular, can be under-
supplied, even as the state as a whole has sufficient supply in any given health care 
occupation. For these reasons, the conclusions for this gap analysis may differ at the 
regional level or for the adequate care of specific populations.

Based upon the report’s findings and consideration of additional factors, the Board 
will develop a Strategic Plan for Health Initiatives to advance the quality, coordination, 
and, where appropriate, growth of educational programs, across the State University 
System to better position Florida to respond to future workforce needs.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

34



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

1

Supply/Demand Workforce Gap Analysis 
on Health-Related Programs

as Part of the Environmental Scan
of the Board of Governors Health Initiatives Committee

May 18, 2015

DRAFT

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

35



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

2

Contents
BACKGROUND AND PURPOSE ........................................................................................................... 4

The Board of Governors Health Initiatives Committee.................................................................... 4

Environmental Scan Guiding Questions for Health Education ......................................................4

METHODS ..................................................................................................................................................5

Work of the Commission on Higher Education Access and Attainment ......................................5

Example of Supply Adjustment Method ............................................................................................8

New and Potential Health-Related Programs in the SUS ..............................................................10

Limitations and Restrictions...............................................................................................................11

Medical and Health Services Managers........................................................................................11

Health Specialties Teachers and Nursing Instructors.................................................................11

Environmental Scientists and Specialists, Including Health .....................................................12

Medical Scientists .............................................................................................................................12

Occupational Health and Safety Specialists .................................................................................12

RESULTS ...................................................................................................................................................14

Chapter Outline of the Gap Analysis ................................................................................................14

Summary Gap Analysis ......................................................................................................................16

Nurses ................................................................................................................................................18

Physicians..........................................................................................................................................31

Pharmacists .......................................................................................................................................40

Physical Therapists ..........................................................................................................................46

Dentists ..............................................................................................................................................52

Occupational Therapists .................................................................................................................59

Speech and Language Pathologists ...............................................................................................65

Medical and Clinical Laboratory Technologists ..........................................................................71

Medical and Public Health Social Workers ..................................................................................79

Physician Assistants.........................................................................................................................86

Mental Health Counselors ..............................................................................................................92

Clinical, Counseling, and School Psychologists ........................................................................100

Mental Health and Substance Abuse Social Workers ...............................................................109

Health Educators............................................................................................................................115

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

36



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

3

Dietitians and Nutritionists ..........................................................................................................120

Veterinarians...................................................................................................................................127

Marriage and Family Therapists..................................................................................................132

Rehabilitation Counselors.............................................................................................................141

Art and Music Therapists .............................................................................................................147

Audiologists....................................................................................................................................151

Epidemiologists..............................................................................................................................157

EMERGING AND EVOLVING OCCUPATIONS..............................................................................................161

CONCLUSIONS AND NEXT STEPS...............................................................................................................161

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

37



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

4

Supply/Demand Workforce Gap Analysis on Health-Related Programs as Part of the 
Environmental Scan of the Board of Governors Health Initiatives Committee

BACKGROUND AND PURPOSE

The Board of Governors Health Initiatives Committee

In August 2013 the Board of Governors Health Initiatives Committee was established to 
provide leadership for the development of system-level policy for the twelve State 
University System institutions regarding health initiatives.  The work of the Committee 
will guide the State University System in both the foreseeable future and the longer-
term when Florida is expected to experience even more substantial stress on its health 
care delivery system.

Two products will result from the initial work of the Committee:  an Environmental Scan 
and, subsequently, a Health Initiatives Strategic Plan. The environmental scan will 
identify emerging and evolving needs and assess the status of existing programs, 
research and delivery in health care.  Based upon the findings in the environmental 
scan, the Board will develop a Strategic Plan for Health Initiatives to advance the quality, 
coordination, and, where appropriate, growth of educational programs, research and 
delivery across the State University System to better position Florida to respond to 
future health care needs.

This report provides the results of the environmental scan for educational programs in 
health.  A companion report that provides the results of the environmental scan in 
health-related research is available at http://www.flbog.edu and a health care delivery 
report is forthcoming.

Environmental Scan Guiding Questions for Health Education

This report focuses on the health education component of the environmental scan and 
includes a review of health programs being offered by higher education institutions in 
Florida.  The report also describes the methodology employed in the environmental 
scan to determine whether Florida’s universities are on track to prepare enough 
graduates to meet the pending demand for healthcare workers. 

The information gathered for this report and the analysis presented in the results 
section corresponds to the guiding questions upon which the environmental scan was 
based.  Specifically, what are the programs and number of graduates that contribute to 
potential supply for the health workforce in Florida? What is the projected demand for 
healthcare workers, by occupation, in Florida? Are there gaps between the supply of 
graduates and demand for workers in specific health occupations? What 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

38



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

5

methodological or contextual factors can be accounted for and included to adjust the 
supply or demand projections for greater accuracy in the gap analysis? 

A closer look at occupationally-specific methodological and contextual factors is 
provided in the results section of the report. The influences of these additional factors 
on the supply and demand estimates, as they affect individual occupations, are
provided as part of the supply/demand gap analysis.

METHODS

Work of the Commission on Higher Education Access and Attainment 

The gap analysis for health occupations follows closely the methods previously 
established by the Board of Governor’s Commission on Higher Education Access and 
Attainment. The work of the Access and Attainment Commission began in 2012 and 
completed in 2013 with a report on workforce gaps at the baccalaureate level for all 
sectors of higher education in Florida. One of the Commission’s main tasks was to 
develop a sustainable methodology for a gap analysis that would identify occupations 
requiring a bachelor’s degree in which the projected annual under-supply exceeded 100 
workers.  Researchers participated from the Department of Economic Opportunity
(DEO), the Florida Council of 100, the Florida College System (FCS), the Independent 
Colleges and Universities of Florida (ICUF), the Commission for Independent 
Education (CIE) and the State University System (SUS).  

Appendix A of the Commission’s report provides greater detail on the decision points 
and explanation of the final gap analysis method. The next few paragraphs highlight 
where the gap analysis for health occupations has followed those decisions and where it 
has departed.

As described in the Commission’s report, the “gap” in Florida’s future workforce needs 
includes two major components:  1) “demand” by occupation, and 2) “supply” by 
education program, defined as the number of graduates being produced by Florida 
postsecondary institutions. Like the Commission’s analysis, supply for the health gap
analysis is represented by the number of degrees awarded by Florida schools as 
reported to the National Center for Educational Statistics’ Integrated Postsecondary 
Educational Data System (IPEDS). All educational institutions receiving Title IV 
Financial Aid (approximately 400 in Florida) are required to report these data to IPEDS, 
assigning a Classification of Instructional Programs (CIP) code to each educational 
program. Unlike the Commission’s work, the health gap analysis goes beyond the 
baccalaureate level to also include the associate (for nursing), graduate, and 
professional degree levels.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

39



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

6

The method for estimating demand follows the Commission’s use of the Florida 
Department of Economic Opportunity’s Long-term Employment Projections that are 
presented annually at the fall Workforce Estimating Conference of the Florida 
Legislature.  The projections are prepared using a commonly accepted methodology 
developed by a consortium of labor market information offices across the country.  
Demand for labor is forecast by industry (for over 300 industries) and by sub-state 
region.   Industry demand for labor is transformed to demand by occupation for 
approximately 800 occupations by applying a staffing pattern specific to each industry.  
The staffing pattern is produced by the annual Occupational Employment Statistics 
survey, which includes data from more than 55,000 employers representing more than 
4.4 million employees each year.  Additional adjustment factors by the U.S. Bureau of 
Labor Statistics are applied to account for expected occupational change and 
retirements.  Annual demand for labor is based on total annual openings, which is 
comprised of new job growth (expected increase in demand for labor due to economic 
growth in the industry) and replacements (job openings due to workers retiring or 
leaving the labor force).

Each occupation is assigned a Standard Occupational Classification (SOC) code and an 
educational attainment level by the U.S. Department of Labor Bureau of Labor Statistics 
(BLS).  The BLS taxonomy classifies occupations by the typical level of skills needed to 
enter an occupation. The health gap analysis follows the decision of the Commission to 
use the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS) taxonomy for education level. Appendix A 
of the Commission’s report provides an explanation of different methodologies and a 
justification for choosing the BLS taxonomy. 

The health gap analysis follows the Commission’s work of using a national CIP-SOC 
crosswalk built by the BLS and the U.S. Department of Education’s National Center for 
Education Statistics as the basis for linking occupations (the SOC code) with their 
correlated educational programs (the CIP code).  Unfortunately, there is sometimes not 
a one-to-one correspondence between CIP and SOC codes because a given educational 
program can often lead to multiple occupations and a given occupation can often be 
supplied by many different educational programs.  Further, the list of CIP codes are 
updated annually and can better capture emerging fields, whereas the SOC codes are 
only updated every ten years and so potentially miss new occupations and emerging 
industries. 

The Commission’s gap analysis was conducted at the baccalaureate level, that is, the 
intent was to determine whether four-year university programs needed to ramp up 
degree production in program areas that were considerably under-supplied.  The health 
gap analysis presented in this report, however, includes a range of degree levels in the 
CIP-SOC crosswalk, which required several unique assumptions and decisions for data 
analysis.  The match between degree completers and an occupation’s typical education 
level was adjusted under the following assumption:

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

40



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

7

∑ Master’s degree graduates are likely to take jobs that typically require either a 
master’s or bachelor’s for entry into the occupation, and doctorate degree 
graduates may take jobs that would typically require doctorate, master’s, or 
bachelor’s for entry into the occupation.  The rationale for this assumption is that 
advanced degrees may give these graduates a hiring preference or higher 
starting pay, but they are still eligible for jobs where the typical entry is set at the 
bachelor’s degree.  A similar logic applies for nursing, where master’s, bachelor’s 
and associate’s degree graduates could meet the demand for jobs that typically 
require an associate’s degree for entry level (RNs), but doctorate level graduates 
are likely to take jobs where entry to the occupation is typically set at doctorate, 
masters, or bachelor’s degree levels (nurse practitioners, nursing instructors, and 
management positions).

Like the Commission’s work, the health gap analysis includes two supply adjustments 
in an effort to limit the problem of occupations linked to multiple academic disciplines 
and potentially overstating supply.

∑ After the initial SOC-to-CIP match to derive the total number of recent graduates 
qualified for a particular ‘target’ occupation, it is imperative to also look from 
CIP-to-SOC to get a sense of all the occupations competing for those graduates. 
Thus, the adjusted supply was derived by weighting the total supply of 
graduates linked to a target occupation. The weight was calculated as the target 
occupation’s percentage of projected total openings as a portion of openings 
from all the competing occupations (excluding postsecondary health teachers). 
For an example of the Commission’s de-duplication (weighting) adjustment, see 
Figure 1 on page 9.

∑ For the Commission’s work, managerial occupations were excluded from 
analysis. However, for the health gap analysis the Medical and Health Services 
Managers occupation was included in the de-duplicating (weighting) process 
described above due to the advanced degree levels included in the analysis. The 
Health Teachers, Postsecondary occupation was excluded from the health gap 
weighting based on the grouping of all health-related teachers and the high 
demand associated with it. By including this occupation in the weighting 
process without pro-rating for each occupation’s portion of health teachers, the 
results were skewed so that more than half of program completers were likely to 
go into post-secondary teaching rather than practice in the professions. This was 
particularly problematic for physicians, dentists, physical therapists and other 
programs at the professional doctorate level.

Other methodological considerations and contextual factors were also presented as part 
of the Commission’s work.  Contextual metrics for the Commission’s work included 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

41



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

8

annual projected demand growth rates, short-term demand as indicated by Help 
Wanted Online data, the existence of a waiting labor force “warehoused” by the 
recession, and average entry wage rates. Additionally, factors that may affect the health 
workforce analysis include:

∑ out-migration of graduates, especially from programs with a high percentage of 
out-of-state students, from on-line programs, or in disciplines with a residency 
requirement that, for multiple reasons, may take them out of state after 
graduation; 

∑ the number of post-professional degree-seekers who may graduate with a 
higher degree level, and are therefore included in the CIP supply counts, but 
who do not represent “new” supply;  

∑ the ability of graduates to pass licensing exams for specific occupations and the 
ability to track practice patterns through licensing (ex. full or part-time workers,
geographic distribution, ratio of practitioners to the population);

∑ health demand projections that incorporate changes in healthcare delivery, use 
and cost of medical services, and insurance coverage;

∑ costs and faculty limitations for growing some programs;
∑ the addition of new and planned programs to supply;
∑ and a difference between regional and state demand for occupations. 

Consideration of these factors, as well as the methods described in this section of the 
report, is the next step of the Board of Governor’s Health Initiatives Committee and its 
Advisory Group and will be considered in the development of the Strategic Plan for 
Health Initiatives.

Example of Supply Adjustment Method

The figure below provides an example of how the supply of graduates can be adjusted 
based upon the proportion that is likely to go into various occupations.  In the example 
using Accounting and Finance majors shown below, graduates can enter a number of 
different occupations.  To read this table, the occupation listed to the far left, Financial 
Analyst, has 326 projected annual openings and crosswalks to the 3 CIPs, or program 
areas, listed to the immediate right. Programs in the 3 CIPs graduated a total of 3,093 
bachelor’s degree graduates that could potentially fill the 326 Financial Analyst 
positions. However, the graduates of the 3 CIPs also have other occupations for which 
they would be qualified to fill (according to the CIP-SOC crosswalk). These SOCs are 
listed to the right of the CIPs and the un-duplicated openings from these alternative 
occupations sum down the column to 4,641 openings. The 326 openings for the 
Financial Analyst occupation represent just 7% (326/4,641) of the openings available to 
the 3,093 graduates, so 7% becomes the adjusting weight for the supply of graduates. 
This calculation results in 217 graduates (7% of 3,093) as the adjusted, potential supply 
for the Financial Analyst occupation. What initially looked like an oversupply of 3,093 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

42



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

9

graduates for 326 openings was adjusted to an under-supply because of additional 
openings that graduates can fill in multiple, competing occupational pathways.

Figure 1. De-duplication of Potential Supply for the Financial Analyst 
Occupation in the CIP-SOC Crosswalk

SOC CIP SOC

FI
N

A
N

C
IA

L
 A

N
A

L
Y

S
T

Accounting 
and Finance

Financial Managers 530
Accountants and Auditors 3,237
Budget Analysts 104
Financial Analysts 326

Accounting 
and Business 
Management

Financial Managers 530
Accountants and Auditors 3,237

Financial Analysts 326

Finance,
General

Chief Executives 660
Financial Managers 530
Budget Analysts 104
Credit Analysts 124
Financial Analysts 326
Personal Financial Advisors 575
Financial Specialists, All Other 275

326
OPENINGS

3,093
BACHELOR’S

4,641
NON-MANAGER OPENINGS

ADJUSTED SUPPLY
In this example, only 7% of the total supply (3,093 graduates) is used in the gap 

analysis because the financial analysts only comprise 326, or 7%, of the 4,641 non-
managerial jobs available to these graduates. So, the adjusted supply is 3,093 x .07 = 

217.

Each of the health occupations presented in the results section of this report have been 
analyzed by linking the SOC code to the CIP codes identified in the CIP-SOC crosswalk.
Many of the CIPs and SOCs in this report have a one-to-one relationship and did not 
require an adjustment of the supply of graduates. However, for the health occupations 
that were linked to education programs whose graduates could supply more than one 
occupation, the supply was adjusted to be the percentage (by a weighted share of 
demand) of graduates likely to go into that specific occupation. The process followed 
the example calculation above. For a few occupations where licensing data indicated 
that the adjustment was likely excluding too many graduates as potential supply, the 
results section of this report provides several adjustment scenarios and a rational for the 
likeliest one.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

43



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

10

New and Potential Health-Related Programs in the SUS

Figure 2 below provides a listing of new State University System programs in health 
that have been approved since last year, Spring 2014, as well as programs that
universities are considering in the near future.  These new programs will add future 
supply and are provided as contextual factors for this gap analysis.

Figure 2. New and Potential Health-Related Programs 
SUS Programs Approved Since Spring 2014*

CIP Code Institution CIP Title
Degree 
Level

Proposed Implementation 
Date

30.1901 UF Nutrition Sciences Bachelors FALL 2014

51.3101 UF Dietetics/Dietitian Bachelors FALL 2014

51.0912 FIU Physician Assistant Masters FALL 2015

51.0912 USF Physician Assistant Masters TBD

51.0912 FSU Physician Assistant Masters FALL 2015

51.2314 USF Rehabilitation Science
Research 
Doctorate

FALL 2014

SUS Programs for Consideration in 2014-15

51.1005 USF
Clinical Laboratory 

Science/Medical Tech.
Bachelors

51.2305 FGCU Music Therapy Bachelors

42.2806 UNF Education Psychology Masters

51.3804 FSU Nurse Anesthesia Masters

51.3804 USF Nurse Anesthesia Masters

51.3818 FAMU Nursing Practice
Practice 

Doctorate

*Spring 2014 was selected because enrollment data through Fall 2013 is included in the report’s results 
section and forms a list of programs up to that date.

Source: Board of Governors, 2013-2014 System Summary of University Work Plans 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

44



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

11

Limitations and Restrictions 

A complete gap analysis following the methods described above was done for 23 
health-related occupations and is presented in the results section of this report. 
However, six additional occupations were originally included in the gap analysis, but a 
meaningful analysis was not possible due to limitations with the methodology. For each 
of these six occupations, either the classification of the occupation or classification of the 
academic programs was confounded with additional demand, graduates or work 
experience requirements that could not be meaningfully considered. Details of the 
limitations for each of the six occupations are briefly described below.

Medical and Health Services Managers
A full analysis of the Medical and Health Services Managers occupation was limited by 
the years of work experience typically required for entry into the occupation. The gap 
analysis methodology does not account for post-graduate work experience, which is 
particularly problematic for occupations where the BLS education includes bachelor’s 
degrees and higher and where no licensure is required. For some of the other 
occupations requiring work experience prior to full licensure, the licensing data 
provided additional context to supply estimates and overcame this methodological 
limitation. However, for Medical and Health Services Managers, the gap analysis did 
not proved a good estimate of the number of bachelor’s degree graduates qualified to 
fill management positions without post-graduate work experience.    

Without compensating for the work experience requirement, but otherwise following 
the CIP-SOC methodology, the adjusted supply for Medical and Health Services 
Managers is 2,697 graduates for 501 projected annual openings. The adjusted supply 
includes 1,872 bachelor’s degree graduates, 718 master’s degree graduates, and 107 
doctoral degree graduates from 8 CIP codes. The number of master’s and doctoral 
graduates, who are more likely to have work experience or are able to offset the work 
experience requirement with advanced education, is still sufficient to meet the projected 
demand.

Health Specialties Teachers and Nursing Instructors
Both the Health Specialties Teachers and Nursing Instructors occupations were 
confounded by grouping the demand for clinical faculty and non-clinical faculty 
together. Many of the health-related academic programs follow accreditation guidelines 
for student to faculty ratios, which specify the number of clinical and non-clinical 
faculty necessary to train a specific number of students. An analysis following the CIP-
SOC methodology cannot distinguish the demand for clinical faculty from non-clinical 
faculty and would include as supply the graduates from professional degree and 
research degree programs, equally, to meet the demand. However, in reality, the 
demand and supply is more nuanced and graduates of professional programs, who 
likely have clinical experience, are better qualified to meet the demand for clinical 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

45



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

12

faculty. Therefore, the methods of this gap analysis are limited by the broad 
occupational definition for Health Specialties Teachers and Nursing Instructors.

The Health Specialties Teachers occupation is particularly ill-defined because it 
combines the demand for many discrete health-related occupations’ educators together. 
Without sub-dividing the demand according to the size of specific health academic 
programs, which is beyond the scope of this analysis, a meaningful supply-demand gap 
calculation is not possible.

Environmental Scientists and Specialists, Including Health
The Environmental Scientists and Specialists, Including Health occupation is 
confounded by the grouping of health-related and other environmental scientists 
together. The occupation is defined broadly and crosswalks to a number of heath and 
non-health academic programs, which appear to have specific and un-related curricular 
focus. An analysis using the CIP-SOC methodology for Environmental Scientists, 
Including Health is limited because the occupational demand and projected job 
openings includes too many distinct types of jobs and all of the program graduates 
aren’t equally qualified to fill each of those openings.

Medical Scientists
Much like the Environmental Scientist occupation, the Medical Scientist occupation is 
also too broadly defined for a meaningful gap analysis using the CIP-SOC 
methodology. The demand for many types of Medical Scientists, who in reality have 
very specialized training, is combined for the occupation and crosswalks to many 
discrete research-oriented PhD programs. At the bachelor’s and master’s degree level, 
the gained research skills and medical science knowledge is more generally applicable 
to a broader range of jobs. For this reason, an analysis of the Medical Technologist 
occupation, requiring a bachelor’s degree or higher, is included in the results section 
and provides a meaningful supply-demand gap calculation. However, the BLS 
education typically required for the Medical Scientist occupation is a doctoral degree 
and is not nearly as transferrable to all types of Medical Scientist jobs. Therefore, a full 
analysis is limited because the occupational demand and projected job openings 
includes too many distinct types of jobs and all of the program graduates aren’t equally 
qualified to fill each of those openings.

Occupational Health and Safety Specialists
A full analysis for Occupational Health and Safety Specialists was limited because only 
one academic program is included in the CIP-SOC crosswalk for the occupation. It is 
very likely that additional programs in each of the sectors offer Occupational Health 
and Safety as a specialization within a major, but identifying these programs was 
beyond the methods of this report. Occupational Health and Safety Specialist may be an 
emerging occupation that would benefit from elevating the academic specialization to a 
formal degree program in the 15.0701 Occupational Safety and Health Technology CIP. 
However, the DEO projects only 5.8% growth for the occupation and 82 annual 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

46



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

13

openings. The one program identified in the CIP-SOC crosswalk, at Embry-Riddle 
Aeronautical University, graduated 13 bachelor’s degree students in 2012-2013. The 
occupation appears to be under-supplied when only considering this data, but without 
additional information on program graduates from Occupational Safety specializations 
or majors this analysis in incomplete. 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

47



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

14

RESULTS

Chapter Outline of the Gap Analysis 

The individual chapters for the 21 occupational groups presented in this results section
are principally organized in order of greatest demand (total annual openings) and not 
by the gap estimate. However, for simplifying the presentation of data, the three 
nursing occupations have been grouped together. Registered Nurses have the greatest 
number of projected annual openings from 2014-2022 and appear first in the following 
occupational chapters. Nurse Practitioners and Nurse Anesthetists have fewer projected 
openings than some of the other occupations, but these occupations are paired with the
Registered Nurses section because of overlap for the Nursing programs. The Dentist 
and Physician chapters also include multiple SOCs, including Specialists, because these 
SOCs are supplied by the same source of graduates.

Each occupational chapter includes a Table A with occupational employment 
projections and wage data provided by the Florida Department of Economic 
Opportunity (DEO), as well as the education level for typical entry into the occupation 
and the occupational profile from the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS). Tables B and 
C provide greater detail on programs, graduates and enrollments for the CIP codes that 
align with the occupation in that chapter. 

For some occupations, the enrollment “totals” in Table C do not equal the sum of the 
listed institutional enrollments for each of the five contributing years from 2009 
through 2013.  The reason for this discrepancy is that programs that closed before 2013 
and didn’t have graduates in 2012-2013 were excluded from the report.  Institutions that 
had enrollments in any year from 2009-2013, but no graduates in 2012-2013, are not 
listed because they are no longer contributing graduates (supply) to the field. However, 
the “total” category includes the enrollments for programs that are both listed and not 
listed and is an accurate total of enrollments for the five years that are reported in this 
gap analysis.

Table D summarizes the demand and supply estimates from the previous tables and 
narrative sections of the occupational chapter and includes a calculation of over-supply 
or under-supply based on the number of Florida program graduates. For some 
occupations, several supply scenarios are included in Table D and a rationale for the 
likeliest scenario is provided in the narrative of that section. Tables E, F, and G include 
additional contextual factors that influence the estimated supply for the occupation. 

Table E presents outcomes reported to the Florida Education and Training Placement 
Information Program (FETPIP) and summarizes the Florida employment, earnings 
(annualized), and continuing education of graduates in the October-December quarter 
after graduation. Table F includes a comparison of the DEO’s estimated total 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

48



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

15

occupational employment for 2014 and projected total employment in 2022 to the 
current, total number of in-state active licenses most relevant to the occupation. The 
licensing data was accessed on April 1, 2015, from a publicly-available database 
maintained on the Department of Health’s (DOH) Medical Quality Assurance website. 
Table G includes data from that same licensing database and shows the number of 
initial licenses issued in each of the years 2009-2014, as well as the number of in-state 
active licenses from those prior years that currently remain active and in-state. When 
considered together, Tables E, F, and G provide greater context on net migration and 
available supply for the workforce.

A few chapters cite additional resources to address special contextual factors. For 
example, the availability of residencies is a critical factor in determining how many 
physicians stay in Florida to practice. Similarly, the demand for nurses and physicians
is nuanced and information from recent workforce reports is provided as additional 
context to the Florida DEO’s estimate of demand. 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

49



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

16

Summary Gap Analysis 

Figure 3 below summarizes the findings for the 21 occupational groups presented as 
chapters in this section (including 33 SOC codes). Each occupation is identified by its 
chapter number for this report, SOC code, and the occupation title. The total 2014 
workforce is represented by the Florida DEO’s estimate of current employment for the 
occupation, as well as the DOH’s total number of in-state active licenses for the 
occupation (most relevant license). Some occupations in the gap analysis do not have a 
Florida license for practice and are denoted as NA in these columns. In the next column 
is the DEO’s projected annual demand for each occupation, which is a sum of the 
number of annual openings from replacement and growth.

The annual supply columns include an unadjusted and adjusted estimate of the supply 
of Florida graduates from 2012-2013 (year with the latest available data). The 
unadjusted supply figure has not been weighted for multiple occupational pathways for 
the graduates according to the CIP-SOC methodology. This is what distinguishes it 
from the adjusted supply estimate. However, both the unadjusted and adjusted number 
have been modified for accuracy when (1) it became obvious that relevant programs 
were missing from the CIP-SOC crosswalk, based on correspondence with university 
staff or after a review of program websites – this modification increased the number of 
graduates - or (2) a significant portion of the graduates were in a post-professional 
track and already held a license and likely worked in the occupation already – this 
modification reduced the number of graduates. The occupational chapters provide 
greater detail on these modifications, as well as the adjustments for multiple 
occupational pathways.

The annual supply columns also include data on new licenses issued in 2014. The 
number of new licenses includes those issued to Florida graduates and to individuals 
who migrate into Florida. The number still in-state and active as of April 1, 2015 is the 
remaining sub-set of the licenses newly issued in 2014. For some occupations, a 
significant portion of individuals obtain licenses in the state of Florida and then either 
(1) leave the state within a year or (2) fail to move into the state and establish a Florida 
practice address. Based on the high in- and out- migration for some occupations, the 
still active license number is used in the gap analysis calculation on the far right of 
Figure 3. Two gap analysis calculations are included. The first subtracts the projected 
annual demand from the adjusted supply of graduates and the second subtracts the 
projected annual demand from the still active number of licenses. For some 
occupations, concluding whether an occupation is sufficiently supplied or under-
supplied requires a reconciliation of these two results. For other occupations, both 
calculations indicate the demand is sufficiently supplied by the graduates and license-
holders.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

50



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

17

Refer to FIGURE 3 from Excel File

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

51



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

18

Nurses
Summary Observations

∑ The Florida Department of Economic Opportunity projects 6,979 annual 
openings for Registered Nurses, 357 annual openings for Nurse Practitioners, 
and 140 annual openings for Nurse Anesthetists from 2014 to 2022*.

∑ Florida produced roughly 8,600 new Registered Nursing graduates, 580 new 
Nurse Practitioner graduates, and 140 new Nurse Anesthetist graduates in 2012-
2013* (those not previously licensed for the specific occupation).

∑ Meaningful post-graduation employment data for nursing graduates was not 
available at the time of analysis due to confounding factors in the reporting by 
CIP code. However, data from the Florida Center for Nursing on nursing 
employment may provide this additional context going forward.

∑ Florida issued 22,965 new Registered Nurse licenses, 523 new Nurse Practitioner 
licenses and 165 new Nurse Anesthetist licenses in 2014* (includes licenses issued 
to Florida graduates and in-migration); 14,256 with an in-state active Registered 
Nurse license, 256 with an in-state active Nurse Practitioner license, and 44 with 
an active in-state Nurse Anesthetist license remain in Florida the following year.

∑ A final supply-demand gap analysis for the nursing occupations is not 
available at the time of print for this report. The analysis requires consideration 
of additional contextual factors and several Florida-based reports on nursing will 
become available as the Health Initiatives Committee moves into its strategic 
planning and implementation year. The Florida Center for Nursing, in 
conjunction with health industry leaders, will evaluate the current and future 
needs in nursing and is expected to produce a report in early 2016. Several of the 
critical contextual factors that should be considered for a thorough analysis 
include: shortages that may currently exist but are not captured in the baseline 
data of the DEO’s projections, increasing demand for nurses with a bachelor’s 
degree due to more complex care and hospitals seeking Magnet status, nuanced 
demand where some positions require advanced training and are not actually 
available to new nursing graduates, changes in health care delivery that impact 
the demand for registered nurses and advanced practice nurses, and factors that 
impact the growth of nursing programs and education pathways for nursing.

∑ The data provided in the tables below are current estimates of supply and demand, but 
further data collection and analysis is required to determine the true estimate of gaps in 
the nursing workforce. The Health Initiatives Committee will continue to review the 
nursing occupations as part of its work in 2015-2016.

* Most recently available data.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

52



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

19

Demand

Demand for the occupation is estimated by the projected number of average openings 
for each year of an eight year period (2014-2022). The annual openings are a total of job 
openings due to growth in the occupation and replacement openings. The Florida 
Department of Economic Opportunity’s projections of the percent growth, average 
annual openings, and wage information for the occupation in Florida are presented in 
Table 1A.

Table 1A.
DEO 2014-2022 Projected Demand and CIP Supply

SOC
Occupation 

Title

2014-
2022

Percent
Growth

Average Annual 
Openings 2014

Average 
Wage

Annual 
Demand

Adjusted 
Graduates*

Adj. 
Graduates -
- Demand

Growth Replacement Total

291141 Registered 
Nurses 19.5 4,071 2,908 6,979 30.38 6,979 8,653 1,674

291171 Nurse 
Practitioners 30.2 244 113 357 44.59 357 580 223

291151 Nurse 
Anesthetists 32.8 98 42 140 66.54 140 140 0

*The number of adjusted graduates included in the table above has been adjusted to only include 
graduates of pre-licensure nursing programs.
Source: FDEO 2014-2022 Employment Projections

Supply

Estimates of potential supply are included in Table 1B.  The potential supply, or number 
of graduates for a given year, is broken out by the programs that align with the 
occupation. Supply is drawn from programs in the public and private sectors and the 
sub-totals for each (SUS and Non-SUS) are included in Table 1B. 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

53



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

20

Table 1B.
2012-2013 Graduates by CIP for SUS and 
Non-SUS (ICUF, CIE) Institutions

Associate's 
degree

Bachelor's 
degree

Master's 
degree

Doctor's 
degree -
research

Doctor's 
degree -

professional Total

'51.3801' 7963 5027 988 3 13981

Registered Nursing/Registered Nurse

SUS 2247 806 3053

Florida Agricultural and Mechanical University 85 10 95

Florida Atlantic University 260 148 408

Florida Gulf Coast University 66 29 95

Florida International University 241 164 405

Florida State University 119 4 123

The University of West Florida 100 1 101

University of Central Florida 671 96 767

University of Florida 195 79 274

University of North Florida 162 49 211

University of South Florida-Main Campus 348 226 574

Non-SUS 7963 2780 182 3 10928

Academy for Nursing and Health Occupations 134 134

Adventist University of Health Sciences 173 186 359

Barry University 112 112

Bethune-Cookman University 55 55

Broward College 326 52 378

Brown Mackie College-Miami 41 41

Chamberlain College of Nursing-Florida 75 75

Chipola College 68 17 85

City College-Fort Lauderdale 93 93

City College-Miami 31 31

College of Central Florida 100 100

Concorde Career Institute-Orlando 17 17

Dade Medical College-Hollywood 126 126

Dade Medical College-Homestead 35 35

Dade Medical College-Miami 109 0 109

Dade Medical College-Miami Lakes 42 42

Daytona State College 228 228

Eastern Florida State College 124 124

Edison State College 231 81 312

Florida Career College-Miami 76 76

Florida Gateway College 67 0 67

Florida Keys Community College 44 44

Florida National University-Main Campus 154 0 154

Florida Southern College 46 0 46

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

54



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

21

Table 1B. Continued
2012-2013 Graduates 

Associate's 
degree

Bachelor's 
degree

Master's 
degree

Doctor's 
degree -
research

Doctor's 
degree -

professional Total

Florida State College at Jacksonville 332 25 357

Fortis College-Largo 235 235

Fortis College-Tampa 70 70

Fortis Institute-Pensacola 47 47

Galen College of Nursing-Tampa Bay 163 163

Gulf Coast State College 109 0 109

Herzing University-Winter Park 82 82

Hillsborough Community College 294 294

Indian River State College 108 44 152

ITT Technical Institute-Jacksonville 23 23

ITT Technical Institute-Lake Mary 46 46

ITT Technical Institute-Tallahassee 21 21

ITT Technical Institute-Tampa 88 88

Jacksonville University 487 41 528

Kaplan College-Jacksonville 34 34

Keiser University-Ft Lauderdale 476 28 13 517

Lake-Sumter State College 77 77

Management Resources Institute 59 59

Miami Dade College 598 184 782

North Florida Community College 24 24

Northwest Florida State College 69 28 97

Nova Southeastern University 419 34 3 456

Palm Beach Atlantic University 42 42

Palm Beach State College 173 3 176

Pasco-Hernando Community College 177 177

Pensacola State College 304 9 313

Polk State College 159 15 174

Rasmussen College-Florida 331 34 365

Remington College of Nursing Orlando 76 76

SABER College 157 157

Saint Johns River State College 90 90

Sanford-Brown Institute-Jacksonville 30 30

Santa Fe College 126 0 126

Seminole State College of Florida 158 158

South Florida State College 57 57

South University-Tampa 90 63 153

South University-West Palm Beach 74 16 90

Southeastern College-Greenacres 45 45

St Petersburg College 334 265 599

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

55



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

22

Table 1B. Continued
2012-2013 Graduates 

Associate's 
degree

Bachelor's 
degree

Master's 
degree

Doctor's 
degree -
research

Doctor's 
degree -

professional Total

State College of Florida-Manatee-Sarasota 148 45 193

Tallahassee Community College 88 88

Taylor College 63 63

The University of Tampa 44 44

Ultimate Medical Academy-Tampa 16 16

University of Miami 189 15 204

University of Phoenix-Central Florida Campus 10 10

University of Phoenix-South Florida Campus 42 42

University of Phoenix-West Florida Campus 3 3

Valencia College 259 259

Virginia College-Jacksonville 37 37

'51.3802' 2 40 21 63

Nursing Administration

Non-SUS 2 40 21 63

Barry University 7 21 28

City College-Fort Lauderdale 2 2

Jacksonville University 12 12

Nova Southeastern University 0 0

University of Phoenix-South Florida Campus 21 21

'51.3803' 16 16

Adult Health Nurse/Nursing

The University of Tampa 16 16

'51.3804' 230 3 233

Nurse Anesthetist

Non-SUS 230 3 233

Adventist University of Health Sciences 17 17

Barry University 73 73

Gooding Institute of Nurse Anesthesia 17 17

University of Miami 28 28

Wolford College 95 3 98

'51.3805' 99 99

Family Practice Nurse/Nursing

Non-SUS 99 99

Barry University 26 26

Jacksonville University 23 23

The University of Tampa 20 20

University of Miami 30 30

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

56



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

23

Table 1B. Continued
2012-2013 Graduates

Associate's 
degree

Bachelor's 
degree

Master's 
degree

Doctor's 
degree -
research

Doctor's 
degree -

professional Total

'51.3808' 24 24

Nursing Science

SUS 21 21

Florida Atlantic University 2 2

Florida International University 2 2

University of Central Florida 8 8

University of Florida 5 5

University of South Florida-Main Campus 4 4

Non-SUS 3 3

University of Miami 3 3

'51.3813' 1 1

Clinical Nurse Specialist

Non-SUS 1 1

Florida Southern College 0 0

Jacksonville University 1 1

'51.3814' 19 19

Critical Care Nursing

Non-SUS 19 19

Barry University 12 12

University of Miami 7 7

'51.3817' 0* 55 55

Nursing Education

Non-SUS 0 55 55

Barry University 0 6 6

Florida Southern College 0 0

Jacksonville University 0 0

The University of Tampa 0 0

University of Phoenix-Central Florida Campus 8 8

University of Phoenix-South Florida Campus 41 41

'51.3818' 27 31 0* 108 166

Nursing Practice

SUS 67 67

Florida Atlantic University 13 13

Florida International University 0 0

Florida State University 15 15

University of Central Florida 4 4

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

57



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

24

Table 1B. Continued
2012-2013 Graduates

Associate's 
degree

Bachelor's 
degree

Master's 
degree

Doctor's 
degree -
research

Doctor's 
degree -

professional Total

University of Florida 26 26

University of North Florida 4 4

University of South Florida-Main Campus 5 5

Non-SUS 27 31 0 41 99

Barry University 0 0

Everest University-Brandon 27 27

Florida Southern College 31 31

Jacksonville University 0 0

University of Miami 41 41

'51.3899' 84 0* 84
Registered Nursing, Nursing Administration, 

Nursing Research and Clinical Nursing

Non-SUS 84 0 84

Concorde Career Institute-Jacksonville 22 22

Concorde Career Institute-Tampa 27 27

Fortis College-Largo 0 0

Professional Training Centers 35 0 35

Grand Total 8074 5029 1479 48 111 14741
*Programs included in IPEDS but showing zero total graduates for 2012-2013 may have current enrollments and were 
therefore included in Table 1B.

Source: IPEDS with additional data and clarification provided by some universities

Table 1C shows five years of enrollments for the SUS programs supplying the 
occupation. Enrollment data on ICUF and CIE programs, by CIP, is not available in the 
IPEDS database and was therefore not included.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

58



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

25

Table 1C.
SUS Fall Enrollments by CIP

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

51.3801
Registered Nursing

FAMU
Bachelor's degree 0 751 771 608 544
Master's degree 0 10 21 29 20

FAU
Bachelor's degree 0 961 1077 1124 1246
Master's degree 0 278 308 439 435

FGCU
Bachelor's degree 0 142 141 142 173
Master's degree 0 59 80 55 52

FIU
Bachelor's degree 0 1296 1430 1071 926
Master's degree 0 385 350 344 346

FSU
Bachelor's degree 0 234 291 347 320
Master's degree 0 50 20 21 21

UCF
Bachelor's degree 0 1976 2274 2404 2444
Master's degree 0 385 284 171 167

UF
Bachelor's degree 0 711 719 694 625
Master's degree 0 92 112 120 93

UNF
Bachelor's degree 0 628 516 508 540
Master's degree 0 159 143 145 141

USF
Bachelor's degree 0 1303 1172 1298 1405
Master's degree 0 634 548 661 793

UWF
Bachelor's degree 0 431 427 524 563
Master's degree 0 8 7 16 26

Total
Bachelor's degree 0 8433 8818 8720 8786
Master's degree 0 2060 1873 2001 2094

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

59



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

26

Table 1C. Continued
SUS Fall Enrollments by CIP

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

51.3808 (Doctor's degree – research)

Nursing Science.
FAU 0 44 41 45 49
FIU 0 18 16 23 24
UCF 0 45 42 37 26
UF 0 30 34 39 33
USF 0 44 48 48 41
Total 0 181 181 192 173

51.3818 (Doctor's degree – professional)
Nursing Practice.

FAU 0 39 40 52 63
FIU 0 0 0 11 29
FSU 0 53 69 67 64
UCF 0 64 99 131 125
UF 0 173 174 173 203
UNF 0 20 23 23 26
USF 0 32 27 30 43
Total 0 381 432 487 553

Source: Board of Governors, State University Data System (SUDS)

Unlike the other occupational chapters of this report, Tables 1D and 1E are not provided 
for the nursing occupations. Table 1D could not be completed without further 
consideration of contextual factors that will be part of the Committee’s work in 2015-
2016 as additional nursing reports become available. In the other occupational chapters 
Table 1E includes data on post-graduation outcomes but the reporting to FETPIP on 
nursing graduates, by CIP, is confounded. A review of FETPIP data on employment 
outcomes by CIP for nursing would be misleading due to the grouping of different 
nursing specializations under the same CIP.

Contextual Factors

Licensing 

Tables 1F to 1I include data collected by the Florida Department of Health from the 
professional licensing boards. Table 1F is a comparison between the Florida Department 
of Economic Opportunity’s estimate of individuals currently working in the occupation, 
the number DEO projects to be working in 2022, and the number of individuals 
currently holding an active license in Registered Nursing. Table 1H provides similar 
information for Nurse Practitioners and Nurse Anesthetist employment and licensing; 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

60



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

27

the Nurse Practitioner and Nurse Anesthetist figures have been combined in the table 
due to the overlap for some professionals who are licensed as both NPs and CRNAs.
The number of license-holders can include individuals who are not actively practicing 
or not practicing full-time. Use of this number for supply, without adjustment, would in 
most cases over-estimate the occupation’s employment.  However, a large difference 
between DEO’s total employment and the number of licenses can be one indication of 
an overly conservative demand estimate.

Registered Nurse Licensure Data

Table 1F. Comparison of DEO 2014-2022 Total Employment and 
Current DOH Licensure for Registered Nurses

FL Department of Economic Opportunity

2014 Total Employment 167,360 
2022 Projected Total Employment 199,927

FL Department of Health, Medical Quality Assurance

Total In-State Active Licenses
(as of April 1, 2015) 201,318

Source: FDEO 2014-2022 Employment Projections and FDOH Health Care Practitioner Data 
Portal (accessed April 1, 2015)

Table 1G includes data on the number of new licenses issued each year, for the past six 
years, for Registered Nurses. Table 1I includes data on the number of new licenses 
issued each year, for the past six years, for Nurse Practitioners and Nurse Anesthetists. 
This provides additional context to the estimate of new, annual supply for the 
workforce. However, a percentage of the newly licensed leave Florida over time. The 
number retained is a snapshot of how many of the individuals licensed in previous 
years still (as of April 1, 2015) have a Florida practice address and hold an active, clear 
license. The majority of those licensed since 2009 and who were not retained have left 
Florida; it was not that their license status changed.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

61



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

28

Table 1G. DOH Initial Licenses Issued, by year, and Retention 
for Registered Nurses

Year of Initial 
License Issued

Number of 
Initial Licenses 

Issued

Sub-set of 
Column 2 Still 

In-State and 
Active as of 
April 1, 2015

% Retained 
In-State 

(Column 3/ 
Column 2 * 100)

2009 14,450 8,618 60%
2010 15,275 9,036 59%
2011 16,780 10,593 63%
2012 18,127 12,410 68%
2013 19,789 13,418 68%
2014 22,965 14,256 62%

Percent 
Change from 

2009-2014
59%

Source: FDOH Health Care Practitioner Data Portal (accessed April 1, 2015)

Advanced Registered Nurse Practitioner Licensure Data

Table 1H. Comparison of DEO 2014-2022 Total Employment and 
Current DOH Licensure for Advanced Registered Nurse 
Practitioners (includes Nurse Anesthetists)

FL Department of Economic Opportunity

2014 Total Employment 8,878
2022 Projected Total Employment 11,617

FL Department of Health, Medical Quality Assurance

Total In-State Active Licenses
(as of April 1, 2015) 17,330

Source: FDEO 2014-2022 Employment Projections and FDOH Health Care Practitioner Data 
Portal (accessed April 1, 2015)

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

62



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

29

Table 1I. DOH Initial Licenses Issued, by year, and Retention for 
Advanced Registered Nurse Practitioners (includes Nurse 
Anesthetists)

Year of Initial 
License Issued

Number of 
Initial Licenses 

Issued

Sub-set of 
Column 2 Still 

In-State and 
Active as of 
April 1, 2015

% Retained 
In-State 

(Column 3/ 
Column 2 * 100)

2009 876 622 71%
2010 742 518 70%
2011 634 416 66%
2012 578 395 68%
2013 599 372 62%
2014 688 300 44%

Percent 
Change from 

2009-2014
-21%

Source: FDOH Health Care Practitioner Data Portal (accessed April 1, 2015)

Additional Resources
The supply totals for nursing have been adjusted to include graduates of pre-licensure
programs only. The adjusted number is based on 2012-2013 data from the Florida 
Center for Nursing, as well as data from the mandatory reporting on first time nurse 
licensing test-takers and pass rates to the Florida Legislature’s Office of Program Policy 
Analysis and Government Accountability. The use of additional data is necessary 
because institutions reporting to IPEDS by CIP codes do not identify programs targeted 
to post-professional registered nurses (RNs) or nurse practitioners (NPs). Licensed 
professionals (RNs or NPs) may already be practicing in the field of nursing and 
complete programs to transition to a new degree level.  The graduates of RN to BSN 
programs, as well as licensed advanced practice nurses increasing their educational 
attainment from the MSN to the DNP, may never leave or significantly change their role 
in the nursing workforce. Therefore, including them as new supply in the totals would 
have had the effect of significantly over-estimating the potential supply of registered 
nurses and nurse practitioners. Adjustments to the demand estimate are still necessary.

Reports on nursing from the Health Resources and Services Administration, the Florida 
Center for Nursing, the Florida Legislature’s Office of Program Policy Analysis and 
Government Accountability, and the American Association of Colleges of Nursing can 
provide information on state-level program capacity, workforce projections, and 
practice patterns. Nursing programs from the SUS have provided the number of 
graduates in specific tracks to help adjust for post-professional graduates and provide 
greater detail on program capacity. A review of the demand and supply of graduates 
for registered nursing and advanced practice registered nursing is ongoing.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

63



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

30

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

64



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

31

Physicians
Summary Observations

∑ Florida projects 1,934 annual openings for Physicians from 2014 to 2022*.
∑ Florida produced 975 new Medical School graduates in 2012-2013*.
∑ Thirty-four percent of the past five years of Medical School graduates were 

found employed in Florida within a year of graduation (likely employed and 
training as Medical Residents). 

∑ Florida issued 4,119 new Medical Doctor licenses and 608 new Osteopathic 
Physician licenses in 2014* (includes licenses issued to Florida graduates and in-
migration); 2,127 with an in-state active Medical Doctor license and 415 with an 
in-state active Osteopathic Physician license remain in Florida the following year.

∑ Additional data on Graduate Medical Education and results from a recent 
Florida-based supply-demand gap analysis for Physician specialties is included 
in this section. These additional contextual factors highlight current and 
projected shortage areas for Physicians, both geographically and in specialty 
areas.  

* Most recently available data.

Demand

Demand for the occupation is estimated by the projected number of average openings 
for each year of an eight year period (2014-2022). The annual openings are a total of job 
openings due to growth in the occupation and replacement openings. The Florida 
Department of Economic Opportunity’s projections of the percent growth, average 
annual openings, and wage information for the occupation in Florida are presented in 
Table 2A. The U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics provides information on the typical 
education for entry into the profession and a profile of the occupation.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

65



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

32

Table 2A.
Florida DEO 2014-2022 Projected Demand 

SOC
Occupation 

Title

2014-
2022

Percent
Growth

Average Annual 
Openings 2014

Average 
Wage

2014 Entry 
Wage

BLS 
Education 

Level
Growth Replacement Total

291069
Physicians and
Surgeons, All 
Other

19.4 411 330 741 $210,766 $121,597 Doctoral 
degree

291062
Family and 
General
Practitioners

21.9 341 243 584 $191,506 $100,901 Doctoral 
degree

291063 Internists, General 24.1 125 80 205 $210,704 $118,518 Doctoral 
degree

291067 Surgeons 24.0 88 57 145 $244,442 $194,230 Doctoral 
degree

291061 Anesthesiologists 25.2 69 43 112 $263,240 Not 
reported

Doctoral 
degree

291065 Pediatricians,
General 23.4 39 26 65 $165,610 $90,626 Doctoral 

degree

291064 Obstetricians and
Gynecologists 24.7 34 21 55 $224,765 $147,243 Doctoral 

degree

291066 Psychiatrists 14.5 13 14 27 $181,168 $106,038 Doctoral 
degree

BLS Occupational Profile

Physicians and surgeons diagnose and treat injuries or illnesses. Physicians 
examine patients; take medical histories; prescribe medications; and order, 
perform, and interpret diagnostic tests. They counsel patients on diet, 
hygiene, and preventive healthcare. Surgeons operate on patients to treat 
injuries, such as broken bones; diseases, such as cancerous tumors; and 
deformities, such as cleft palates.

Source: FDEO 2014-2022 Employment Projections and U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics

The projected growth for Physicians overall is greater than the average growth rate for 
all jobs in Florida (12%), with roughly 20% or higher growth projected for each of the 
DEO’s Physician specialty areas, except Psychiatrists which has 15% projected growth 
in Florida. The national projected growth rate for Physicians and Surgeons is 18%. The 
entry wage for Physicians is much higher than the entry wage for all jobs, and the 
average wage is four to five times the average for all jobs. The education required for 
licensure as a Physician in Florida is the professional doctorate, which can be the Doctor 
of Medicine (M.D.) or the Doctor of Osteopathic Medicine (D.O) degree. Additional 
training in a U.S. residency program after graduating with the M.D. or D.O. degree is 
required for licensure. The Florida Department of Economic Opportunity projects a 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

66



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

33

total of 1,934 annual openings for all of the Physician specialty areas from 2014 to 2022 
to meet the projected demand for Physicians. The 814 positions created from 
replacement openings may be a conservative estimate that could be revised upward in 
the near future.

In addition to the DEO’s demand projections for Florida Physicians, a 2015 report from 
IHS Global Inc. that was prepared on behalf of the Safety Net Hospital Alliance of 
Florida includes forecasts of supply and demand for the Physician workforce at the 
statewide and regional level. The report concludes that:

“Overall, demand for physicians in Florida exceeds supply for many medical 
specialties. The statewide shortfall of primary care physicians is small, and if 
current trends continue this shortfall will disappear within the next decade. 
However, there is substantial variation in adequacy of primary care supply 
across regions as evidenced by the large number of areas and communities 
designated as Health Profession Shortage Areas. The state-wide shortfall of 
specialists is projected to persist for the foreseeable future, with large variation in 
magnitude of the shortfall across regions.” (p. vii)1

Supply

Estimates of potential supply are included in Table 2B.  The potential supply, or number 
of graduates for a given year, is broken out by the programs that align with the 
occupation. Supply is drawn from programs in the public and private sectors and the 
sub-totals for each (SUS and Non-SUS) are included in Table 2B. 

1 IHS Global Inc. Florida Statewide and Regional Physician Workforce Analysis: Estimating Current and Forecasting 
Future Supply and Demand. Prepared for the Safety Net Hospital Alliance of Florida. January, 28, 2015. 
Accessed at http://safetynetsflorida.org/wp-content/uploads/Jan-28-IHS-Report-PDF.pdf
on March 1, 2015.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

67



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

34

Table 2B.
2012-2013 Graduates by CIP for SUS and 
Non-SUS (ICUF, CIE) Institutions

Doctor's 
degree -

professional 
51.1201 Medicine 605

SUS 418
Florida International University 33
Florida State University 112
University of Central Florida 36
University of Florida 131
University of South Florida-Main Campus 106

Non-SUS 187
University of Miami 187

51.1901 Osteopathic Medicine/Osteopathy 370
Non-SUS 370

Nova Southeastern University 215
Lake Erie College of Osteopathic Medicine 155

Grand Total 975
Source: IPEDS with additional data and clarification provided by some universities

The supply of graduates from the six allopathic medical schools was 605 graduates in 
2012-2013. The two osteopathic medical schools graduated 370 students in 2012-2013. 

Table 2C shows five years of enrollments for the SUS programs supplying the 
occupation. Enrollment data on ICUF and CIE programs, by CIP, is not available in the 
IPEDS database and was therefore not included.

Table 2C.
SUS Fall Enrollments by CIP

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

51.1201 Medicine (Doctor's degree – professional)
FAU 0 0 64 127 187
FIU 43 85 167 281 368
FSU 450 475 476 476 481
UCF 41 100 179 277 351
UF 528 535 546 545 542
USF 482 473 502 549 620
Total 1544 1668 1934 2255 2549

Source: Board of Governors, State University Data System (SUDS)

Annual enrollments in the SUS medical schools have grown by just over 1,000 students 
from 2009 to 2013. Based on projections from the university Work Plans, the medical 
school enrollments will continue to grow to about 2,900 students in 2017-2018, with 
about 920 graduates that year.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

68



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

35

Basing supply estimates on the graduates of Undergraduate Medical Education 
(medical school) alone is not sufficient. The requirement for Physicians to complete a 
U.S. medical residency, or Graduate Medical Education (GME), means that the supply 
of Physicians to the workforce is ultimately tied to the availability of this training. The 
size and make-up of the pipeline of graduates from pre-medical programs and medical 
schools is a significant factor for determining the Physician workforce; but the number, 
location, and specialty mix of residency positions is more closely linked to supply 
outcomes for the state.

A 2014 report from Florida’s Office of Program Policy Analysis and Government 
Accountability (OPPAGA) reviewed Florida’s GME System and found 407 residency 
programs being administered by 44 accredited GME institutions, with a total of 5,157 
approved positions (includes all cohorts of the residency program).2 The report notes 
that 11% of the residency positions were unfilled in 2013-2014, but the report did not 
distinguish between osteopathic and allopathic residencies and the count likely 
includes residency positions that programs did not intend to fill. Therefore, the 5,157 
positions would be an over- estimate of the number of positions truly available for a 
growing number of allopathic medical school graduates. 

The report also notes that 1,081 GME positions were available for residents starting 
primary care and non-primary care specialty programs in 2012-2013, but again it does 
not distinguish between allopathic and osteopathic residencies. It is likely that fewer 
than 1,000 openings would have been available for the 980 allopathic medical school 
graduates in 2012-2013.

There were significant changes and recommendations for reform for U.S. Graduate 
Medical Education in 2014. The accrediting bodies for osteopathic and allopathic 
medical residency programs agreed to merge, which could lead to a greater number of 
D.O. graduates pursuing allopathic residencies and possibly allopathic graduates being 
eligible for osteopathic residencies. Also in 2014, the Institute of Medicine (IOM)3

issued a report outlining several strategies to change the federal support for Graduate 
Medical Education and doing away with a long-standing cap on the number of 
Medicare-financed residency positions. The federal distribution of funds to states for 
GME is determined by a formula that dates back to 1997 and makes it difficult for 
Florida to create or grow residency programs in a way that matches the workforce 
needs or accommodates the increasing number of medical school graduates. Legislation 
has been introduced by the U.S. Congress and by the Florida Legislature in 2015 to 
increase the number of GME residency slots for Physician specialties and locations with 
shortages. In addition to government support for GME, hospitals are funding GME 
programs and positions above the number set by Medicare.  

2 The Florida Legislature Office of Program Analysis and Government Accountability. Florida’s Graduate Medical 
Education System., February 2014. 
3IOM (Institute of Medicine). 2014. Graduate Medical Education that Meets the Nation’s Health Needs. 
Washington, DC: The National Academies Press.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

69



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

36

Gap Analysis

Table 2D is a summary of the demand and supply presented above, with a calculation 
of the difference of these estimates. A negative value, in red, or a value closer to zero 
suggests a gap where the potential supply may not fill the projected demand.

Table 2D. DEO 2014-2022 Projected Demand and CIP Supply

SOC Occupation Title
Annual 

Openings Supply
Supply –
Annual 

Openings

291069 Physicians and Surgeons, All 
Other 741

291062 Family and General Practitioners 584
291063 Internists, General 205
291067 Surgeons 145
291061 Anesthesiologists 112
291065 Pediatricians, General 65
291064 Obstetricians and Gynecologists 55
291066 Psychiatrists 27

Total for all 8 SOCs* 1,934 975 -959

By summing the annual demand of Physician-related SOC codes at the 5-digit level 
(29106x), the calculated gap is expressed generally for Physicians overall.  However, it 
would be incorrect to assume that each of the specialties at the 6-digit level show a gap 
or have claim to a portion of the overall gap, especially as other sources point to 
shortages in some specialties and not others.  The reason for displaying the data in this 
way is an acknowledgement that medical school graduates (one way of representing
Physician supply) are qualified for any of the eight specialties above.  However, due to 
the requirements for graduate medical education for licensure as a Physician, the 
number of GME graduates and new license-holders is a truer estimate of potential 
supply.

The IHS report on the Physician workforce found approximately 42,610 full time 
equivalent (FTE) physicians actively practicing in Florida in 2013, with roughly 2,230 
new physicians entering the workforce each year. The report also concludes that supply 
to 2025 is projected to be 12,360 FTEs while demand is projected to be 11,430 FTEs in 
2025. This would calculate as a future over-supply of 930 Physicians if the current 
supply and demand were balanced. However, an existing shortage of roughly 4,500 
Physicians around the state (measured as the number of Physicians required to provide 
a national average level of care), means that additional growth is necessary to meet 
current and future demand.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

70



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

37

Contextual Factors

Out-Migration of Graduates

Table 2E summarizes the Florida employment, earnings (annualized), and continuing 
education of graduates in the October-December quarter after graduation. The 
outcomes reporting to FETPIP on CIE graduates was insufficient to include in the 
analysis. The SUS and ICUF percentages and earnings include five years of graduates 
for a more stable estimate of outcomes. 

Table 2E.
FETPIP Post-Graduation Outcomes 2008-09 to 2012-13, by CIP

Sector
% 

Employed

% 
Employed 
Full Time

Full Time 
Average 
Earnings

% 
Continuing 
Education

51.1201 Medicine (Doctor's degree – professional)

SUS 37% 36% $50,720 0%
ICUF 27% 27% $60,112 0%

Source: Florida Education and Training Placement Information Program (FETPIP)

The post-graduation outcomes data from FETPIP is consistent with figures from the
Association of American Medical Colleges and the OPPAGA report on the out-of-state 
matching of Florida’s medical school graduates. Thirty-six percent of the SUS graduates 
were found employed full-time in Florida within a year of graduation. Twenty-seven 
percent of ICUF graduates were found employed full-time in Florida within a year of 
graduation. Based on the earnings data and requirements for residency training after 
Undergraduate Medical Education, the graduates are likely employed and training in 
GME positions. This data is consistent with the findings in the OPPAGA report that of 
the medical school graduates from 2000 to 2013 “38% (3,073) matched to a residency 
program in Florida and 62% (5,094) matched to a residency program out-of-state” (p.9).
Several of the SUS medical schools have implemented recruitment and retention 
strategies to increase the number of graduates who remain in Florida.

Tables 2F, 2G, and 2H include data collected by the Florida Department of Health from 
the professional licensing boards. Table 2F is a comparison between the Florida 
Department of Economic Opportunity’s estimate of individuals currently working in 
the occupation, the number DEO projects to be working in 2022, and the number of 
individuals currently holding an active license in the profession. The number of license-
holders can include individuals who are not actively practicing or not practicing full-
time. Use of this number for supply, without adjustment, would in most cases over-
estimate the occupation’s employment.  However, a large difference between DEO’s 
total employment and the number of licenses can be one indication of an overly 
conservative demand estimate.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

71



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

38

Table 2F. Comparison of DEO 2014-2022 Total Employment and Current 
DOH Licensure

FL Department of Economic Opportunity

2014 Total Employment (all 8 SOCs) 41,838
2022 Projected Total Employment (all 8 SOCs) 50,789

FL Department of Health, Medical Quality Assurance

Total In-State Active Licenses
(as of April 1, 2015) for Medical Doctor

47,390

Total In-State Active Licenses
(as of April 1, 2015) for Osteopathic Physician

5,144

Source: FDEO 2014-2022 Employment Projections and FDOH Health Care Practitioner Data 
Portal (accessed April 1, 2015)

Table 2G includes data on the number of new licenses issued each year, for the past six 
years, for Medical Doctors. Table 2H includes data on the number of new licenses 
issued each year, for the past six years, for Osteopathic Physicians. This provides 
additional context to the estimate of new, annual supply for the workforce. However, a 
percentage of the newly licensed leave Florida over time. The number retained is a 
snapshot of how many of the individuals licensed in previous years still (as of April 1, 
2015) have a Florida practice address and hold an active, clear license. The majority of 
those licensed since 2009 and who were not retained have left Florida; their license 
status had not changed.

Table 2G. DOH Initial Licenses Issued, by year, and Retention 
for Medical Doctors

Year of Initial 
License Issued

Number of 
Initial Licenses 

Issued

Sub-set of 
Column 2 Still 

In-State and 
Active as of 
April 1, 2015

% Retained 
In-State 

(Column 3/ 
Column 2 * 100)

2009 2,639 1,375 52%
2010 2,730 1,570 58%
2011 2,981 1,674 56%
2012 3,024 1,811 60%
2013 3,563 2,070 58%
2014 4,119 2,127 52%

Percent 
Change from 

2009-2014
56%

Source: FDOH Health Care Practitioner Data Portal (accessed April 1, 2015)

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

72



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

39

Table 2H. DOH Initial Licenses Issued, by year, and Retention  
for Osteopathic Physicians

Year of Initial 
License Issued

Number of 
Initial Licenses 

Issued

Sub-set of 
Column 2 Still 

In-State and 
Active as of 
April 1, 2015

% Retained 
In-State 

(Column 3/ 
Column 2 * 100)

2009 291 161 55%
2010 346 203 59%
2011 352 217 62%
2012 445 306 69%
2013 470 332 71%
2014 608 415 68%

Percent 
Change from 

2009-2014
109%

Source: FDOH Health Care Practitioner Data Portal (accessed April 1, 2015)

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

73



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

40

Pharmacists
Summary Observations

∑ Florida projects 844 annual openings for Pharmacists from 2014 to 2022*.  
∑ Florida produced 828 new graduates in Pharmacy in 2012-2013*.
∑ Fifty-eight percent of the past five years of Pharmacy graduates were found 

employed in Florida within a year of graduation. 
∑ Florida issued 1,471 new Pharmacist licenses in 2014* (includes licenses issued to 

Florida graduates and in-migration); 1,071 with an active license remain in Florida 
the following year.

∑ Based on available data, it appears that the projected annual openings are
SUFFICIENTLY SUPPIED.

* Most recently available data.

Demand

Demand for the occupation is estimated by the projected number of average openings 
for each year of an eight year period (2014-2022). The annual openings are a total of job 
openings due to growth in the occupation and replacement openings. The Florida 
Department of Economic Opportunity’s projections of the percent growth, average 
annual openings, and wage information for the occupation in Florida are presented in 
Table 3A. The U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics provides information on the typical 
education for entry into the profession and a profile of the occupation.

Table 3A. Florida DEO 2014-2022 Projected Demand 

SOC
Occupation 

Title

2014-
2022

Percent
Growth

Average Annual 
Openings 2014

Average 
Wage

2014 Entry 
Wage

BLS 
Education 

Level
Growth Replacement Total

291051 Pharmacists 15.2 363 481 844 $115,669 $93,766 Doctoral 
degree

BLS Occupational 
Profile

Dispense drugs prescribed by physicians and other health practitioners and 
provide information to patients about medications and their use. May advise 
physicians and other health practitioners on the selection, dosage, 
interactions, and side effects of medications.

Source: FDEO 2014-2022 Employment Projections and U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics

The projected growth for Pharmacists is slightly greater than the average growth rate 
for all jobs in Florida (12%), with 15.2% growth projected for Pharmacists in Florida and 
14% for Pharmacists nationally. The entry wage for Pharmacists is much higher than the 
entry wage for all jobs, and the average wage is roughly three times the average for all 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

74



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

41

jobs. The education required for licensure as a Pharmacist in Florida is the professional 
doctorate, or Pharm.D. degree. The Florida Department of Economic Opportunity 
projects 844 annual openings from 2014 to 2022 to meet the projected demand for 
Pharmacists. The 481 positions created from replacement openings may be a 
conservative estimate that could be revised upward in the near future.

Supply

Estimates of potential supply are included in Table 3B.  The potential supply, or number 
of graduates for a given year, is broken out by the programs that align with the 
occupation. Supply is drawn from programs in the public and private sectors and the 
sub-totals for each (SUS and Non-SUS) are included in Table 3B. 

Table 3B.
2012-2013 Graduates by CIP for SUS and 
Non-SUS (ICUF, CIE) Institutions

Doctor's degree -
professional 

51.2001 Pharmacy 828
SUS 418

Florida A&M University 131
University of Florida 287

Non-SUS 410
Lake Erie College of Medicine, Bradenton 104
Nova Southeastern University 237
Palm Beach Atlantic University 69

Source: IPEDS with additional data and clarification provided by some universities

The SUS programs graduated 418 students in 2012-2013. The CIE and ICUF programs 
graduated 410 students in 2012-2013. The supply of graduates is from the 51.2001 CIP 
and is a one-to-one correspondence for the occupation. This requires no weighting 
adjustment for multiple occupational paths if the Health Specialties Teacher, 
Postsecondary occupation is excluded. A small portion of the Pharmacy graduates may 
go into management or teaching positions. 

The supply in Table 3B has been adjusted by removing 140 post-professionals from the 
University of Florida’s program. These graduates were already licensed Pharmacists 
upon entry into the program, returning to school to obtain a higher degree level, and 
therefore should not be included as new potential supply for the occupation. The 
supply was also adjusted by adding 104 graduates from the Pharmacy program at the 
Lake Erie College of Medicine, Bradenton campus. A count of these graduates was
previously missing due to the bundled reporting to IPEDS for some universities with a 
Florida branch campus and a main campus located in another state. The number of 
graduates from LECOM’s Florida-based Pharmacy program was provided by the 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

75



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

42

Florida Commission for Independent Education, but an estimate of post-professional 
students (if any) was not available. 

Table 3C shows five years of enrollments for the SUS programs supplying the 
occupation. Enrollment data on ICUF and CIE programs, by CIP, is not available in the 
IPEDS database and was therefore not included.

Table 3C.
SUS Fall Enrollments by CIP

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

51.2001 Pharmacy (Doctor's degree – professional)

FAMU 341 327 314 331 366

UF 1876 1735 1674 1572 1537

USF 0 0 53 119 225

Total 2217 2062 2041 2022 2128

Source: Board of Governors, State University Data System (SUDS)

The University of Florida program, the largest of the three SUS programs, has had a 
decline in enrollments over the past five years. The University of South Florida’s 
program had enrollments starting in 2011 but did not have graduates for 2012-2013.  
Graduates of USF’s program in the near future will increase the potential supply of 
Pharmacists.

Gap Analysis

Table 3D is a summary of the demand and supply presented above, with a calculation 
of the difference of these estimates. A negative value, in red, or a positive value closer to 
zero suggests a gap where the potential supply may not fill the projected demand.

Table 3D. DEO 2014-2022 Projected Demand and CIP Supply

SOC
Occupation 

Title
Annual 

Openings
Supply

Supply –
Annual 

Openings

291051 Pharmacists 844 828 -16

When considered alone, the supply of 828 graduates is a slight undersupply for the 844 
projected annual openings. A gap could be created if a high percentage of graduates 
leave the state and in-migration doesn’t fill the demand. However, as shown in the 
tables below, 1,471 Pharmacists were newly licensed in 2014 (with 1,071 remaining with 
a Florida address) compared to the supply estimate of 828, suggesting large in-
migration. Based on slight growth in licensing and the number of licensees remaining in 
Florida each year, the occupation appears to be sufficiently supplied.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

76



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

43

Contextual Factors

Out-Migration of Graduates

Table 3E summarizes the Florida employment, earnings (annualized), and continuing 
education of graduates in the October-December quarter after graduation. The 
outcomes data reported to FETPIP on CIE graduates was insufficient to include in the 
analysis. The SUS and ICUF percentages and earnings include five years of graduates 
for a more stable estimate of outcomes. Data on graduates who are self-employed is not 
included, which has the effect of under-estimating the percent employed and potential 
supply to the workforce.  

Table 3E.
FETPIP Post-Graduation Outcomes 2008-09 to 2012-13, by CIP

51.2001 Pharmacy (Doctor's degree – professional)

Sector
% 

Employed

% 
Employed 
Full Time

Full Time 
Average 
Earnings

% 
Continuing 
Education

SUS 55% 53% $104,156 2%
ICUF 63% 60% $106,906 0%

Source: Florida Education and Training Placement Information Program (FETPIP)

More than half of the Pharmacy graduates are found working full-time in Florida 
within a year of graduation and with high earnings.

Licensing 

Tables 3F and 3G include data collected by the Florida Department of Health from the 
professional licensing boards. Table 3F is a comparison between the Florida Department 
of Economic Opportunity’s estimate of individuals currently working in the occupation, 
the number DEO projects to be working in 2022, and the number of individuals 
currently holding an active license in the profession. The number of license-holders can 
include individuals who are not actively practicing or not practicing full-time. Use of 
this number for supply, without adjustment, would in most cases over-estimate the 
occupation’s employment.  However, a large difference between DEO’s total 
employment and the number of licenses can be one indication of an overly conservative 
demand estimate.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

77



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

44

Table 3F. Comparison of DEO 2014-2022 Total Employment and 
Current DOH Licensure

FL Department of Economic Opportunity

2014 Total Employment 19,171
2022 Projected Total Employment 22,076

FL Department of Health, Medical Quality Assurance

Total In-State Active Licenses
(as of April 1, 2015) 20,947

Source: FDEO 2014-2022 Employment Projections and FDOH Health Care Practitioner Data 
Portal (accessed April 1, 2015)

The number of in-state, active Pharmacist licenses is close to the DEO total employment 
figure, especially considering no adjustment has been made to subtract the license-
holders who are not currently practicing. 

Table 3G includes data on the number of new licenses issued each year, for the past six 
years. This provides additional context to the estimate of new, annual supply for the 
workforce. However, a percentage of the newly licensed leave Florida over time. The 
number retained is a snapshot of how many of the individuals licensed in previous 
years still (as of April 1, 2015) have a Florida practice address and hold an active, clear 
license. The majority of those licensed since 2009 and who were not retained have left 
Florida; their license status had not changed.

Table 3G. DOH Initial Licenses Issued, by year, and Retention 

Year of Initial 
License Issued

Number of 
Initial Licenses 

Issued

Sub-set of 
Column 2 Still 

In-State and 
Active as of 
April 1, 2015

% Retained 
In-State and 

Active
(Column 3/ 

Column 2 * 100)
2009 1,300 854 66%
2010 1,392 918 66%
2011 1,410 961 68%
2012 1,382 966 70%
2013 1,419 1,031 73%
2014 1,471 1,071 73%

Percent 
Change from 

2009-2014
13%

Source: FDOH Health Care Practitioner Data Portal (accessed April 1, 2015)

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

78



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

45

Roughly 400 license-holders leave the state each year, leaving about 1,000 net licenses 
per year. The occupation could become undersupplied if the DEO’s demand estimate is 
revised from 844 to more than 1,000 openings per year.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

79



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

46

Physical Therapists
Summary Observations

∑ Florida projects 527 annual openings for Physical Therapists from 2014 to 2022*.  
∑ Florida produced 417 new graduates in Physical Therapy in 2012-2013*.
∑ Sixty-two percent of the past five years of Physical Therapy graduates were 

found employed in Florida within a year of graduation. 
∑ Florida issued 1,066 new Physical Therapist licenses in 2014* (includes licenses 

issued to Florida graduates and in-migration); 676 with an active license remain
in Florida the following year.

∑ Based on available data, it appears that the projected annual openings are
SUFFICIENTLY SUPPLIED. However, the supply-demand gap analysis for 
Physical Therapists should be reviewed again in the coming years, as the impacts 
of an aging workforce and the shift to the doctoral level could disrupt the current 
balance.

* Most recently available data.

Demand

Demand for the occupation is estimated by the projected number of average openings 
for each year of an eight year period (2014-2022). The annual openings are a total of job 
openings due to growth in the occupation and replacement openings. The Florida 
Department of Economic Opportunity’s projections of the percent growth, average 
annual openings, and wage information for the occupation in Florida are presented in 
Table 4A. The U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics provides information on the typical 
education for entry into the profession and a profile of the occupation.

Table 4A. Florida DEO 2014-2022 Projected Demand 

SOC
Occupation 

Title

2014-
2022

Percent
Growth

Average Annual 
Openings 2014

Average 
Wage

2014 Entry 
Wage

BLS 
Education 

Level
Growth Replacement Total

291123 Physical 
Therapists 24.9 387 140 527 $85,259 $60,133 Doctoral

degree

BLS Occupational 
Profile

Assess, plan, organize, and participate in rehabilitative programs that 
improve mobility, relieve pain, increase strength, and improve or correct 
disabling conditions resulting from disease or injury.

Source: FDEO 2014-2022 Employment Projections and U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics

The projected growth for Physical Therapists is greater than the average growth rate for 
all jobs in Florida (12%), with 24.9% growth projected in Florida and 36% nationally. 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

80



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

47

The entry wage for Physical Therapists is much higher than the entry wage for all jobs, 
and the average wage is a little more than double the average for all jobs. The education 
required for licensure as a Physical Therapist in Florida is the professional doctorate, or 
DPT degree. The Florida Department of Economic Opportunity projects 527 annual 
openings from 2014 to 2022 to meet the projected demand. The 140 positions created 
from replacement openings may be a conservative estimate that could be revised 
upward in the near future.

Supply

Estimates of potential supply are included in Table 4B.  The potential supply, or number 
of graduates for a given year, is broken out by the programs that align with the 
occupation. Supply is drawn from programs in the public and private sectors and the 
sub-totals for each (SUS and Non-SUS) are included in Table 4B. 

Table 4B.
2012-2013 Graduates by CIP for SUS and 
Non-SUS (ICUF, CIE) Institutions

Doctor's 
degree -

professional 
51.2308 Physical Therapy 417

SUS 220
Florida A&M University 22
Florida Gulf Coast University 22
Florida International University 50
University of Central Florida 2
University of Florida 54
University of North Florida 28
University of South Florida-Main Campus 29

Non-SUS 197
Nova Southeastern University 60
University of Miami 53
University of St. Augustine 84

Source: IPEDS with additional data and clarification provided by some universities

The SUS programs graduated 220 students in 2012-2013. The CIE and ICUF programs 
graduated 197 students in 2012-2013. The supply of graduates is from the 51.2308 CIP 
and is a one-to-one for the occupation. This requires no weighting adjustment for 
multiple occupational paths if the Health Specialties Teacher, Postsecondary occupation 
is excluded. A small portion of the graduates may go into management or teaching 
positions. 

Thirteen post-professional graduates, who were already licensed upon entry into the 
program, were removed from the University of South Florida total based on university 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

81



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

48

feedback about the transitional DPT program. None of Florida Gulf Coast University’s 
graduates were post-professionals in 2012-2013, but a newly implemented transitional 
DPT program will lead to post-professionals being included in the enrollment and 
graduate figures going forward. Based on a review of the Nova Southeastern University 
website, that program’s seven PhD students were likely licensed professionals who will 
pursue academic or research careers. Therefore, these graduates were also backed out of 
the supply. The supply of 84 pre-professional graduates from the University of St. 
Augustine was added based on communication with university staff.

Table 4C shows five years of enrollments for the SUS programs supplying the 
occupation. Enrollment data on ICUF and CIE programs, by CIP, is not available in the 
IPEDS database and was therefore not included.

Table 4C.
SUS Fall Enrollments by CIP

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

51.2308 Physical Therapy (Doctor's degree – professional)

FAMU 75 82 96 109 117

FGCU 67 72 74 80 76

FIU 148 152 157 157 163

UCF 91 92 69 87 115

UF 163 164 166 165 178

UNF 84 85 87 85 88

USF 74 99 94 207 332

Total 702 746 743 890 1069

Source: Florida Education and Training Placement Information Program (FETPIP)

Seven of the SUS universities offer the professional doctorate, and enrollments for 
Physical Therapy programs in the SUS were increasing overall. The large increases in 
enrollment at USF for 2012 and 2013 were due to expansion of the transitional DPT 
program, which caters to licensed Physical Therapists seeking to obtain a higher degree 
level.

Gap Analysis

Table 4D is a summary of the demand and supply presented above, with a calculation 
of the difference of these estimates. A negative value, in red, or a positive value closer to 
zero suggests a gap where the potential supply may not fill the projected demand.

Table 4D. DEO 2014-2022 Projected Demand and CIP Supply

SOC
Occupation 

Title
Annual 

Openings
Supply

Supply –
Annual 

Openings

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

82



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

49

291123 Physical 
Therapists 527 417 -110

When considered alone, the supply of 417 graduates is an undersupply of 110 for the 
527 projected annual openings. A gap could be created if a high percentage of graduates 
leave the state and in-migration doesn’t fill the demand. However, as shown in the 
tables below, 1,066 Physical Therapists were newly licensed in 2014 (with 676 remaining 
with a Florida address) compared to the supply estimate of 417, suggesting large in-
migration. Based on slight growth in licensing and the number of licensees remaining in 
Florida each year, the occupation appears to be sufficiently supplied or nearly balanced.

Contextual Factors

Out-Migration of Graduates

Table 4E summarizes the Florida employment, earnings (annualized), and continuing 
education of graduates in the October-December quarter after graduation. The 
outcomes data reported to FETPIP on CIE graduates was insufficient to include in the 
analysis. The SUS and ICUF percentages and earnings include five years of graduates 
for a more stable estimate of outcomes. Data on graduates who are self-employed is not 
included, which has the effect of under-estimating the percent employed and potential 
supply to the workforce.

Table 4E.
FETPIP Post-Graduation Outcomes 2008-09 to 2012-13, by CIP

51.2308 Physical Therapy (Doctor's degree – professional)

Sector
% 

Employed

% 
Employed 
Full Time

Full Time 
Average 
Earnings

% 
Continuing 
Education

SUS 71% 67% $63,572 1%
ICUF 49% 46% $66,776 1%

Source: Florida Education and Training Placement Information Program (FETPIP)

A smaller percentage of the ICUF graduates are found employed in Florida within a 
year of graduation. Just under a half of ICUF graduates and two-thirds of SUS 
graduates are found working full-time in Florida within a year of graduation and 
earning just above the average entry wage for Physical Therapists. 

Licensing

Tables 4F and 4G include data collected by the Florida Department of Health from the 
professional licensing boards. Table 4F is a comparison between the Florida Department 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

83



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

50

of Economic Opportunity’s estimate of individuals currently working in the occupation, 
the number DEO projects to be working in 2022, and the number of individuals 
currently holding an active license in the profession. The number of license-holders can 
include individuals who are not actively practicing or not practicing full-time. Use of 
this number for supply, without adjustment, would in most cases over-estimate the 
occupation’s employment.  However, a large difference between DEO’s total 
employment and the number of licenses can be one indication of an overly conservative 
demand estimate.

Table 4F. Comparison of DEO 2014-2022 Total Employment and 
Current DOH Licensure

FL Department of Economic Opportunity

2014 Total Employment 12,462
2022 Projected Total Employment 15,559

FL Department of Health, Medical Quality Assurance

Total In-State Active Licenses
(as of April 1, 2015) 12,348

Source: FDEO 2014-2022 Employment Projections and FDOH Health Care Practitioner Data 
Portal (accessed April 1, 2015)

The DEO’s estimate of total employment for 2014 is slightly higher than the number of 
total in-state, active licenses for Physical Therapists.

Table 4G includes data on the number of new licenses issued each year, for the past six 
years. This provides additional context to the estimate of new, annual supply for the 
workforce. However, a percentage of the newly licensed leave Florida over time. The 
number retained is a snapshot of how many of the individuals licensed in previous 
years still (as of April 1, 2015) have a Florida practice address and hold an active, clear 
license. The majority of those licensed since 2009 and who were not retained have left 
Florida; their license status had not changed.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

84



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

51

Table 4G. DOH Initial Licenses Issued, by year, and Retention 

Year of Initial 
License Issued

Number of 
Initial Licenses 

Issued

Sub-set of 
Column 2 Still 

In-State and 
Active as of 
April 1, 2015

% Retained 
In-State 

(Column 3/ 
Column 2 * 100)

2009 718 433 60%
2010 854 513 60%
2011 950 587 62%
2012 908 579 64%
2013 889 613 69%
2014 1,066 676 63%

Percent 
Change from 

2009-2014
48%

Source: FDOH Health Care Practitioner Data Portal (accessed April 1, 2015)

The number of licenses issued each year has been approaching 1,000, with roughly 600 
remaining in the state per year. In 2014, 1,066 licenses were issued and 676 remain 
active, clear and with a Florida practice address. The number retained is moderately 
above the DEO’s projected annual openings of 527. The number of Florida graduates 
from 2012-2013 (417) is not even half of the number licensed in 2014, which suggests a 
large amount of in-migration.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

85



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

52

Dentists
Summary Observations

∑ Florida projects 411 annual openings for General Dentists and another 100 
annual openings for Dental Specialists from 2014 to 2022*.

∑ Florida produced 205 new graduates in Dentistry in 2012-2013*.
∑ Thirty-nine percent of the past five years of Dentistry graduates were found 

employed in Florida within a year of graduation. 
∑ Florida issued 569 new Dentistry licenses in 2014* (includes licenses issued to 

Florida graduates and in-migration); 443 with an active license remain in Florida 
the following year.

∑ Based on available data, it appears that the projected annual openings are 
SUFFICIENTLY SUPPLIED. In addition to a significant amount of in-migration 
for the occupation, the new supply of roughly 100 graduates per year from the 
Lake Erie College of Medicine Dental School will increase the number of Dentists 
in Florida and fill annual demand over the projected period. 

* Most recently available data. Demand

Demand for the occupation is estimated by the projected number of average openings 
for each year of an eight year period (2014-2022). The annual openings are a total of job 
openings due to growth in the occupation and replacement openings. The Florida 
Department of Economic Opportunity’s projections of the percent growth, average 
annual openings, and wage information for the occupation in Florida are presented in 
Table 5A. The U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics provides information on the typical 
education for entry into the profession and a profile of the occupation.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

86



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

53

Table 5A.
Florida DEO 2014-2022 Projected Demand 

SOC
Occupation 

Title

2014-
2022

Percent
Growth

Average Annual 
Openings 2014

Average 
Wage

2014 Entry 
Wage

BLS 
Education 

Level
Growth Replacement Total

291021 Dentists, 
General 16.3 167 244 411 $157,477 $79,539 Doctoral 

degree

291022
Oral and 
Maxillofacial 
Surgeons

16.7 24 35 59 $233,002 $156,582 Doctoral 
degree

291023 Orthodontists 17.9 12 16 28 $179,546 $90,896 Doctoral 
degree

291029
Dentists, All 
Other 
Specialists

6.9 3 10 13 $173,846 $80,142 Doctoral 
degree

BLS Occupational 
Profile

Examine, diagnose, and treat diseases, injuries, and malformations of teeth and 
gums. May treat diseases of nerve, pulp, and other dental tissues affecting oral 
hygiene and retention of teeth. May fit dental appliances or provide preventive 
care. 

Source: FDEO 2014-2022 Employment Projections and U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics

The projected growth for General Dentists, Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeons, and 
Orthodontists is slightly greater than the average growth rate for all jobs in Florida 
(12%), with roughly 17% growth projected in Florida and 16% nationally. The entry 
wage for Dentists is much higher than the entry wage for all jobs, and the average wage 
is roughly four times the average for all jobs. The education required for licensure as a 
Dentist in Florida is the professional doctorate, or Doctor of Dental Medicine (D.M.D.). 
The Florida Department of Economic Opportunity projects 411 annual openings from 
2014 to 2022 to meet the projected demand for General Dentists and another 100 
openings for Dental Specialists. The positions created from replacement openings may 
be a conservative estimate that could be revised upward in the near future.

Supply

Estimates of potential supply are included in Table 5B.  The potential supply, or number 
of graduates for a given year, is broken out by the programs that align with the 
occupation. Supply is drawn from programs in the public and private sectors and the 
sub-totals for each (SUS and Non-SUS) are included in Table 5B. 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

87



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

54

Table 5B.
2012-2013 Graduates by CIP for SUS and 
Non-SUS (ICUF, CIE) Institutions

Doctor's 
degree -

professional 
51.0401 Dentistry 205

SUS
University of Florida 79

Non-SUS
Nova Southeastern University 126

Source: IPEDS with additional data and clarification provided by some universities

The SUS program at the University of Florida graduated 79 students in 2012-2013. The 
ICUF program at Nova Southeastern University graduated 126 students in 2012-2013. 
The supply of graduates is from the 51.0401 Dentistry CIP and is a one-to-one for the 
occupation. This requires no weighting adjustment for multiple occupational paths if 
the Health Specialties Teacher, Postsecondary occupation is excluded. A small portion 
of the graduates may go into teaching positions. The Lake Erie College of Medicine at 
Bradenton implemented a new program in Dentistry in July 2012, with three cohorts of 
roughly 100 students each currently enrolled. The graduates from the Lake Erie Dental 
program will add to the potential supply of Dentists in the near future. 

Table 5C shows five years of enrollments for the SUS programs supplying the 
occupation. Enrollment data on ICUF and CIE programs, by CIP, is not available in the 
IPEDS database and was therefore not included.

Table 5C.
SUS Fall Enrollments by CIP

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

51.0401 Dentistry (Doctor’s degree – professional)

UF 330 330 331 327 341

Source: Board of Governors, State University Data System (SUDS)

The University of Florida program has had steady enrollments over the past five years, 
with a small increase in 2013. 

Gap Analysis

Table 5D is a summary of the demand and supply presented above, with a calculation 
of the difference of these estimates. A negative value, in red, or a value closer to zero 
suggests a gap where the potential supply may not fill the projected demand.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

88



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

55

Table 5D. DEO 2014-2022 Projected Demand and CIP Supply

SOC Occupation Title
Annual 

Openings
Supply

Supply –
Annual 

Openings
291021 Dentists, General
291023 Orthodontists

291022 Oral and Maxillofacial 
Surgeons

291029 Dentists, All Other 
Specialists

Total for all 4 SOCs 511 205 -306

By summing the annual demand of Dentistry-related SOC codes at the 5-digit level 
(29102x), the calculated gap is expressed generally for Dentists overall.  However, it 
would be incorrect to assume that each of the specialties at the 6-digit level show a gap 
or have claim to a portion of the overall gap. The reason for displaying the data in this 
way is an acknowledgement that Dental school graduates (representing the supply of 
Dentists) are qualified to pursue any of the four occupations above.  

When considered alone, the supply of 205 graduates is a significant undersupply for the 
511 projected annual openings. A large gap could be created if a high percentage of 
graduates leave the state and in-migration doesn’t fill the demand. However, as shown 
in the tables below, 569 Dentists were newly licensed in 2014 compared to the supply 
estimate of 205, suggesting a large amount of in-migration. The retained number of 2014 
license-holders in Florida yields just 443 current in-state active Dentists and would be 
an under-supply for the projected openings. Even with recent growth in licensing and 
roughly 80% of licensees remaining in FL each year, the occupation appears to be 
under-supplied or closely balanced. However, the new supply of 100 graduates per 
year from the Lake Erie College of Medicine Dental program could bring the annual 
number of newly licensed Dentists above the projected annual demand, yielding a 
sufficient supply of Dentists.

Contextual Factors

Out-Migration of Graduates

Table 5E summarizes the Florida employment, earnings (annualized), and continuing 
education of graduates in the October-December quarter after graduation. The 
outcomes reporting to FETPIP on CIE graduates was insufficient to include in the 
analysis. The SUS and ICUF percentages and earnings include five years of graduates 
for a more stable estimate of outcomes. Data on the self-employed is not included, 
which has the effect of under-estimating the percent employed and potential supply to 
the workforce.  

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

89



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

56

Table 5E.
FETPIP Post-Graduation Outcomes 2008-09 to 2012-13, by CIP

51.0401 Dentistry (Doctor's degree – professional)

Sector
% 

Employed

% 
Employed 
Full Time

Full Time 
Average 
Earnings

% 
Continuing 
Education

SUS 58% 50% $102,804 8%
ICUF 28% 26% $93,900 0%

Source: Florida Education and Training Placement Information Program (FETPIP)

Half of the University of Florida Dentistry graduates are found working full-time in 
Florida within a year of graduation and with high earnings. Twenty-six percent of the 
Nova Southeastern University Dentistry graduates are found working full-time in 
Florida within a year of graduation and with slightly less earnings. Eight percent of the 
University of Florida graduates are found continuing their education and are likely 
training as specialists.

Licensing

Tables 5F and 5G include data collected by the Florida Department of Health from the 
professional licensing boards. Table 5F is a comparison between the Florida Department 
of Economic Opportunity’s estimate of individuals currently working in the occupation, 
the number DEO projects to be working in 2022, and the number of individuals 
currently holding an active license in the profession. The number of license-holders can 
include individuals who are not actively practicing or not practicing full-time. Use of 
this number for supply, without adjustment, would in most cases over-estimate the 
occupation’s employment. However, a large difference between DEO’s total 
employment and the number of licenses can be one indication of an overly conservative 
demand estimate.

Table 5F. Comparison of DEO 2014-2022 Total Employment and 
Current DOH Licensure

FL Department of Economic Opportunity

2014 Total Employment (all 4 SOCs) 10,188
2022 Projected Total Employment (all 4 SOCs) 11,834

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

90



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

57

FL Department of Health, Medical Quality Assurance

Total In-State Active Licenses
(as of April 1, 2015) 10,449

Source: FDEO 2014-2022 Employment Projections and FDOH Health Care Practitioner Data 
Portal (accessed April 1, 2015)

The number of in-state, active Dentistry licenses is close to the DEO total employment 
figure, especially considering no adjustment has been made to subtract the license-
holders who are not currently practicing. 

Table 5G includes data on the number of new licenses issued each year, for the past six 
years. This provides additional context to the estimate of new, annual supply for the 
workforce. However, a percentage of the newly licensed leave Florida over time. The 
number retained is a snapshot of how many of the individuals licensed in previous 
years still (as of April 1, 2015) have a Florida practice address and hold an active, clear 
license. The majority of those licensed since 2009 and who were not retained have left 
Florida; their license status had not changed.

Table 5G. DOH Initial Licenses Issued, by year, and Retention 

Year of Initial 
License Issued

Number of 
Initial Licenses 

Issued

Sub-set of 
Column 2 Still 

In-State and 
Active as of 
April 1, 2015

% Retained 
In-State 

(Column 3/ 
Column 2 * 100)

2009 362 278 77%
2010 346 260 75%
2011 367 283 77%
2012 414 325 79%
2013 440 360 82%
2014 569 443 78%

Percent 
Change from 

2009-2014
57%

Source: FDOH Health Care Practitioner Data Portal (accessed April 1, 2015)

The number of Dentist licenses issued each year has been increasing since 2011, with a 
large increase 2014. In 2014, 569 licenses were issued and 443 remain in the state. Even 
with the growth in licensing and the retention of license-holders in Florida, the demand 
of 411 projected openings for General Dentists and another 100 projected openings for 
Dentistry Specialists is likely under-supplied or barely met. A significant gap could be 
created if the demand increases, net migration decreases, and a large number of the 
graduates from the new Lake Erie College of Medicine Dental program go out-of-state 
to practice.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

91



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

58

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

92



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

59

Occupational Therapists
Summary Observations

∑ Florida projects 320 annual openings for Occupational Therapists from 2014 to 
2022*.  

∑ Florida produced 242 new graduates in Occupational Therapy in 2012-2013*. 
∑ Sixty-one percent of the past five years of Occupational Therapy graduates were 

found employed in Florida within a year of graduation. 
∑ Florida issued 664 new Occupational Therapist licenses in 2014* (includes 

licenses issued to Florida graduates and in-migration); 442 with an active license 
remain in Florida the following year.

∑ Based on available data, it appears that the projected annual openings are 
SUFFICIENTLY SUPPLIED. However, the supply-demand gap analysis for 
Occupational Therapists should be reviewed again in the coming years, as the 
impacts of an aging workforce and any increases in out-migration could disrupt 
the current balance.

* Most recently available data.

Demand

Demand for the occupation is estimated by the projected number of average openings 
for each year of an eight year period (2014-2022). The annual openings are a total of job 
openings due to growth in the occupation and replacement openings. The Florida 
Department of Economic Opportunity’s projections of the percent growth, average 
annual openings, and wage information for the occupation in Florida are presented in 
Table 6A. The U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics provides information on the typical 
education for entry into the profession and a profile of the occupation.

Table 6A. Florida DEO 2014-2022 Projected Demand

SOC
Occupation 

Title

2014-
2022

Percent
Growth

Average Annual 
Openings 2014

Average 
Wage

2014 Entry 
Wage

BLS 
Education 

Level
Growth Replacement Total

291122 Occupational 
Therapists 25.3 202 118 320 $83,054 $58,573 Master’s 

degree

BLS Occupational 
Profile

Assess, plan, organize, and participate in rehabilitative programs that help 
build or restore vocational, homemaking, and daily living skills, as well as 
general independence, to persons with disabilities or developmental delays.

Source: FDEO 2014-2022 Employment Projections and U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

93



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

60

The projected growth for Occupational Therapists is almost double the average growth 
rate for all jobs in Florida (12%), with 25.3% growth projected in Florida and 29% 
nationally. The entry wage for Occupational Therapists is much higher than the entry 
wage for all jobs, and the average wage is roughly double the average for all jobs. The 
education required for licensure as an Occupational Therapist in Florida is graduation 
from an accredited program, which in now required at the master’s level. The Florida 
Department of Economic Opportunity projects 320 annual openings from 2014 to 2022 
to meet the projected demand. The 118 positions created from replacement openings 
may be a conservative estimate that could be revised upward in the near future.

Supply

Estimates of potential supply are included in Table 6B.  The potential supply, or number 
of graduates for a given year, is broken out by the programs that align with the 
occupation. Supply is drawn from programs in the public and private sectors and the 
sub-totals for each (SUS and Non-SUS) are included in Table 6B. 

Table 6B.
2012-2013 Graduates by CIP for SUS and 
Non-SUS (ICUF, CIE) Institutions

Master's 
degree

51.2306 Occupational Therapy 242
SUS 131

Florida A&M University 10
Florida Gulf Coast University 30
Florida International University 48
University of Florida 43

Non-SUS 111
Adventist University of Health Sciences 0
Barry University 36
Nova Southeastern University 45
University of St. Augustine for Health Sciences 30

Source: IPEDS with additional data and clarification provided by some universities

The SUS programs graduated 131 students in 2012-2013. The CIE and ICUF programs 
graduated 111 students in 2012-2013. The supply of graduates is from the 51.2306 CIP 
and is a one-to-one correspondence for the occupation. This requires no weighting 
adjustment for multiple occupational paths. Three post-professional graduates from 
Florida International University’s MSOT program were taken out of the supply. These 
graduates were already licensed upon entry into the program and therefore would not 
be considered as new potential supply. The supply was also adjusted to include the 
University of St. Augustine’s 30 pre-professional master’s graduates. 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

94



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

61

Table 6C shows five years of enrollments for the SUS programs supplying the 
occupation. Enrollment data on ICUF and CIE programs, by CIP, is not available in the 
IPEDS database and was therefore not included.

Table 6C.
SUS Fall Enrollments by CIP

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

51.2306 Occupational Therapy (Master's degree)

FAMU 35 34 44 65 63

FGCU 45 57 55 60 60

FIU 148 167 155 175 168

UF 118 113 108 111 113

Total 346 371 362 411 404

Source: Board of Governors, State University Data System (SUDS)

Overall, the enrollments for Occupational Therapy programs in the SUS increased from 
2009 to 2013. The University of Florida’s program had a slight decline in enrollments, 
but it remains the second largest program after FIU.

Gap Analysis

Table 6D is a summary of the demand and supply presented above, with a calculation 
of the difference of these estimates. A negative value, in red, or a positive value closer to 
zero suggests a gap where the potential supply may not fill the projected demand.

Table 6D. DEO 2014-2022 Projected Demand and CIP Supply

SOC
Occupation 

Title
Annual 

Openings
Supply

Supply –
Annual 

Openings

291122 Occupational 
Therapists 320 242 -78

When considered alone, the supply of 242 graduates is an undersupply of 78 for the 320 
projected annual openings. A gap could be created if a high percentage of graduates 
leave the state and in-migration doesn’t fill the demand. However, as shown in the 
tables below, 664 Occupational Therapists were newly licensed in 2014 (with 442
remaining with a Florida address) compared to the supply estimate of 242, suggesting 
large in-migration. While there has been growth in licensing over the past five years, 50-
60% of the new licensees appear to out-migrate within a couple of years of licensure.
The balance of in- and out-migration could lead to an undersupply of Occupational 
Therapists, especially if the DEO’s projection of 320 openings is a conservative estimate.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

95



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

62

Contextual Factors

Out-Migration of Graduates

Table 6E summarizes the Florida employment, earnings (annualized), and continuing 
education of graduates in the October-December quarter after graduation. The 
outcomes data reported to FETPIP on CIE graduates was insufficient to include in the 
analysis. The SUS and ICUF percentages and earnings include five years of graduates 
for a more stable estimate of outcomes. Data on graduates who are self-employed is not 
included, which has the effect of under-estimating the percent employed and potential 
supply to the workforce.

Table 6E.
FETPIP Post-Graduation Outcomes 2008-09 to 2012-13, by CIP
51.2306 
Occupational Therapy

(Master’s degree)

Sector
% 

Employed

% 
Employed 
Full Time

Full Time 
Average 
Earnings

% 
Continuing 
Education

SUS 64% 57% $56,504 2%
ICUF 53% 44% $58,384 2%

Source: Florida Education and Training Placement Information Program (FETPIP)

Similar to Physical Therapy programs, a lower percentage of ICUF students are found 
employed in Florida within a year of graduation. Forty-four percent of ICUF graduates 
and 57% of SUS graduates are found working full-time in Florida within a year of 
graduation and are earning the average entry wage for Occupational Therapists. 

Licensing

Tables 6F and 6G include data collected by the Florida Department of Health from the 
professional licensing boards. Table 6F is a comparison between the Florida Department 
of Economic Opportunity’s estimate of individuals currently working in the occupation, 
the number DEO projects to be working in 2022, and the number of individuals 
currently holding an active license in the profession. The number of license-holders can 
include individuals who are not actively practicing or not practicing full-time. Use of 
this number for supply, without adjustment, would in most cases over-estimate the 
occupation’s employment.  However, a large difference between DEO’s total 
employment and the number of licenses can be one indication of an overly conservative 
demand estimate.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

96



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

63

Table 6F. Comparison of DEO 2014-2022 Total Employment and 
Current DOH Licensure

FL Department of Economic Opportunity

2014 Total Employment 6,402
2022 Projected Total Employment 8,021

FL Department of Health, Medical Quality Assurance

Total In-State Active Licenses
(as of April 1, 2015) 6,537

Source: FDEO 2014-2022 Employment Projections and FDOH Health Care Practitioner Data 
Portal (accessed April 1, 2015)

The number of in-state, active Occupational Therapy licenses is close to the DEO total 
employment figure, especially considering no adjustment has been made to subtract the
license-holders who are not currently practicing. 

Table 6G includes data on the number of new licenses issued each year, for the past six 
years. This provides additional context to the estimate of new, annual supply for the 
workforce. However, a percentage of the newly licensed leave Florida over time. The 
number retained is a snapshot of how many of the individuals licensed in previous 
years still (as of April 1, 2015) have a Florida practice address and hold an active, clear 
license. The majority of those licensed since 2009 and who were not retained have left 
Florida; their license status had not changed.

Table 6G. DOH Initial Licenses Issued, by year, and Retention 

Year of Initial 
License Issued

Number of 
Initial Licenses 

Issued

Sub-set of 
Column 2 Still 

In-State and 
Active as of 
April 1, 2015

% Retained 
In-State 

(Column 3/ 
Column 2 * 100)

2009 483 236 49%
2010 500 266 53%
2011 528 285 54%
2012 549 287 52%
2013 549 336 61%
2014 664 442 67%

Percent 
Change from 

2009-2014
37%

Source: FDOH Health Care Practitioner Data Portal (accessed April 1, 2015)

The number of licenses issued each year has been growing steadily, with a larger 
change from 2013 to 2014. In 2014, 664 licenses were issued and 442 remain active, clear 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

97



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

64

and with a Florida practice address. The number retained is moderately above the 
DEO’s projected annual openings of 320. However, the 242 graduates from 2012-2013 is 
not even half the 2013 or 2014 licensing number, which suggests a large amount of in-
migration. There is also the possibility of a large amount of out-migration, considering 
that only about 50% of those licensed a few years ago remain in Florida.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

98



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

65

Speech and Language Pathologists
Summary Observations

∑ Florida projects 306 annual openings for Speech and Language Pathologists from 
2014 to 2022*.  

∑ Florida produced 518 new graduates in Speech and Language Pathology in 2012-
2013*.

∑ Fifty-three percent of the past five years of Speech and Language Pathology 
graduates were found employed in Florida within a year of graduation. 

∑ Florida issued 738 new Speech and Language Pathologist licenses in 2014* 
(includes licenses issued to Florida graduates and in-migration); 562 with an 
active license remain in Florida the following year.

∑ Based on available data, it appears that the projected annual openings are 
SUFFICIENTLY SUPPLIED.

* Most recently available data.

Demand

Demand for the occupation is estimated by the projected number of average openings 
for each year of an eight year period (2014-2022). The annual openings are a total of job 
openings due to growth in the occupation and replacement openings. The Florida 
Department of Economic Opportunity’s projections of the percent growth, average 
annual openings, and wage information for the occupation in Florida are presented in 
Table 7A. The U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics provides information on the typical 
education for entry into the profession and a profile of the occupation.

Table 7A. Florida DEO 2014-2022 Projected Demand

SOC
Occupation 

Title

2014-
2022

Percent
Growth

Average Annual 
Openings 2014

Average 
Wage

2014 Entry 
Wage

BLS 
Education 

Level
Growth Replacement Total

291127
Speech and 
Language 
Pathologists

18.8 172 134 306 $75,962 $52,104 Master’s 
degree

BLS Occupational 
Profile

Assess and treat persons with speech, language, voice, and fluency disorders. 
May select alternative communication systems and teach their use. May 
perform research related to speech and language problems.

Source: FDEO 2014-2022 Employment Projections and U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

99



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

66

The projected growth for Speech and Language Pathologists is moderately higher than 
the average growth rate for all jobs in Florida (12%), with 18.8% growth projected in 
Florida and 19% nationally. The entry wage for Speech and Language Pathologists is 
significantly higher than the entry wage for all jobs, and the average wage is a little less 
than double the average for all jobs. The education set by the BLS and required for 
licensure as a Speech and Language Pathologist in Florida is a master’s degree. 
Licensing requires nine months of post-graduate professional employment, which can 
be done under a Provisional Speech-Language Pathologist license after graduation. 

The Florida Department of Economic Opportunity projects 306 annual openings from 
2014 to 2022 to meet the projected demand for Speech and Language Pathologists. The 
134 positions created from replacement openings may be a conservative estimate that 
could be revised upward in the near future.

Supply

Estimates of potential supply are included in Table 7B.  The potential supply, or number 
of graduates for a given year, is broken out by the programs that align with the 
occupation. Supply is drawn from programs in the public and private sectors and the 
sub-totals for each (SUS and Non-SUS) are included in Table 7B. 

Table 7B.
2012-2013 Graduates by CIP for SUS and 
Non-SUS (ICUF, CIE) Institutions

Master’s 
degree

Doctor's 
degree -
research

Total

51.0203 Speech-Language Pathology 219 219
Non-SUS 219 219

Nova Southeastern University 219 219
51.0204 Audiology and Speech-Language Pathology 291 8 299

SUS 291 8 299
Florida Atlantic University 15 15
Florida International University 31 31
Florida State University 62 5 67
University of Central Florida 88 88
University of Florida 30 2 32
University of South Florida 65 1 66

Grand Total 510 8 518
Source: IPEDS with additional data and clarification provided by some universities

Programs for Speech and Language Pathology fall under two CIPs, 51.0203 and 51.0204. 
The SUS programs graduated 299 students in 2012-2013. The ICUF program, at Nova 
Southeastern University, graduated 219 students in 2012-2013. There were eight PhD 
graduates and five professional degree graduates in the relevant CIPs. After a review of 
program admission requirements, the five professional degree graduates from Nova 
were removed from supply as already-licensed professionals. A portion of the PhD 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

100



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

67

graduates may also be licensed professionals, but because they do not significantly 
influence the gap calculation, they were left in the supply.

Table 7C shows five years of enrollments for the SUS programs supplying the 
occupation. Enrollment data on ICUF and CIE programs, by CIP, is not available in the 
IPEDS database and was therefore not included.

Table 7C.
SUS Fall Enrollments by CIP

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

51.0204 Audiology and Speech-Language Pathology

FAU
Master's degree 59 52 55 58 52

FIU
Master's degree 71 67 70 75 78

FSU
Master's degree 125 130 146 139 146

Doctor's degree – research 25 21 19 13 9

UCF
Master's degree 208 223 199 195 191

UF
Master's degree 65 62 59 67 65

Doctor's degree – research 19 17 20 24 21

USF
Master's degree 144 151 159 160 153

Doctor's degree – research 12 13 12 15 15

Total
Master's degree 672 685 688 694 685

Doctor's degree – research 56 51 51 52 45

Source: Board of Governors, State University Data System (SUDS)

Overall, enrollments in the SUS master’s programs have remained steady. Enrollments 
in the SUS doctoral programs have declined slightly, mostly attributable to declines in 
FSU’s doctoral program.

Gap Analysis

Table 7D is a summary of the demand and supply presented above, with a calculation 
of the difference of these estimates. A negative value, in red, or a positive value closer to 
zero suggests a gap where the potential supply may not fill the projected demand.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

101



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

68

Table 7D. DEO 2014-2022 Projected Demand and CIP Supply

SOC
Occupation 

Title
Annual 

Openings
Supply

Supply –
Annual 

Openings

291127
Speech and 
Language 
Pathologists

306 517 211

When considered alone, the supply of 517 graduates exceeds the 306 projected annual 
openings by 211. In addition, 738 Speech and Language Pathologists were newly 
licensed in 2014 (with 562 remaining with a Florida address) compared to the supply 
estimate of 517, suggesting some in-migration. Based on moderate growth in licensing 
and the number of licensees remaining in Florida each year, the occupation appears to 
be sufficiently supplied.  

Contextual Factors

Out-Migration of Graduates

Table 7E summarizes the Florida employment, earnings (annualized), and continuing 
education of graduates in the October-December quarter after graduation. The 
outcomes data reported to FETPIP on CIE graduates was insufficient to include in the 
analysis. The SUS and ICUF percentages and earnings include five years of graduates 
for a more stable estimate of outcomes. Data on graduates who are self-employed is not 
included, which has the effect of under-estimating the percent employed and potential 
supply to the workforce.  

Table 7E.
FETPIP Post-Graduation Outcomes 2008-09 to 2012-13, by CIP

Sector (degree)
% 

Employed

% 
Employed 
Full Time

Full Time 
Average 
Earnings

% 
Continuing 
Education

51.0203 Speech-Language Pathology

ICUF (Master’s) 28% 27% $53,692 0%

51.0204 Audiology and Speech-Language Pathology

SUS (Master’s) 69% 66% $54,996 3%
SUS (Doctoral –
research) 29% 23% $42,208 0%

Source: Florida Education and Training Placement Information Program (FETPIP)

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

102



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

69

Sixty-six percent of the SUS master’s graduates are found working full-time in Florida 
within a year of graduation and with high earnings. The percent of graduates found 
employed in Florida for ICUF is less than the SUS programs, with only 27% of the ICUF 
master’s graduates found employed full-time in Florida with a year of graduation. The 
earnings for the ICUF graduates are comparable to the earnings of the SUS graduates at 
roughly $54,000 per year. Fewer graduates of the doctoral programs are found 
employed in Florida and with lower earnings, suggesting that graduates were 
employed in research careers rather than professional practice in Speech and Language 
Pathology. The majority of the supply is from the master’s programs.

Licensing

Tables 7F and 7G include data collected by the Florida Department of Health from the 
professional licensing boards. Table 7F is a comparison between the Florida Department 
of Economic Opportunity’s estimate of individuals currently working in the occupation, 
the number DEO projects to be working in 2022, and the number of individuals 
currently holding an active license in the profession. The number of license-holders can 
include individuals who are not actively practicing or not practicing full-time. Use of 
this number for supply, without adjustment, would in most cases over-estimate the 
occupation’s employment.  However, a large difference between DEO’s total 
employment and the number of licenses can be one indication of an overly conservative 
demand estimate.

Table 7F. Comparison of DEO 2014-2022 Total Employment and 
Current DOH Licensure

FL Department of Economic Opportunity

2014 Total Employment 7,295
2022 Projected Total Employment 8,667

FL Department of Health, Medical Quality Assurance

Total In-State Active Licenses
(as of April 1, 2015) 7,624

Source: FDEO 2014-2022 Employment Projections and FDOH Health Care Practitioner Data 
Portal (accessed April 1, 2015)

The number of in-state, active Speech and Language Pathology licenses is close to the 
DEO total employment figure, especially considering no adjustment has been made to 
subtract the license-holders who are not currently practicing. 

Table 7G includes data on the number of new licenses issued each year, for the past six 
years. This provides additional context to the estimate of new, annual supply for the 
workforce. However, a percentage of the newly licensed leave Florida over time. The 
number retained is a snapshot of how many of the individuals licensed in previous 
years still (as of April 1, 2015) have a Florida practice address and hold an active, clear 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

103



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

70

license. The majority of those licensed since 2009 and who were not retained have left 
Florida; their license status had not changed.

Table 7G. DOH Initial Licenses Issued, by year, and Retention 

Year of Initial 
License Issued

Number of 
Initial Licenses 

Issued

Sub-set of 
Column 2 Still 

In-State and 
Active as of 
April 1, 2015

% Retained 
In-State 

(Column 3/ 
Column 2 * 100)

2009 505 342 68%
2010 505 335 66%
2011 577 422 73%
2012 638 467 73%
2013 734 568 77%
2014 738 562 76%

Percent 
Change from 

2009-2014
46%

Source: FDOH Health Care Practitioner Data Portal (accessed April 1, 2015)

The number of licenses issued each year has been growing steadily. In 2014, 738 licenses 
were issued and 562 remain active, clear and with a Florida practice address. The 
number retained is moderately above the DEO’s projected annual openings of 306. 
Based on the supply of graduates and licensing data, the DEO would have to almost 
double the demand estimate for a gap to appear. 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

104



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

71

Medical and Clinical Laboratory Technologists
Summary Observations

∑ Florida projects 303 annual openings for Medical and Clinical Laboratory 
Technologists from 2014 to 2022*.  

∑ Florida produced 1,208 new graduates in Biomedical Sciences, Biochemistry, 
Microbiology, and Clinical Laboratory Sciences in 2012-2013.

∑ Forty-four percent of the past five years of Biomedical Sciences, Biochemistry, 
and Microbiology graduates and 80% of the past five years of Clinical Laboratory 
Sciences graduates were found employed in Florida within a year of graduation. 

∑ Florida issued 940 new Clinical Laboratory Personnel licenses in 2014* (includes 
licenses issued to Florida graduates and in-migration); 638 with an active license 
remain in Florida the following year.

∑ Based on available data, it appears that the projected annual openings are 
SUFFICIENTLY SUPPLIED.

* Most recently available data.

Demand

Demand for the occupation is estimated by the projected number of average openings 
for each year of an eight year period (2014-2022). The annual openings are a total of job 
openings due to growth in the occupation and replacement openings. The Florida 
Department of Economic Opportunity’s projections of the percent growth, average 
annual openings, and wage information for the occupation in Florida are presented in 
Table 8A. The U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics provides information on the typical 
education for entry into the profession and a profile of the occupation.

Table 8A. Florida DEO 2014-2022 Projected Demand 

SOC
Occupation 

Title

2014-
2022

Percent
Growth

Average Annual 
Openings 2014

Average 
Wage

2014 Entry 
Wage

BLS 
Education 

Level
Growth Replacement Total

292011

Medical and 
Clinical 
Laboratory 
Technologists

9.1 114 189 303 $58,282 $47,112 Bachelor’s 
degree

BLS Occupational 
Profile

Perform complex medical laboratory tests for diagnosis, treatment, and 
prevention of disease. May train or supervise staff.

Source: FDEO 2014-2022 Employment Projections and U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

105



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

72

The projected growth for Medical and Clinical Laboratory Technologists is lower than 
the average growth rate for all jobs in Florida (12%), with 9.1% growth projected in 
Florida and 14% nationally. The entry wage for Medical and Clinical Laboratory 
Technologists is higher than the entry wage for all jobs, and the average wage is 
roughly $20,000 higher than the average for all jobs. Licensure for Clinical Laboratory 
Personnel in Florida has varying levels of education and experience requirements 
depending on the type of lab professional. Most lab personnel can obtain a license with 
a bachelor’s degree and a few can obtain a license with an associate’s degree plus 
experience. The Florida Department of Economic Opportunity projects 303 annual 
openings from 2014 to 2022 to meet the projected demand. The 189 positions created 
from replacement openings may be a conservative estimate that could be revised 
upward in the near future.

Supply

Estimates of potential supply are included in Table 8B.  The potential supply, or number 
of graduates for a given year, is broken out by the programs that align with the 
occupation. Supply is drawn from programs in the public and private sectors and the 
sub-totals for each (SUS and Non-SUS) are included in Table 8B. 

Table 8B.
2012-2013 Graduates by CIP for SUS and 
Non-SUS (ICUF, CIE) Institutions

Bachelor’s 
degree 

Master’s 
degree Total

26.0102 Biomedical Sciences, General 492 51 543
SUS 447 51 498

Florida Atlantic University 29 29
Florida State University 13 13
University of Central Florida 34 9 43
University of South Florida 413 413

Non-SUS 45 45
Adventist University of Health Sciences 25 25
Eckerd College 1 1
Florida Institute of Technology 13 13
Florida State College at Jacksonville 6 6

26.0202 Biochemistry 93 2 95
SUS 38 38

Florida State University 38 38
Non-SUS 55 2 57

Ave Maria University 1 1
Eckerd College 4 4
Florida Institute of Technology 6 1 7
Rollins College 11 11
Stetson University 7 7

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

106



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

73

Table 8B. Continued
2012-2013 Graduates by CIP for SUS and 
Non-SUS (ICUF, CIE) Institutions

Bachelor’s 
degree 

Master’s 
degree Total

University of Tampa 7 7
University of Miami 19 1 20

26.0204 Molecular Biology 17 17
Non-SUS 17 17

Eckerd College 0 0
Florida Institute of Technology 13 13
Stetson University 4 4

26.0503 Medical Microbiology and Bacteriology 466 13 479
SUS 466 13 479

University of Central Florida 265 3 268
University of Florida 160 3 163
University of South Florida 41 7 48

51.1005 Clinical Laboratory Science 74 74
SUS 66 66

Florida Gulf Coast University 6 6
University of West Florida 31 31
University of Central Florida 22 22
University of South Florida 7 7

Non-SUS 8 8
Saint Leo University 1 1
Santa Fe College 7 7

Grand Total 1142 66 1208
Source: IPEDS with additional data and clarification provided by some universities

Based on the limited supply from the programs in CIP 51.1005, the only CIP included in 
the CIP-SOC crosswalk, the Technologist occupation appeared to be vastly 
undersupplied. However, a review of licensing requirements for Clinical Laboratory 
Personnel led to the inclusion of graduates from additional, relevant programs in the 
supply total. The supply of graduates was expanded to include CIPs 26.0102, 26.0202, 
26.0204, 26.0401, 26.0503 and 26.0806, and produced a new total of 1,208 bachelor’s and 
master’s graduates. It is unlikely that a downward, weighted adjustment for alternative 
occupational paths for these graduates would reduce the supply enough to create a gap 
for the 303 openings. The additional number of graduates more closely aligns with the 
licensing for Clinical Laboratory Personnel.

Table 8C shows five years of enrollments for the SUS programs supplying the 
occupation. Enrollment data on ICUF and CIE programs, by CIP, is not available in the 
IPEDS database and was therefore not included.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

107



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

74

Table 8C.
SUS Fall Enrollments by CIP

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

26.0102 Biomedical Sciences, General

FAU
Master's degree 43 43 36 53 49

FSU
Master's degree 21 21 23 22 12

UCF
Bachelor's degree 0 0 872 1634 2074

Master's degree 0 13 13 17 12

USF
Bachelor's degree 2585 2417 2325 2445 2617

Total
Bachelor's degree 2585 2417 3197 4079 4691

Master's degree 64 77 72 92 73

26.0202 Biochemistry

FSU
Bachelor's degree 230 236 235 263 164

26.0503 Medical Microbiology and Bacteriology

UCF

Bachelor's degree 1995 2114 1320 705 362

Master's degree 26 21 15 7 1

UF
Bachelor's degree 626 609 615 648 651

Master's degree 17 22 17 11 13

USF
Bachelor's degree 185 233 208 226 230

Master's degree 4 6 5 5 3

Total
Bachelor's degree 2806 2956 2143 1579 1243

Master's degree 47 49 37 23 17

51.1005 Clinical Laboratory Science/Medical Technology/Technologist

FGCU
Bachelor's degree 7 7 15 27 24

UCF
Bachelor's degree 74 88 104 107 105

USF
Bachelor's degree 138 106 103 117 100

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

108



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

75

Table 8C. Continued
SUS Fall Enrollments by CIP

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

UWF
Bachelor's degree 79 79 89 87 97

Total
Bachelor's degree 298 280 311 338 326

Source: Board of Governors, State University Data System (SUDS)

The SUS institutions have large programs in CIPs 26.0102, 26.0202, and 26.0503. Overall, 
the enrollments at the bachelor’s and master’s levels have been steady. A decline in 
UCF’s program in CIP 26.0503 was offset by increased enrollments in other programs in 
CIP 26.0102. The 51.1005 CIP, which is included in the CIP-SOC crosswalk for the 
occupation, has had a small increase in enrollments in the past five years.

Gap Analysis

Table 8D is a summary of the demand and supply presented above, with a calculation 
of the difference of these estimates. A negative value, in red, or a positive value closer to 
zero suggests a gap where the potential supply may not fill the projected demand.

Table 8D. DEO 2014-2022 Projected Demand and CIP Supply

SOC
Occupation 

Title
Annual 

Openings
Supply

Supply –
Annual 

Openings

292011

Medical and 
Clinical 
Laboratory 
Technologists

303 1,208 905

The supply was initially calculated using the graduates from a single CIP code, which 
yielded a supply of 78 and a shortage of 229 for the demand. However, a new supply 
estimate of 1,208 is more accurate since it captures graduates of additional, relevant 
programs. The supply of 1,208 graduates far exceeds the 303 projected annual openings 
by 905. Based on the number of qualified graduates and the licensing information 
below, it would be difficult to suggest a gap for Laboratory Technologists. However, the 
occupation includes a variety of laboratory specialists (ex. histologists) who may need 
specific education and work experience. Gaps may exist for more narrowly defined 
types of technologists, but demand estimates are not available for this level of analysis.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

109



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

76

Contextual Factors

Out-Migration of Graduates

Table 8E summarizes the Florida employment, earnings (annualized), and continuing 
education of graduates in the October-December quarter after graduation. The 
outcomes data reported to FETPIP on CIE graduates was insufficient to include in the 
analysis. The SUS and ICUF percentages and earnings include five years of graduates 
for a more stable estimate of outcomes. Data on graduates who are self-employed is not 
included, which has the effect of under-estimating the percent employed and potential 
supply to the workforce.  

Table 8E.
FETPIP Post-Graduation Outcomes 2008-09 to 2012-13, by CIP

Sector (degree)
% 

Employed

% 
Employed 
Full Time

Full Time 
Average 
Earnings

% 
Continuing 
Education

26.0102  Biomedical Sciences, General

SUS (Bachelor’s ) 49% 29% $29,252 35%
ICUF (Bachelor’s) 56% 28% $33,584 20%
SUS (Master’s) 26% 15% $37,248 45%
26.0202 Biochemistry 

SUS (Bachelor’s) 35% 24% $26,268 25%
26.0503 Medical Microbiology and Bacteriology

SUS (Bachelor’s) 42% 23% $27,616 33%
SUS (Master’s) 32% 26% $44,668 40%
51.1005 Clinical Laboratory Sciences/Medical Technology

SUS (Bachelor’s) 80% 75% $48,280 7%
ICUF (Bachelor’s) 75% 75% *** 0%

*** Small sample size
Source: Florida Education and Training Placement Information Program (FETPIP)

Fewer than half of the general science graduates (CIPs 26.0102, 26.0202, 26.0503) are 
found working full-time in Florida within a year of graduation. For those that are 
found, the earnings are slightly below the average entry wage for the occupation. A 
relatively high percentage of the graduates are found continuing their education. The 
51.1005 CIP shows a higher percentage of graduates found working full-time in Florida 
within a year of graduation and with higher earnings.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

110



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

77

Licensing

Tables 8F and 8G include data collected by the Florida Department of Health from the 
professional licensing boards. Table 8F is a comparison between the Florida Department 
of Economic Opportunity’s estimate of individuals currently working in the occupation, 
the number DEO projects to be working in 2022, and the number of individuals 
currently holding an active license in the profession. The number of license-holders can 
include individuals who are not actively practicing or not practicing full-time. Use of 
this number for supply, without adjustment, would in most cases over-estimate the 
occupation’s employment.  However, a large difference between DEO’s total 
employment and the number of licenses can be one indication of an overly conservative 
demand estimate.

Table 8F. Comparison of DEO 2014-2022 Total Employment and 
Current DOH Licensure (Clinical Laboratory Personnel)

FL Department of Economic Opportunity

2014 Total Employment 10,040
2022 Projected Total Employment 10,950

FL Department of Health, Medical Quality Assurance

Total In-State Active Licenses
(as of April 1, 2015) 12,493

Source: FDEO 2014-2022 Employment Projections and FDOH Health Care Practitioner Data 
Portal (accessed April 1, 2015)

The number of in-state, active Clinical Laboratory Personnel licenses is higher than the
DEO’s 2014 total employment figure and the projection for 2022. This may be partially 
explained by a lack of adjustment in the DOH numbers for license-holders who are not 
currently working in the field. Also, the DEO separates Medical Scientists from 
Technologists in a different occupation code, but the licensing includes both levels of 
laboratory professionals.

Table 8G includes data on the number of new licenses issued each year, for the past six 
years. This provides additional context to the estimate of new, annual supply for the 
workforce. However, a percentage of the newly licensed leave Florida over time. The 
number retained is a snapshot of how many of the individuals licensed in previous 
years still (as of April 1, 2015) have a Florida practice address and hold an active, clear 
license. The majority of those licensed since 2009 and who were not retained have left 
Florida; their license status had not changed.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

111



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

78

Table 8G. DOH Initial Licenses Issued, by year, and Retention 
for Clinical Laboratory Personnel

Year of Initial 
License Issued

Number of 
Initial Licenses 

Issued

Sub-set of 
Column 2 Still 

In-State and 
Active as of 
April 1, 2015

% Retained 
In-State 

(Column 3/ 
Column 2 * 100)

2009 607 389 64%
2010 616 411 67%
2011 800 525 66%
2012 827 583 70%
2013 831 610 73%
2014 940 638 68%

Percent 
Change from 

2009-2014
55%

Source: FDOH Health Care Practitioner Data Portal (accessed April 1, 2015)

The new supply number (1,208 versus 78 previously) more closely aligns with the 
licensing for Clinical Laboratory Personnel. In 2014, 940 licenses were issued and 638 
remained clear, active, with a Florida practice address. The number of newly licensed 
Clinical Laboratory Personnel retained in 2014 is more than double the 306 projected 
annual openings. 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

112



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

79

Medical and Public Health Social Workers
Summary Observations

∑ Florida projects 302 annual openings for Medical and Public Health Social 
Workers from 2014 to 2022*.  

∑ Florida produced 925 new masters and doctoral graduates in Social Work in 
2012-2013*.

∑ Seventy percent of the past five years of masters and doctoral Social Work 
graduates were found employed in Florida within a year of graduation. 

∑ Florida issued 706 new Clinical Social Worker licenses in 2014* (includes licenses 
issued to Florida graduates and in-migration); 589 with an active license remain
in Florida the following year.

∑ Based on available data, it appears that the projected annual openings are 
SUFFICIENTLY SUPPLIED.

* Most recently available data.

Demand

Demand for the occupation is estimated by the projected number of average openings 
for each year of an eight year period (2014-2022). The annual openings are a total of job 
openings due to growth in the occupation and replacement openings. The Florida 
Department of Economic Opportunity’s projections of the percent growth, average 
annual openings, and wage information for the occupation in Florida are presented in 
Table 9A. The U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics provides information on the typical 
education for entry into the profession and a profile of the occupation.

Table 9A. Florida DEO 2014-2022 Projected Demand

SOC
Occupation 

Title

2014-
2022

Percent
Growth

Average Annual 
Openings 2014

Average 
Wage

2014 Entry 
Wage

BLS 
Education 

Level
Growth Replacement Total

211022
Medical and 
Public Health 
Social Workers

24.7 172 130 302 $47,590 $30,451 Master’s 
degree

BLS Occupational 
Profile

Provide individuals, families, and groups with the psychosocial support 
needed to cope with chronic, acute, or terminal illnesses. Services include 
advising family care givers, providing patient education and counseling, and 
making referrals for other services. May also provide care and case 
management or interventions designed to promote health, prevent disease, 
and address barriers to access to healthcare.

Source: FDEO 2014-2022 Employment Projections and U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

113



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

80

The projected growth for Medical and Public Health Social Workers is greater than the 
average growth rate for all jobs in Florida (12%), with 24.7% growth projected for 
Florida and 27% growth nationally. The entry wage for Healthcare Social Workers is 
roughly $10,000 higher than the entry wage for all jobs, and the average wage is just 
above the average for all jobs. The education required for licensure as a Clinical Social 
Worker in Florida is the master’s degree, or M.S.W. Two years of post-master’s 
supervised experience is also required and can be done with registration as a Clinical 
Social Worker Intern. The Florida Department of Economic Opportunity projects 302 
annual openings from 2014 to 2022 to meet the projected demand for Healthcare Social
Workers. The 130 positions created from replacement openings may be a conservative 
estimate that could be revised upward in the near future.

Supply

Estimates of potential supply are included in Table 9B.  The potential supply, or number 
of graduates for a given year, is broken out by the programs that align with the 
occupation. Supply is drawn from programs in the public and private sectors and the 
sub-totals for each (SUS and Non-SUS) are included in Table 9B. 

Table 9B.
2012-2013 Graduates by CIP for SUS and 
Non-SUS (ICUF, CIE) Institutions

Master's 
degree

Doctor's 
degree -
research Total

44.0701 Social Work 920 5 925
SUS 724 5 729

Florida A&M University 22 22
Florida Atlantic University 98 98
Florida Gulf Coast University 17 17
Florida International University 113 2 115
Florida State University 240 1 241
University of Central Florida 143 143
University of South Florida 48 2 50
University of West Florida 43 43

Non-SUS 196 0 196
Barry University 182 0 182
Saint Leo University 14 14

Source: IPEDS with additional data and clarification provided by some universities

The SUS programs graduated 729 students in 2012-2013. The ICUF programs graduated 
182 students in 2012-2013. The supply of graduates is from the 44.0701 Social Work CIP 
and primarily includes graduates of master’s programs. Five PhD students are also 
included in the supply total. 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

114



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

81

The 44.0701 CIP aligns (crosswalks) with multiple social work occupations besides 
Healthcare Social Worker.  Only 20% of the master’s and doctoral graduates are 
included in the supply when (1) adjusting the supply for multiple occupational 
pathways and (2) assuming that graduates may fill jobs with a lower education 
requirement for entry. The potential supply for the Healthcare Social Worker 
occupation under this calculation is 184 graduates (only 1 doctoral graduate) and leads 
to a gap in meeting demand. However, this adjusted supply figure of 184 is significantly 
less than the 706 new Clinical Social Worker licenses issued in Florida in 2014. If the 
adjustment is done by only including the other occupations requiring a master’s degree 
or higher (excluding bachelor’s degree entry occupations) then the supply would be 
475, or 50% of the 44.0701 graduates. 

Table 9C shows five years of enrollments for the SUS programs supplying the 
occupation. Enrollment data on ICUF and CIE programs, by CIP, is not available in the 
IPEDS database and was therefore not included.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

115



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

82

Table 9C.
SUS Fall Enrollments by CIP

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

44.0701 Social Work

FAMU
Master's degree 58 64 65 58 46

FAU
Master's degree 160 181 216 241 267

FGCU
Master's degree 50 59 58 42 38

FIU
Master's degree 172 207 225 233 201

Doctor's degree - research 10 11 15 17 16

FSU
Master's degree 368 433 465 522 495

Doctor's degree - research 27 28 24 22 26

UCF
Master's degree 267 359 340 347 340

USF

Master's degree 204 138 164 145 144

Doctor's degree - research 17 17 21 19 16

UWF
Master's degree 47 89 63 82 85

Total
Master's degree 1326 1530 1596 1670 1616

Doctor's degree - research 54 56 60 58 58

Source: Board of Governors, State University Data System (SUDS)

Overall, the enrollments for the Social Work master’s programs have increased, 
primarily due to increased enrollments in the Florida Atlantic University and Florida 
State University programs. Enrollments in the doctoral programs have remained 
steady.

Gap Analysis

Table 9D is a summary of the demand and supply presented above, with a calculation 
of the difference of these estimates. A negative value, in red, or a positive value closer to 
zero suggests a gap where the potential supply may not fill the projected demand.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

116



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

83

Three scenarios are presented in Table 9D, incorporating the different supply estimates 
from the previous section. If a full adjustment is made to the supply, then 184 graduates 
(20% of the program totals) are included as potential supply and will undersupply the 
302 projected annual openings by 118. If the supply is adjusted for only those
occupations requiring a master’s or higher, then 475 (50%) of the graduates are counted 
in the supply and exceed the projected annual openings by 173. If no adjustment is 
made and all of the Social Work graduates are included as potential supply, then the 
supply exceeds the projected annual openings by 623.

Based on licensing data for Clinical Social Workers, the 50% estimate or unadjusted 
supply totals are probably more accurate than a full adjustment using only 20% of the 
program graduates. As shown in the tables below, 706 Clinical Social Workers were 
newly licensed in 2014 (with 589 remaining with a Florida address) compared to the 
supply estimates of 184, 475, and 925, respectively. Based on growth in licensing and the 
number of licensees remaining in Florida each year, the occupation appears to be 
sufficiently supplied.  

Contextual Factors

Out-Migration of Graduates

Table 9E summarizes the Florida employment, earnings (annualized), and continuing 
education of graduates in the October-December quarter after graduation. The 
outcomes data reported to FETPIP on CIE graduates was insufficient to include in the 
analysis. The SUS and ICUF percentages and earnings include five years of graduates 
for a more stable estimate of outcomes. Data on graduates who are self-employed is not 
included, which has the effect of under-estimating the percent employed and potential 
supply to the workforce.  

Table 9D. DEO 2014-2022 Projected Demand and CIP Supply

SOC
Occupation 

Title
Annual 

Openings

Adjusted 
Supply 
(20% of 

graduates)

Adjusted 
Supply 
(50% of 

graduates)

Supply
(without 

adjustment)

211022
Medical and 
Public Health 
Social Workers

302 184 475 925

Supply Scenario – Annual Openings -118 173 623

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

117



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

84

Table 9E.
FETPIP Post-Graduation Outcomes 2008-09 to 2012-13, by CIP

44.0701 Social Work

Sector
% 

Employed

% 
Employed 
Full Time

Full Time 
Average 
Earnings

% 
Continuing 
Education

SUS (Master’s) 72% 65% $37,140 5%
ICUF (Master’s) 67% 60% $39,716 2%
SUS (Doctoral) 38% 32% $87,448 3%

Source: Florida Education and Training Placement Information Program (FETPIP)

More than half of the master’s Social Work graduates are found working full-time in 
Florida within a year of graduation and with higher earnings than the average entry 
wage for the occupation. Only 32% of doctoral graduates are found working full-time in 
Florida within a year of graduation, but those found have significantly higher earnings.

Licensing

Tables 9F and 9G include data collected by the Florida Department of Health from the 
professional licensing boards. Table 9F is a comparison between the Florida Department 
of Economic Opportunity’s estimate of individuals currently working in the occupation, 
the number DEO projects to be working in 2022, and the number of individuals 
currently holding an active license in the profession. The number of license-holders can 
include individuals who are not actively practicing or not practicing full-time. Use of 
this number for supply, without adjustment, would in most cases over-estimate the 
occupation’s employment.  However, a large difference between DEO’s total 
employment and the number of licenses can be one indication of an overly conservative 
demand estimate.

Table 9F. Comparison of DEO 2014-2022 Total Employment and 
Current DOH Licensure for Clinical Social Workers

FL Department of Economic Opportunity

2014 Total Employment 5,553
2022 Projected Total Employment 6,925

FL Department of Health, Medical Quality Assurance

Total In-State Active Licenses
(as of April 1, 2015) 7,638

Source: FDEO 2014-2022 Employment Projections and FDOH Health Care Practitioner Data 
Portal (accessed April 1, 2015)

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

118



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

85

The number of in-state, active Clinical Social Worker licenses is greater than the DEO 
2014 total employment and the 2022 projected total employment. This suggests that the 
demand estimate may be overly conservative. Alternatively, the number of license-
holders not currently in practice, or practicing part-time, may be larger compared to 
some of the other health occupations.

Table 9G includes data on the number of new licenses issued each year, for the past six 
years. This provides additional context to the estimate of new, annual supply for the 
workforce. However, a percentage of the newly licensed leave Florida over time. The 
number retained is a snapshot of how many of the individuals licensed in previous 
years still (as of April 1, 2015) have a Florida practice address and hold an active, clear 
license. The majority of those licensed since 2009 and who were not retained have left 
Florida; their license status had not changed.

Table 9G. DOH Initial Licenses Issued, by year, and Retention 
for Clinical Social Workers

Year of Initial 
License Issued

Number of 
Initial Licenses 

Issued

Sub-set of 
Column 2 Still 

In-State and 
Active as of 
April 1, 2015

% Retained 
In-State 

(Column 3/ 
Column 2 * 100)

2009 463 353 76%
2010 416 340 82%
2011 514 405 79%
2012 505 407 81%
2013 585 492 84%
2014 706 589 83%

Percent 
Change from 

2009-2014
52%

Source: FDOH Health Care Practitioner Data Portal (accessed April 1, 2015)

The number of Clinical Social Worker licenses issued each year has been increasing, 
with a larger increase in 2014. In 2014, 706 licenses were issued and 589 remain in the 
state. Based on the growth in licensing and the retention of license-holders in Florida, 
the demand estimate of 302 projected openings would have to almost double to become 
a gap.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

119



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

86

Physician Assistants
Summary Observations

∑ Florida projects 250 annual openings for Physician Assistants from 2014 to 2022*.  
∑ Florida produced 464 new Physician Assistant graduates in 2012-2013*.
∑ Sixty-four percent of the past five years of Physician Assistant graduates were 

found employed in Florida within a year of graduation. 
∑ Florida issued 740 new Physician Assistant licenses in 2014* (includes licenses 

issued to Florida graduates and in-migration); 583 with an active license remain 
in Florida the following year.

∑ Based on available data, it appears that the projected annual openings are 
SUFFICIENTLY SUPPLIED. 

Demand

Demand for the occupation is estimated by the projected number of average openings 
for each year of an eight year period (2014-2022). The annual openings are a total of job 
openings due to growth in the occupation and replacement openings. The Florida 
Department of Economic Opportunity’s projections of the percent growth, average 
annual openings, and wage information for the occupation in Florida are presented in 
Table 10A. The U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics provides information on the typical 
education for entry into the profession and a profile of the occupation.

Table 10A. Florida DEO 2014-2022 Projected Demand 

SOC
Occupation 

Title

2014-
2022

Percent
Growth

Average Annual 
Openings 2014

Average 
Wage

2014 Entry 
Wage

BLS 
Education 

Level
Growth Replacement Total

291071 Physician 
Assistants 26.5 161 89 250 $99,341 $73,528 Master’s 

degree*

BLS Occupational 
Profile

Provide healthcare services typically performed by a physician, under the 
supervision of a physician. Conduct complete physicals, provide treatment, 
and counsel patients. May, in some cases, prescribe medication. Must 
graduate from an accredited educational program for physician assistants. 
Excludes "Emergency Medical Technicians and Paramedics" (29-2041), 
"Medical Assistants" (31-9092), "Registered Nurses" (29-1141), "Nurse 
Anesthetists" (29-1151), "Nurse Midwives" (29-1161), and "Nurse Practitioners" 
(29-1171).

Source: FDEO 2014-2022 Employment Projections and U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

120



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

87

The projected growth for Physician Assistants is greater than the average growth rate 
for all jobs in Florida (12%), with 26.5% growth projected for Physician Assistants in 
Florida and 38% nationally. The entry wage for Physician Assistants is much higher 
than the entry wage for all jobs, and the average wage is roughly more than double the 
average for all jobs. Licensure as a Physician Assistant in Florida requires graduation 
from an accredited training program and passing a proficiency exam administered by 
the National Commission on Certification of Physician Assistants. The Florida 
Department of Economic Opportunity projects 250 annual openings from 2014 to 2022 
to meet the projected demand for Physician Assistants. The 89 positions created from 
replacement openings may be a conservative estimate that could be revised upward in 
the near future.

Supply

Estimates of potential supply are included in Table 10B.  The potential supply, or 
number of graduates for a given year, is broken out by the programs that align with the 
occupation. Supply is drawn from programs in the public and private sectors and the 
sub-totals for each (SUS and Non-SUS) are included in Table 10B. 

Table 10B.
2012-2013 Graduates by CIP for SUS and 
Non-SUS (ICUF, CIE) Institutions

Associate’s 
degree

Master’s 
degree Total

51.0912 Physician Assistant 44 420 464
SUS 59 59

University of Florida 59
Non-SUS 44 361 405

Barry University 74
Keiser University-Ft Lauderdale 24
Miami Dade College 44
Nova Southeastern University 235
South University-Tampa 28

Source: IPEDS with additional data and clarification provided by some universities

The supply of graduates is from the 51.0912 CIP and is a one-to-one for the occupation, 
and therefore requires no weighting adjustment for multiple occupational paths. The 
SUS program graduated 59 students in 2012-2013. The ICUF programs graduated 361 
students in 2012-2013. Additionally, Miami Dade College in the Florida College System 
offers an accredited Physician Assistant training program that had 44 graduates in 2012-
2013. The total supply of 405 graduates from the non-SUS institutions is much larger 
than current SUS supply of 59 graduates. However, three new programs have been 
approved for SUS institutions (USF, FSU, and FIU) and implementation of these 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

121



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

88

programs over the next couple of years will increase the supply of Physician Assistants 
in the near future (3-5 years).

Table 10C shows five years of enrollments for the SUS programs supplying the 
occupation. Enrollment data on ICUF and CIE programs, by CIP, is not available in the 
IPEDS database and was therefore not included.

Table 10C.
SUS Fall Enrollments by CIP

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

51.0912 Physician Assistant (Master’s degree)

UF 119 119 119 119 121

Source: Board of Governors, State University Data System (SUDS)

The Physician Assistant program at the University of Florida has had steady 
enrollments for the past five years.

Gap Analysis

Table 10D is a summary of the demand and supply presented above, with a calculation 
of the difference of these estimates. A negative value, in red, or a positive value closer to 
zero suggests a gap where the potential supply may not fill the projected demand.

Table 10D. DEO 2014-2022 Projected Demand and CIP Supply

SOC
Occupation 

Title
Annual 

Openings
Supply

Supply –
Annual 

Openings

291071 Physician 
Assistants 250 464 214

When considered alone, the supply of 464 graduates exceeds the 250 projected annual 
openings by 214. In addition, 740 Physician Assistants were newly licensed in 2014 
(with 583 remaining with a Florida address) compared to the supply estimate of 464, 
suggesting large in-migration. Based on significant growth in licensing over the past 
five years and the number of licensees remaining in Florida each year, the occupation 
appears to be sufficiently supplied.  

Contextual Factors

Out-Migration of Graduates

Table 10E summarizes the Florida employment, earnings (annualized), and continuing 
education of graduates in the October-December quarter after graduation. The 
outcomes data reported to FETPIP on CIE graduates was insufficient to include in the 
analysis. The SUS and ICUF percentages and earnings include five years of graduates 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

122



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

89

for a more stable estimate of outcomes. Data on graduates who are self-employed is not 
included, which has the effect of under-estimating the percent employed and potential 
supply to the workforce.  

Table 10E.
FETPIP Post-Graduation Outcomes 2008-09 to 2012-13, by CIP

51.0912  Physician Assistant (Master's degree)

Sector
% 

Employed

% 
Employed 
Full Time

Full Time 
Average 
Earnings

% 
Continuing 
Education

SUS 75% 75% $90,720 0%
ICUF 62% 60% $84,992 0%

Source: Florida Education and Training Placement Information Program (FETPIP)

Nearly three-quarters of SUS Physician Assistant graduates are found working full-time 
in Florida within a year of graduation and with high earnings. Fewer of the ICUF 
graduates are found working in Florida, which translates to a more significant source of 
out-migration because of the large number of ICUF graduates. However, sixty percent 
of ICUF graduates are found working full-time in Florida and with high earnings.

Licensing

Tables 10F and 10G include data collected by the Florida Department of Health from the 
professional licensing boards. Table 10F is a comparison between the Florida 
Department of Economic Opportunity’s estimate of individuals currently working in 
the occupation, the number DEO projects to be working in 2022, and the number of 
individuals currently holding an active license in the profession. The number of license-
holders can include individuals who are not actively practicing or not practicing full-
time. Use of this number for supply, without adjustment, would in most cases over-
estimate the occupation’s employment.  However, a large difference between DEO’s 
total employment and the number of licenses can be one indication of an overly 
conservative demand estimate.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

123



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

90

Table 10F. Comparison of DEO 2014-2022 Total Employment and 
Current DOH Licensure

FL Department of Economic Opportunity

2014 Total Employment 4,846
2022 Projected Total Employment 6,131

FL Department of Health, Medical Quality Assurance

Total In-State Active Licenses
(as of April 1, 2015) 6,355

Source: FDEO 2014-2022 Employment Projections and FDOH Health Care Practitioner Data 
Portal (accessed April 1, 2015)

The number of in-state, active Physician Assistants licenses is greater than the DEO total 
employment figure and the DEO projected employment for 2022. This suggests that the 
demand estimate may be overly conservative. Alternatively, the number of license-
holders not currently in practice, or practicing part-time, may be larger compared to 
some of the other health occupations.

Table 10G includes data on the number of new licenses issued each year, for the past six 
years. This provides additional context to the estimate of new, annual supply for the 
workforce. However, a percentage of the newly licensed leave Florida over time. The 
number retained is a snapshot of how many of the individuals licensed in previous 
years still (as of April 1, 2015) have a Florida practice address and hold an active, clear 
license. The majority of those licensed since 2009 and who were not retained have left 
Florida; their license status had not changed.

Table 10G. DOH Initial Licenses Issued, by year, and Retention 

Year of Initial 
License Issued

Number of 
Initial Licenses 

Issued

Sub-set of 
Column 2 Still 

In-State and 
Active as of 
April 1, 2015

% Retained 
In-State 

(Column 3/ 
Column 2 * 100)

2009 432 299 69%
2010 515 369 72%
2011 530 402 76%
2012 646 517 80%
2013 703 573 82%
2014 740 583 79%

Percent 
Change from 

2009-2014
71%

Source: FDOH Health Care Practitioner Data Portal (accessed April 1, 2015)

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

124



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

91

The number of licenses issued each year has been steadily increasing, with a 71% 
change over six years. The number licensed in 2014 is three times the projected demand 
of 250 annual openings. In 2014, 740 licenses were issued and 583 remain in the state. 
Based on the growth in licensing and the retention of license-holders in Florida, the 
demand estimate would have to increase by more than double to become a gap.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

125



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

92

Mental Health Counselors
Summary Observations

∑ Florida projects 245 annual openings for Mental Health Counselors from 2014 to 
2022*.  

∑ Florida produced 1,150 new graduates in Mental Health Counseling in 2012-
2013*.

∑ Fifty-three percent of the past five years of Mental Health Counseling graduates 
were found employed in Florida within a year of graduation. 

∑ Florida issued 799 new Mental Health Counselor licenses in 2014* (includes 
licenses issued to Florida graduates and in-migration); 730 with an active license 
remain in Florida the following year.

∑ Based on available data, it appears that the projected annual openings are 
SUFFICIENTLY SUPPLIED. 

* Most recently available data.

Demand

Demand for the occupation is estimated by the projected number of average openings 
for each year of an eight year period (2014-2022). The annual openings are a total of job 
openings due to growth in the occupation and replacement openings. The Florida 
Department of Economic Opportunity’s projections of the percent growth, average 
annual openings, and wage information for the occupation in Florida are presented in 
Table 11A. The U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics provides information on the typical 
education for entry into the profession and a profile of the occupation.

Table 11A. Florida DEO 2014-2022 Projected Demand

SOC
Occupation 

Title

2014-
2022

Percent
Growth

Average Annual 
Openings 2014

Average 
Wage

2014 Entry 
Wage

BLS 
Education 

Level
Growth Replacement Total

211014 Mental Health 
Counselors 20.9 135 110 245 $42,328 $28,038 Master’s 

degree

BLS Occupational 
Profile

Counsel with emphasis on prevention. Work with individuals and groups to 
promote optimum mental and emotional health. May help individuals deal 
with issues associated with addictions and substance abuse; family, parenting, 
and marital problems; stress management; self-esteem; and aging. Excludes 
"Social Workers" (21-1021 through 21-1029), "Psychiatrists" (29-1066), and 
"Psychologists" (19-3031 through 19-3039).

Source: FDEO 2014-2022 Employment Projections and U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

126



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

93

The projected growth for Mental Health Counselors is greater than the average growth 
rate for all jobs in Florida (12%), with 21% growth projected for Florida and 29% 
nationally. The entry wage for Mental Health Counselors is almost $10,000 greater than 
the entry wage for all jobs, and the average wage is roughly equivalent to the average 
for all Florida jobs. The education required for licensure as a Mental Health Counselor 
in Florida is a master’s degree. The Florida Department of Economic Opportunity 
projects 245 annual openings from 2014 to 2022 to meet the projected demand for 
Mental Health Counselors. The 110 positions created from replacement openings may 
be a conservative estimate that could be revised upward in the near future.

Supply

Estimates of potential supply are included in Table 11B.  The potential supply, or 
number of graduates for a given year, is broken out by the programs that align with the 
occupation. Supply is drawn from programs in the public and private sectors and the 
sub-totals for each (SUS and Non-SUS) are included in Table 11B. 

Table 11B.
2012-2013 Graduates by CIP for SUS and 
Non-SUS (ICUF, CIE) Institutions

Master's 
degree

Doctor's 
degree -
research Total

42.0101 Psychology, General 129 129
SUS 75 75

Florida International University 36 36
University of West Florida 39 39

Non-SUS
Carlos Albizu University – Miami 54 54

42.2801 Clinical Psychology 24 24
SUS

University of Central Florida 19 19
Non-SUS

Barry University 5 5
42.2803 Counseling Psychology 727 727

Non-SUS 727 727
Barry University 29 29
Nova Southeastern University 291 291
Palm Beach Atlantic University 96 96
Reformed Theological Seminary of FL 18 18
Southeastern University 5 5
Trinity International University – FL 19 19
Troy University – Florida campuses 83 83
Webster University – Florida campuses 186 186

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

127



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

94

Table 11B. Continued
2012-2013 Graduates by CIP for SUS and 
Non-SUS (ICUF, CIE) Institutions

Master's 
degree

Doctor's 
degree -
research Total

51.1501 Substance Abuse/Addiction Counseling 5 5
Non-SUS

Palm Beach Atlantic University 5 5
51.1506 Clinical Pastoral Counseling/Patient 
Counseling 1 12 13

Non-SUS 1 12 13
Argosy University-Sarasota 12 12

S. FL Bible College and Theological Seminary 1 1
51.1508 Mental Health Counseling 246 6 252

SUS 61 6 67
University of Florida 40 6 46
University of North Florida 21 21

Non-SUS 185 185
Argosy University-Sarasota 51 51
Argosy University-Tampa 13 13
Asbury Theological Seminary 3 3
Capella University 22 22
Rollins College 22 22
South University-West Palm Beach 14 14
St Thomas University 2 2
Stetson University 14 14
University of Miami 13 13
Walden University 31 31

Grand Total 1,132 18 1,150
Source: IPEDS with additional data and clarification provided by some universities

The CIP-SOC crosswalk for Mental Health Counselors includes three CIPs: 51.1501, 
51.1506, and 51.1508. However, after communication with universities and a review of 
program websites, it became clear that additional CIPs and relevant programs were 
missing from the crosswalk. For a more accurate estimate of supply, the master’s degree 
graduates from General, Clinical, and Counseling Psychology programs with a 
concentration in Mental Health Counseling were added to the supply totals. A few 
Counseling Education programs in CIP 13.1101 also offer Mental Health Counseling as 
a specialization for the master’s degree (at FAMU, FAU, FGCU, FIU, and FSU), but 
pulling out the Mental Health Counseling graduates from the overall master’s program 
total wasn’t possible. A review of program websites confirmed that graduates of these 
additional programs are able to seek licensure and fill demand for the occupation. The 
inclusion of additional programs significantly increased the total supply. The supply 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

128



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

95

from programs in the original three CIPs was 270 graduates and addition of the 
Psychology programs brings the total supply to 1,150 graduates. 

Based on the revised supply estimate, the SUS programs graduated at least 161 Mental 
Health Counseling students in 2012-2013. The CIE and ICUF programs graduated 989 
students in 2012-2013, with Nova Southeastern University having a notably large 
program. There is potential for the supply of graduates included in Table 11B to fill 
demand in several related occupations, namely Rehabilitation Counseling, Marriage 
and Family Therapy, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Social Work, and Clergy (for 
CIP 51.1506). In addition, a portion of the graduates may go into management or 
teaching positions. Even with an adjustment for other occupational paths, the large 
number of graduates and the number of licenses issued in recent years suggests the 
potential supply remains large.

Table 11C shows five years of enrollments for the SUS programs supplying the 
occupation. Enrollment data on ICUF and CIE programs, by CIP, is not available in the 
IPEDS database and was therefore not included.

Table 11C. SUS Fall Enrollments by CIP 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

42.0101 Psychology, General

FIU
Master's degree 69 57 83 99 98

UWF
Master's degree 114 106 121 98 84

Total
Master's degree 183 163 204 197 182

42.2801 Clinical Psychology

UCF
Master's degree 32 31 30 31 33

51.1508 Mental Health Counseling

UF
Master’s degree 25 27 32 0 0

Doctor's degree - research 43 38 31 51 68

UNF
Master's degree 70 94 67 53 50

Total
Master's degree 95 121 99 53 50

Doctor's degree - research 43 38 31 51 68

Source: Board of Governors, State University Data System (SUDS)

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

129



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

96

The master’s and specialist-degree Psychology programs with a Mental Health 
Counseling concentration (at FIU, UWF, and UCF) have had fairly steady enrollments 
from 2009 to 2013. The master’s program in Mental Health Counseling at the University 
of North Florida has had a small decline in enrollments. The master’s and doctoral 
programs in Mental Health Counseling at the University of Florida have recently 
moved from the 51.1508 CIP to 13.1101, where the program is a concentration of the 
Counseling program in the Education department. 

Gap Analysis

Table 11D is a summary of the demand and supply presented above, with a calculation 
of the difference of these estimates. A negative value, in red, or a positive value closer to 
zero suggests a gap where the potential supply may not fill the projected demand.

Table 11D. DEO 2014-2022 Projected Demand and CIP Supply

SOC
Occupation 

Title
Annual 

Openings
Supply

Supply –
Annual 

Openings

211014 Mental Health 
Counselors 245 1,150 905

The initial calculation of supply using the CIP-SOC crosswalk methodology yielded 260 
graduates and a small oversupply for the 245 projected openings. However, a closer 
review of relevant programs brought the supply total to 1,150 graduates, which exceeds 
the 245 projected annual openings by 905. The significant increase to the supply 
estimate is supported by the licensing information presented in the tables below. In 
2014, 799 Mental Health Counselors were newly licensed (with 703 remaining with a 
Florida address) compared to the revised supply estimate of 1,150 graduates. Based on 
significant growth in licensing and the number of licensees remaining in Florida each 
year, the occupation appears to be sufficiently supplied.  

Contextual Factors

Out-Migration of Graduates

Table 11E summarizes the Florida employment, earnings (annualized), and continuing 
education of graduates in the October-December quarter after graduation. The 
outcomes data reported to FETPIP on CIE graduates was insufficient to include in the 
analysis. The SUS and ICUF percentages and earnings include five years of graduates 
for a more stable estimate of outcomes. Data on graduates who are self-employed is not 
included, which has the effect of under-estimating the percent employed and potential 
supply to the workforce.  

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

130



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

97

Table 11E.
FETPIP Post-Graduation Outcomes 2008-09 to 2012-13, by CIP

Sector
% 

Employed

% 
Employed 
Full Time

Full Time 
Average 
Earnings

% 
Continuing 
Education

42.0101 Psychology, General

SUS (Master’s) 48% 41% $35,532 21%
42.2801 Clinical Psychology

SUS (Master’s) 54% 37% $34,780 25%
42.2803 Counseling Psychology

ICUF (Master’s) 64% 56% $39,348 2%
51.1508 Mental Health Counseling

SUS (Master’s) 70% 60% $35,776 8%
ICUF (Master’s) 51% 46% $39,308 8%
SUS (Specialist) 65% 48% $37,980 9%
SUS (Doctoral) 47% 38% $57,060 3%

Source: Florida Education and Training Placement Information Program (FETPIP)

The percent of master’s and specialist degree graduates found working full-time in 
Florida within a year of graduation ranges from 37 to 60 percent, depending on the 
program’s CIP and sector. On average, roughly half of the graduates are found working 
full-time, earning between the entry and average wage. Thirty-eight percent of the 
doctoral graduates are found working full-time within a year of graduation and with 
higher earnings. The percent continuing education is relatively high for the General and 
Clinical Psychology programs. However, the ICUF Counseling Psychology programs, 
which are contributing a large portion of the potential supply, have only 2% continuing 
education and 56% found working full-time.

Licensing

Tables 11F and 11G include data collected by the Florida Department of Health from the 
professional licensing boards. Table 11F is a comparison between the Florida 
Department of Economic Opportunity’s estimate of individuals currently working in 
the occupation, the number DEO projects to be working in 2022, and the number of 
individuals currently holding an active license in the profession. The number of license-
holders can include individuals who are not actively practicing or not practicing full-
time. Use of this number for supply, without adjustment, would in most cases over-
estimate the occupation’s employment.  However, a large difference between DEO’s 
total employment and the number of licenses can be one indication of an overly 
conservative demand estimate.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

131



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

98

Table 11F. Comparison of DEO 2014-2022 Total Employment and 
Current DOH Licensure

FL Department of Economic Opportunity

2014 Total Employment 5,182
2022 Projected Total Employment 6,264

FL Department of Health, Medical Quality Assurance

Total In-State Active Licenses
(as of April 1, 2015) 8,681

Source: FDEO 2014-2022 Employment Projections and FDOH Health Care Practitioner Data 
Portal (accessed April 1, 2015)

The number of in-state, active Mental Health Counselor licenses exceeds the DEO’s 2014 
total employment figure and the projected total employment for 2022. This suggests 
that the demand estimate may be overly conservative. Alternatively, the number of 
license-holders not currently in practice, or practicing part-time, may be larger 
compared to some of the other health occupations.

Table 11G includes data on the number of new licenses issued each year, for the past six 
years. This provides additional context to the estimate of new, annual supply for the 
workforce. However, a percentage of the newly licensed leave Florida over time. The 
number retained is a snapshot of how many of the individuals licensed in previous 
years still (as of April 1, 2015) have a Florida practice address and hold an active, clear 
license. The majority of those licensed since 2009 and who were not retained have left 
Florida; their license status had not changed.

Table 11G. DOH Initial Licenses Issued, by year, and Retention 

Year of Initial 
License Issued

Number of 
Initial Licenses 

Issued

Sub-set of 
Column 2 Still 

In-State and 
Active as of 
April 1, 2015

% Retained 
In-State 

(Column 3/ 
Column 2 * 100)

2009 446 371 83%
2010 415 331 80%
2011 482 413 86%
2012 511 455 89%
2013 682 614 90%
2014 799 730 91%

Percent 
Change from 

2009-2014
79%

Source: FDOH Health Care Practitioner Data Portal (accessed April 1, 2015)

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

132



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

99

The number of Mental Health Counselor licenses issued each year has been increasing, 
with larger increases in 2013 and 2014. In 2014, 799 licenses were issued and 730 remain 
in the state. Another 1,133 Mental Health Counselor Intern licenses were issued in 2014 
to graduates fulfilling training and exam requirements prior to full licensure. Based on 
the growth in licensing and the retention of license-holders in Florida, the demand 
estimate of 245 projected openings would have to triple to become a gap.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

133



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

100

Clinical, Counseling, and School Psychologists
Summary Observations

∑ Florida projects 239 annual openings for Clinical, Counseling, and School 
Psychologists from 2014 to 2022*.  

∑ Florida produced 405 new graduates in Psychology (doctoral degrees) and 
School Psychology (masters and specialist degrees) in 2012-2013*.

∑ Twenty-seven percent of the past five years of Psychology graduates and 69% of 
the past five years of School Psychologist graduates were found employed in 
Florida within a year of graduation. 

∑ Florida issued 319 new Psychologist and School Psychologist licenses in 2014*
(includes licenses issued to Florida graduates and in-migration); 274 with an 
active license remain in Florida the following year.

∑ Based on available data, it appears that the projected annual openings are 
SUFFICIENTLY SUPPLIED.

* Most recently available data.

Demand

Demand for the occupation is estimated by the projected number of average openings 
for each year of an eight year period (2014-2022). The annual openings are a total of job 
openings due to growth in the occupation and replacement openings. The Florida 
Department of Economic Opportunity’s projections of the percent growth, average 
annual openings, and wage information for the occupation in Florida are presented in 
Table 12A. The U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics provides information on the typical 
education for entry into the profession and a profile of the occupation.

Table 12A. Florida DEO 2014-2022 Projected Demand

SOC
Occupation 

Title

2014-
2022

Percent
Growth

Average Annual 
Openings 2014

Average 
Wage

2014 Entry 
Wage

BLS 
Education 

Level
Growth Replacement Total

193031

Clinical, 
Counseling, 
and School 
Psychologists

16.3 93 146 239 $70,907 $46,883 Doctoral 
degree

BLS Occupational 
Profile

Diagnose and treat mental disorders; learning disabilities; and cognitive, 
behavioral, and emotional problems, using individual, child, family, and 
group therapies. May design and implement behavior modification programs.

Source: FDEO 2014-2022 Employment Projections and U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

134



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

101

The projected growth for Clinical, Counseling, and School Psychologists is slightly 
greater than the average growth rate for all jobs in Florida (12%), with 16.3% growth 
projected for Florida and 11% projected nationally. The entry wage for Psychologists is 
a little more than double the entry wage for all jobs, and the average wage is about 
$30,000 more than the average for all jobs. The Florida Department of Economic 
Opportunity projects 239 annual openings from 2014 to 2022 to meet the projected 
demand for Clinical, Counseling, and School Psychologists. The 146 positions created 
from replacement openings may be a conservative estimate that could be revised 
upward in the near future.

The BLS degree level set for Psychologists is a doctorate.  The education for licensing of 
Psychologists in Florida is a practice or research doctorate, including the Psy.D., Ed.D. 
in Psychology, or a Ph.D. in Psychology. Prior to full licensure, a Provisional 
Psychologist license is issued for a supervisory training period. The licensing for School 
Psychologists in Florida requires completion of a graduate-level School Psychology 
program and 3 years of experience. Graduates with relevant specialist and master’s 
degrees in School Psychology were originally missing from the supply estimates due to 
the focus on the doctoral degree level set by the BLS. The analysis below has been 
adjusted to include the additional program graduates.

Supply

Estimates of potential supply are included in Table 12B.  The potential supply, or 
number of graduates for a given year, is broken out by the programs that align with the 
occupation. Supply is drawn from programs in the public and private sectors and the 
sub-totals for each (SUS and Non-SUS) are included in Table 12B. 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

135



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

102

Table 12B. 
2012-2013 Graduates by CIP for SUS 
and Non-SUS (ICUF, CIE) Institutions

Master’s 
and 

Specialist

Doctor's 
degree -
research

Doctor's 
degree -

professional
Total

42.0101 Psychology, General 111 111
SUS 84 84

Florida International University 8 8
Florida State University 16 16
University of Central Florida 15 15
University of Florida 27 27
University of South Florida 18 18

Non-SUS 27 27
Capella University 9 9
University of Miami 15 15
Walden University 3 3

42.2801 Clinical Psychology 50 108 158
Non-SUS 50 108 158

Argosy University-Tampa 30 30
Carlos Albizu University-Miami 37 37
Florida Institute of Technology 18 18
Nova Southeastern University 13 60 73

42.2803 Counseling Psychology 45 45
SUS 1 1

University of Florida 1 1
Non-SUS 44 44

Argosy University-Sarasota 35 35
Barry University 5 5
Capella University 1 1
University of Miami 3 3

42.2805 School Psychology 68 21 0 89
SUS 42 21 63

Florida A&M University 3 3
Florida International University 7 7
University of Central Florida 14 14
University of Florida 11 10 21
University of South Florida 7 11 18

Non-SUS 26 0 26
Argosy University-Sarasota 5 0 5
Barry University 5 5
Nova Southeastern University 16 16

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

136



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

103

Table 12B.  Continued
2012-2013 Graduates by CIP for SUS and 
Non-SUS (ICUF, CIE) Institutions

Master’s 
and 

Specialist

Doctor's 
degree -
research

Doctor's 
degree -

professional
Total

42.2814 Applied Behavior Analysis 2 2
Non-SUS 2 2

Florida Institute of Technology 2 2
Grand Total 68 229 108 405

Source: IPEDS with additional data and clarification provided by some universities

The SUS programs graduated a total of 148 Psychology (doctorate) and School 
Psychology (master’s and above) students in 2012-2013. The CIE and ICUF programs 
graduated 257 students in 2012-2013. The supply of graduates is from multiple CIPs: 
42.0101, 42.2801, 42.2803, 42.2805, and 42.2814. The supply has been adjusted to include 
68 master’s and specialist degrees in CIP 42.2805 School Psychology. Based on 
correspondence with Nova Southeastern University, the supply of graduates with 
specialist degrees was revised from 49 to 16, as only a smaller portion of the students 
completed the full program that leads to licensure as a School Psychologist.

The CIP-SOC crosswalk for Clinical, Counseling, and School Psychologists includes 
multiple CIPs aligned to multiple SOCs. A weighting adjustment that factors in the 
occupational demand for two additional occupational paths (Other Psychologists and 
Psychology Teachers, Postsecondary) for the graduates of four of the CIPs reduces the 
supply to 292. An adjustment that only includes Other Psychologists as an alternative 
occupational path would bring the supply estimate down to 362 (based on an 
adjustment for CIP 42.0101 from 111 to 62 graduates). The supply with no adjustment, 
or an assumption that all graduates would be available to fill the demand for Clinical, 
Counseling and School Psychologists, is 405 graduates. Three supply scenarios using 
these weighting alternatives are included in the gap analysis section below.

Table 12C shows five years of enrollments for the SUS programs supplying the 
occupation. Enrollment data on ICUF and CIE programs, by CIP, is not available in the 
IPEDS database and was therefore not included.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

137



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

104

Table 12C.
SUS Fall Enrollments by CIP

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

42.0101 Psychology, General (Doctor’s degree)

FIU 58 84 88 89 91

FSU 92 81 87 91 55

UCF 102 101 121 121 116

UF 105 98 111 146 146

USF 89 124 121 116 113

Total 446 488 528 563 521

42.2803 Counseling Psychology

UF 28 21 19 35 31

42.2805 School Psychology (Specialist and Doctor’s degrees)

FAMU 21 19 12 3 0

FIU 48 42 30 24 21

UCF 41 42 42 43 46

UF 62 63 64 59 53

USF 36 38 38 38 35

Total 208 204 186 167 155

Source: Board of Governors, State University Data System (SUDS)

Overall, enrollments in the General Psychology doctorate programs have increased over 
the past five years. The lower enrollment of 55 students for FSU’s program in 2013 has 
since increased to 107 in 2014. The General Psychology programs at FIU, UF, and USF 
account for most of the growth in enrollment. The Counseling Psychology program at 
the University of Florida has had a small increase in enrollments over the past five 
years. Overall, enrollments in the School Psychology programs have declined from 2009 
to 2013. Contributing to the decline is the termination of the program at FAMU in 
Spring 2011 and decreased enrollments in the FIU and UF programs.

Gap Analysis

Table 12D is a summary of the demand and supply presented above, with a calculation 
of the difference of these estimates. A negative value, in red, or a positive value closer to 
zero suggests a gap where the potential supply may not fill the projected demand.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

138



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

105

Table 12D. DEO 2014-2022 Projected Demand and CIP Supply

Three scenarios are presented in Table 12D, incorporating the different supply estimates 
from the previous section. If a full adjustment is made to the supply, then 292 graduates 
are included as potential supply and will slightly exceed the 239 projected annual 
openings by 53. If the supply is adjusted to include only one alternative occupational 
pathway, then 362 of the graduates are counted in the supply and exceed the projected 
annual openings by 123. If no adjustment is made and all of the graduates are included 
as potential supply, then the supply of 405 exceeds the projected annual openings by 
166.

Based on licensing data for Psychologists and School Psychologists, the supply of 
graduates for the occupation likely falls within the range presented and meets the 
demand. As shown in the tables below, 319 Psychologists and School Psychologists
were newly licensed in 2014 (with 274 remaining with a Florida address) compared to 
the supply estimates of 292, 362, and 405. The 319 licenses is the sum of licenses issued 
for Psychologists (282 issued in 2014 with 238 remaining in Florida) and School 
Psychologists (37 issued in 2014 with 36 remaining in Florida). However, the number of 
projected annual openings combines Psychologists and School Psychologists so an 
analysis on a gap for either of these alone is not possible. 

The slight growth in licensing and the number of licensees remaining in Florida each 
year for Psychologists and School Psychologists combined suggests the supply is 
sufficient to meet the demand for the broadly-defined occupation.  However, the 
supply may not meet demand if licensing decreases from the 2014 level or if demand is 
revised upward by 50-100 openings.

Contextual Factors

Out-Migration of Graduates

Table 12E summarizes the Florida employment, earnings (annualized), and continuing 
education of graduates in the October-December quarter after graduation. The 
outcomes data reported to FETPIP on CIE graduates was insufficient to include in the 
analysis. The SUS and ICUF percentages and earnings include five years of graduates 
for a more stable estimate of outcomes. Data on graduates who are self-employed is not 

SOC
Occupation 

Title
Annual 

Openings

Adjusted 
Supply (2 

occupation 
alternatives)

Adjusted 
Supply (1 

occupation 
alternative)

Supply
(without 

adjustment)

193031

Clinical, 
Counseling, 
and School 
Psychologists

239 292 362 405

Supply Scenario – Annual Openings 53 123 166

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

139



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

106

included, which has the effect of under-estimating the percent employed and potential 
supply to the workforce.  

Table 12E.
FETPIP Post-Graduation Outcomes 2008-09 to 2012-13, by CIP

Sector (degree)
% 

Employed

% 
Employed 
Full Time

Full Time 
Average 
Earnings

% 
Continuing 
Education

42.0101 Psychology, General

SUS (Doctoral) 20% 19% $63,960 1%
ICUF (Doctoral) 14% 14% $40,008 0%
42.2801 Clinical Psychology 

ICUF (Doctoral) 36% 27% $44,296 1%
42.2803 Counseling Psychology

SUS (Doctoral) 18% 18% *** 0%
ICUF (Doctoral) 46% 46% $53,304 0%
42.2805 School Psychology

SUS (Master’s) 32% 24% *** 84%
ICUF (Master’s) 73% 65% $41,272 2%
SUS (Specialist) 75% 71% $56,688 0%
ICUF (Specialist) 76% 74% $53,556 3%
SUS (Doctoral) 49% 46% $57,160 5%
***Small sample size

Source: Florida Education and Training Placement Information Program (FETPIP)

With the exception of the ICUF Counseling Psychology programs, a quarter or less of 
the graduates of the General, Clinical and Counseling Psychology programs were found 
employed full-time in Florida within a year of graduation. The ICUF Counseling 
Psychology programs had 46% of graduates found employed full-time in Florida within 
a year of graduation. The Psychology graduates found working full-time were earning 
within a range fairly above and slightly below the entry wage for the occupation.
Nearly three-quarters of the specialist-degree graduates and almost half of the doctoral-
degree graduates from the School Psychology programs were found working full-time 
in Florida within a year of graduation. The School Psychology specialist and doctoral 
graduates found working full-time were earning above the entry wage for the 
occupation.

Licensing

Tables 12F and 12G include data collected by the Florida Department of Health from the 
professional licensing boards. Table 12F is a comparison between the Florida 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

140



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

107

Department of Economic Opportunity’s estimate of individuals currently working in 
the occupation, the number DEO projects to be working in 2022, and the number of 
individuals currently holding an active license in the profession. The number of license-
holders can include individuals who are not actively practicing or not practicing full-
time. Use of this number for supply, without adjustment, would in most cases over-
estimate the occupation’s employment.  However, a large difference between DEO’s 
total employment and the number of licenses can be one indication of an overly 
conservative demand estimate.

Table 12F. Comparison of DEO 2014-2022 Total Employment and 
Current DOH Licensure for Psychologists and School 
Psychologists (combined)

FL Department of Economic Opportunity

2014 Total Employment 4,556
2022 Projected Total Employment 5,298

FL Department of Health, Medical Quality Assurance

Total In-State Active Licenses
(as of April 1, 2015) 4,867

Source: FDEO 2014-2022 Employment Projections and FDOH Health Care Practitioner Data 
Portal (accessed April 1, 2015)

The number of in-state, active Psychologist and School Psychologist licenses is close to 
the DEO total employment figure, especially considering no adjustment has been made 
to subtract the license-holders who are not currently practicing. 

Table 12G includes data on the number of new licenses issued each year, for the past six 
years. This provides additional context to the estimate of new, annual supply for the 
workforce. However, a percentage of the newly licensed leave Florida over time. The 
number retained is a snapshot of how many of the individuals licensed in previous 
years still (as of April 1, 2015) have a Florida practice address and hold an active, clear 
license. The majority of those licensed since 2009 and who were not retained have left 
Florida; their license status had not changed.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

141



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

108

Source: FDOH Health Care Practitioner Data Portal (accessed April 1, 2015)

The number of Psychologist and School Psychologist licenses issued each year has 
increased overall from 2009 to 2014, but with some fluctuation. In 2014, 319 licenses 
were issued and 274 remain in the state. Based on the licensing trend and the retention 
of license-holders in Florida, a moderate increase to the current demand estimate of 239 
projected openings could create a gap.

Table 12G. DOH Initial Licenses Issued, by year, and Retention 
for Psychologists and School Psychologists (combined)

Year of Initial 
License Issued

Number of 
Initial Licenses 

Issued

Sub-set of 
Column 2 Still 

In-State and 
Active as of 
April 1, 2015

% Retained 
In-State 

(Column 3/ 
Column 2 * 100)

2009 222 179 81%
2010 209 167 80%
2011 305 232 76%
2012 258 205 79%
2013 299 252 84%
2014 319 274 86%

Percent 
Change from 

2009-2014
44%

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

142



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

109

Mental Health and Substance Abuse Social Workers
Summary Observations

∑ Florida projects 186 annual openings for Mental Health and Substance Abuse 
Social Workers from 2014 to 2022*.  

∑ Florida produced 1,779 new graduates from all degree levels in Social Work in 
2012-2013*.

∑ Sixty-seven percent of the past five years of Social Work graduates were found 
employed in Florida within a year of graduation. 

∑ There is no Florida licensure for Mental Health and Substance Abuse Social 
Workers, although licensed Clinical Social Workers and Florida Certified 
Addiction Professionals could fill the demand.

∑ Based on available data, it appears that the projected annual openings are 
SUFFICIENTLY SUPPLIED. 

* Most recently available data.

Demand

Demand for the occupation is estimated by the projected number of average openings 
for each year of an eight year period (2014-2022). The annual openings are a total of job 
openings due to growth in the occupation and replacement openings. The Florida 
Department of Economic Opportunity’s projections of the percent growth, average 
annual openings, and wage information for the occupation in Florida are presented in 
Table 13A. The U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics provides information on the typical 
education for entry into the profession and a profile of the occupation.

Table 13A. Florida DEO 2014-2022 Projected Demand

SOC
Occupation 

Title

2014-
2022

Percent
Growth

Average Annual 
Openings 2014

Average 
Wage

2014 Entry 
Wage

BLS 
Education 

Level
Growth Replacement Total

211023

Mental Health 
and Substance 
Abuse Social 
Workers

16.8 88 98 186 $40,726 $27,123 Bachelor’s 
degree

BLS Occupational 
Profile

Assess and treat individuals with mental, emotional, or substance abuse 
problems, including abuse of alcohol, tobacco, and/or other drugs. Activities 
may include individual and group therapy, crisis intervention, case 
management, client advocacy, prevention, and education.

Source: FDEO 2014-2022 Employment Projections and U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

143



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

110

The projected growth for Mental Health and Substance Abuse Social Workers is greater 
than the average growth rate for all jobs in Florida (12%), with 16.8% growth projected 
for Florida and 23% nationally. The entry wage for Mental Health and Substance Abuse 
Social Workers is about $8,000 higher than the entry wage for all jobs, and the average 
wage is roughly the same as the average for all jobs. The education set by the BLS for 
this group of social workers is a bachelor’s degree, whereas the education for Medical 
and Public Health Social Workers is set at the master’s degree. Because the occupational 
demand for Mental Health and Substance Abuse Social Workers can be met by 
bachelor’s or higher degree graduates, a portion of the supply may hold Florida 
licensure as Clinical Social Workers (master’s and doctoral degree-holders only) and 
some may seek certification in Florida as Certified Addiction Professionals (bachelor’s 
degree or higher). 

The Florida Department of Economic Opportunity projects 186 annual openings from 
2014 to 2022 to meet the projected demand. The 98 positions created from replacement 
openings may be a conservative estimate that could be revised upward in the near 
future.

Supply

Estimates of potential supply are included in Table 13B.  The potential supply, or 
number of graduates for a given year, is broken out by the programs that align with the 
occupation. Supply is drawn from programs in the public and private sectors and the 
sub-totals for each (SUS and Non-SUS) are included in Table 13B. 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

144



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

111

Table 13B.
2012-2013 Graduates by CIP for SUS and 
Non-SUS (ICUF, CIE) Institutions

Bachelor's 
degree

Master's 
degree

Doctor's 
degree -
research

Doctor's 
degree -

professional Total

44.0701 Social Work 853 920 5 1 1779
SUS 719 724 5 1448

Florida A&M University 74 22 96
Florida Atlantic University 139 98 237
Florida Gulf Coast University 41 17 58
Florida International University 101 113 2 216
Florida State University 111 240 1 352
University of Central Florida 111 143 254
University of South Florida 65 48 2 115
University of West Florida 77 43 120

Non-SUS 134 196 1 331
Barry University 22 182 0 204
Capella University 1 1
Florida Memorial University 10 10
Saint Leo University 56 14 70
Southeastern University 19 19
Thomas University 12 12
Union Institute & University 10 10
Warner University 5 5

Source: IPEDS with additional data and clarification provided by some universities

The supply totals in Table 13B are similar to that provided for Medical and Public 
Health Social Workers, except the bachelor’s degree graduates have been included to 
match the education level set by BLS for Mental Health and Substance Abuse Social 
Workers. The inclusion of the additional graduates brings the total supply from all 
degree levels to 1,779. The supply of graduates includes bachelor’s, master’s and PhD 
graduates from the 44.0701 Social Work CIP. The SUS programs graduated 1,448 
students in 2012-2013. The CIE and ICUF programs graduated 331 students in 2012-
2013. The CIP-SOC methodology yields significant adjustments to the supply based on 
multiple occupational paths available to the Social Work graduates. Specifically, the 
adjusted supply includes only 20% of bachelor’s graduates (168 of 853 graduates), 12% 
of master’s graduates (113 of 920 graduates), and 12% of doctoral graduates (1 of 6 
graduates) from the Social Work CIP. Graduates can work in other areas of social work 
and a portion of the graduates may go into management or teaching positions.

Table 13C shows five years of enrollments for the SUS programs supplying the 
occupation. Enrollment data on ICUF and CIE programs, by CIP, is not available in the 
IPEDS database and was therefore not included.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

145



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

112

Table 13C. SUS Fall Enrollments by CIP 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

44.0701 Social Work

FAMU
Bachelor's degree 132 204 283 298 264

Master's degree 58 64 65 58 46

FAU
Bachelor's degree 321 358 409 446 512

Master's degree 160 181 216 241 267

FGCU
Bachelor's degree 71 83 134 134 156

Master's degree 50 59 58 42 38

FIU
Bachelor's degree 226 258 281 282 299

Master's degree 172 207 225 233 201

Doctor's degree - research 10 11 15 17 16

FSU
Bachelor's degree 291 287 329 363 335

Master's degree 368 433 465 522 495

Doctor's degree - research 27 28 24 22 26

UCF

Bachelor's degree 233 306 363 362 391

Master's degree 267 359 340 347 340

UNF
Bachelor's degree 0 0 0 0 31

USF
Bachelor's degree 430 336 233 182 208

Master's degree 204 138 164 145 144

Doctor's degree - research 17 17 21 19 16

UWF
Bachelor's degree 150 173 193 203 193

Master's degree 47 89 63 82 85

Total
Bachelor's degree 1854 2005 2225 2270 2389

Master's degree 1326 1530 1596 1670 1616

Doctor's degree - research 54 56 60 58 58

Source: Board of Governors, State University Data System (SUDS)

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

146



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

113

Overall, the enrollments for the bachelor’s degree programs have increased. The 
University of South Florida’s program is the only bachelor’s degree program showing a 
decline in enrollments from 2009 to 2013. The overall enrollments for the Social Work 
master’s programs have also increased, primarily due to increased enrollments in the 
Florida Atlantic University and Florida State University programs. Enrollments in the 
doctoral programs have remained steady.

Gap Analysis

Table 13D is a summary of the demand and supply presented above, with a calculation 
of the difference of these estimates. A negative value, in red, or a positive value closer to 
zero suggests a gap where the potential supply may not fill the projected demand.

Table 13D. DEO 2014-2022 Projected Demand and CIP Supply

SOC Occupation Title
Annual 

Openings

Adjusted 
Supply 
(% of 

graduates)

Supply
(without 

adjustment)

211023
Mental Health and 
Substance Abuse 
Social Workers

186 282 1,779

Supply Scenario – Annual Openings 96 1,593

Two scenarios are presented in Table 13D, incorporating the adjusted and unadjusted 
supply estimates from the previous section. If an adjustment for multiple occupational 
paths is made to the supply, then 282 graduates are included as potential supply and 
exceed the 186 projected annual openings by 96. If no adjustment is made and all of the 
Social Work graduates are included as potential supply, then the supply exceeds the 
projected annual openings by 1,593. The lower, adjusted supply number is likely a 
better estimate than the unadjusted total.  The reasoning is that only a subset of 
graduates are available for the Mental Health and Substance Abuse Social Work 
occupation because it competes with the other social work occupations, including those 
requiring higher degree levels and licensure as Clinical Social Workers.

Unlike some of the other occupations in this report, Mental Health and Substance 
Abuse Social Workers are not required to license and so an annual licensure figure is 
not available for comparison. A portion of the occupation’s supply may be licensed 
Clinical Social Workers, but the bachelor’s degree-holders would not be eligible for this 
license. However, they would be able to certify in Florida as Certified Addiction 
Professionals. A database maintained by the Certification Board for Addictions 
Professionals shows roughly 3,000 individuals are currently certified (an annual 
certification estimate is not available). The DEO estimates 4,165 workers for the 2014 
total employment for Mental Health and Substance Abuse Social Workers and projects 
that to grow to 4,865 for 2022. Based on these figures, it is likely that a combination of 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

147



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

114

certified bachelor’s graduates and licensed master’s graduates work in the occupation 
and satisfy the demand.  

Even with the significant adjustment, the inclusion of the bachelor’s degree graduates in 
the supply totals makes the occupation sufficiently supplied. The 186 projected annual 
openings of are fully met by the 281 adjusted bachelor’s and master’s totals.

Contextual Factors

Out-Migration of Graduates

Table 13E summarizes the Florida employment, earnings (annualized), and continuing 
education of graduates in the October-December quarter after graduation. The 
outcomes data reported to FETPIP on CIE graduates was insufficient to include in the 
analysis. The SUS and ICUF percentages and earnings include five years of graduates 
for a more stable estimate of outcomes. Data on graduates who are self-employed is not 
included, which has the effect of under-estimating the percent employed and potential 
supply to the workforce.  

Table 13E.
FETPIP Post-Graduation Outcomes 2008-09 to 2012-13, by CIP

44.0701 Social Work

Sector
% 

Employed

% 
Employed 
Full Time

Full Time 
Average 
Earnings

% 
Continuing 
Education

SUS (Bachelor’s) 65% 46% $30,660 39%
ICUF (Bachelor’s) 54% 32% $27,808 14%
SUS (Master’s) 72% 65% $37,140 5%
ICUF (Master’s) 67% 60% $39,716 2%
SUS (Doctoral) 38% 32% $87,448 3%

Source: Florida Education and Training Placement Information Program (FETPIP)

Less than half of the Social Work bachelor’s graduates are found working full-time in 
Florida within a year of graduation and a relatively high percentage continue their 
education. Sixty to 65% of master’s graduates are found working full-time in Florida 
within a year of graduation and earning close to the average wage for the occupation. 
Only 32% of the doctoral graduates are found working full-time, but with significantly 
higher earnings.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

148



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

115

Health Educators
Summary Observations

∑ Florida projects 177 annual openings for Health Educators from 2014 to 2022*.  
∑ Florida produced 850 Health Educator graduates in 2012-2013*.
∑ Fifty-one percent of the past five years of Health Educator graduates were found 

employed in Florida within a year of graduation. 
∑ Florida does not currently require a license for Health Educators.
∑ Based on available data, it appears that the projected annual openings are 

SUFFICIENTLY SUPPLIED.

* Most recently available data.

Demand

Demand for the occupation is estimated by the projected number of average openings 
for each year of an eight year period (2014-2022). The annual openings are a total of job 
openings due to growth in the occupation and replacement openings. The Florida 
Department of Economic Opportunity’s projections of the percent growth, average 
annual openings, and wage information for the occupation in Florida are presented in 
Table 14A. The U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics provides information on the typical 
education for entry into the profession and a profile of the occupation.

Table 14A. Florida DEO 2014-2022 Projected Demand 

SOC
Occupation 

Title

2014-
2022

Percent
Growth

Average Annual 
Openings 2014

Average 
Wage

2014 Entry 
Wage

BLS 
Education 

Level
Growth Replacement Total

211091 Health 
Educators 26.0 107 70 177 $44,824 $28,309 Bachelor’s 

degree

BLS Occupational 
Profile

Provide and manage health education programs that help individuals, 
families, and their communities maximize and maintain healthy lifestyles. 
Collect and analyze data to identify community needs prior to planning, 
implementing, monitoring, and evaluating programs designed to encourage 
healthy lifestyles, policies, and environments. May serve as resource to assist 
individuals, other health professionals, or the community, and may 
administer fiscal resources for health education programs. Excludes 
"Community Health Workers" (21-1094).

Source: FDEO 2014-2022 Employment Projections and U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics

The projected growth for Health Educators is greater than the average growth rate for 
all jobs in Florida (12%), with 26% growth projected in Florida and 19% nationally. The 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

149



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

116

entry wage for Health Educators is roughly $10,000 higher than the entry wage for all 
jobs, and the average wage is roughly equal to the average for all jobs. The education set 
by the BLS as the typical education for entry into the occupation is a bachelor’s degree. 
No licensure is currently required to work as a Health Educator in Florida. The Florida 
Department of Economic Opportunity projects 177 annual openings from 2014 to 2022 
to meet the projected demand for Health Educators. The 70 positions created from 
replacement openings may be a conservative estimate that could be revised upward in 
the near future.

Supply

Estimates of potential supply are included in Table 14B.  The potential supply, or 
number of graduates for a given year, is broken out by the programs that align with the 
occupation. Supply is drawn from programs in the public and private sectors and the 
sub-totals for each (SUS and Non-SUS) are included in Table 14B. 

Table 14B.
2012-2013 Graduates by CIP for SUS and 
Non-SUS (ICUF, CIE) Institutions

Bachelor's 
degree

Master's 
degree

Doctor's 
degree -
research Total

51.1504 Community Health Services 19 5 24
SUS 19 5 24

University of West Florida 19 5 24
51.2201 Public Health, General 251 552 23 826

SUS 230 491 23 744
Florida International University 142 5 147
Florida State University 23 23
University of West Florida 22 22
University of Florida 85 1 86
University of South Florida 230 197 15 442
Florida A&M University 22 2 24

Non-SUS 21 61 82
Barry University 10 10
Nova Southeastern University 51 51
University of Tampa 21 21

Grand Total 270 557 23 850
Source: IPEDS with additional data and clarification provided by some universities

The SUS programs graduated 768 students in 2012-2013. The ICUF programs graduated 
82 students in 2012-2013. The supply of graduates is from the 51.1504 and 51.2201 CIPs 
and requires no weighting adjustment for multiple occupational paths if the Medical 
and Health Services Managers occupation is excluded. A small portion of the graduates 
may go into management positions, but a sufficient number of graduates remain 
available to meet the demand. 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

150



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

117

Table 14C shows five years of enrollments for the SUS programs supplying the 
occupation. Enrollment data on ICUF and CIE programs, by CIP, is not available in the 
IPEDS database and was therefore not included.

Table 14C.
SUS Fall Enrollments by CIP

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

51.1504 Community Health Services/Liaison/Counseling

UWF
Bachelor's degree 54 46 42 50 41

Master's degree 14 15 17 13 16

51.2201 Public Health, General

FAMU
Master's degree 62 54 82 68 61

Doctor's degree - research 0 0 0 14 22

FIU
Master's degree 390 397 313 211 169

Doctor's degree - research 44 57 51 56 66

FSU
Master's degree 39 42 57 38 32

UF
Master's degree 103 132 156 159 154

Doctor's degree - research 0 0 15 26 34

USF
Bachelor's degree 0 0 427 690 819

Master's degree 465 520 508 554 609

Doctor's degree - research 113 120 118 122 119

UWF
Master's degree 34 60 91 107 124

Total
Bachelor's degree 0 0 427 690 819

Master's degree 1093 1205 1207 1137 1149

Doctor's degree - research 157 177 184 218 241

Source: Board of Governors, State University Data System (SUDS)

Overall, enrollments in the SUS Public Health programs at the bachelor’s and doctoral 
level have increased. The master’s programs have remained steady over the past five 
years.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

151



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

118

Gap Analysis

Table 14D is a summary of the demand and supply presented above, with a calculation 
of the difference of these estimates. A negative value, in red, or a positive value closer to 
zero suggests a gap where the potential supply may not fill the projected demand.

Table 14D. DEO 2014-2022 Projected Demand and CIP Supply

SOC
Occupation 

Title
Annual 

Openings
Supply

Supply –
Annual 

Openings

211091 Health 
Educators 177 850 673

The supply of 850 graduates exceeds the 177 projected annual openings by 673. Much 
like Epidemiologists, changes in health care practice around disease prevention and the 
maintenance of chronic health conditions could increase the demand for Health 
Educators in the coming years. However, even if the demand is revised upward, the 
supply of 850 potential Health Educator graduates should be adequate to fill the 
demand.

Contextual Factors

Out-Migration of Graduates

Table 14E summarizes the Florida employment, earnings (annualized), and continuing 
education of graduates in the October-December quarter after graduation. The 
outcomes data reported to FETPIP on CIE graduates was insufficient to include in the 
analysis. The SUS and ICUF percentages and earnings include five years of graduates 
for a more stable estimate of outcomes. Data on graduates who are self-employed is not 
included, which has the effect of under-estimating the percent employed and potential 
supply to the workforce.  

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

152



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

119

Table 14E.
FETPIP Post-Graduation Outcomes 2008-09 to 2012-13, by CIP

Sector
% 

Employed

% 
Employed 
Full Time

Full Time 
Average 
Earnings

% 
Continuing 
Education

51.1504 Community Health Services

SUS (Bachelor’s) 54% 36% $30,992 32%
SUS (Master’s) 65% 55% $37,644 5%
51.2201  Public Health, General

SUS (Bachelor’s) 69% 47% $29,772 35%
ICUF (Bachelor’s) 43% 17% *** 12%
SUS (Master’s) 48% 41% $48,512 12%
ICUF (Master’s) 49% 46% $59,712 4%
SUS (Doctoral –
research) 43% 39% $66,140 1%

***Small sample size
Source: Florida Education and Training Placement Information Program (FETPIP)

With the exception of the SUS master’s graduates, fewer than half of the potential 
Health Educator graduates are found working full-time in Florida within a year of 
graduation. There is no licensure for Health Educators in Florida so a good estimate of 
net migration is not available.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

153



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

120

Dietitians and Nutritionists
Summary Observations

∑ Florida projects 175 annual openings for Dietitians and Nutritionists from 2014 to 
2022*.  

∑ Florida produced 375 new Dietitian and Nutritionist graduates in 2012-2013*.
∑ Sixty-one percent of the past five years of Dietitian and Nutritionist graduates 

were found employed in Florida within a year of graduation. 
∑ Florida issued 388 new Dietitian and Nutritionist licenses in 2014* (includes 

licenses issued to Florida graduates and in-migration); 324 with an active license 
remain in Florida the following year.

∑ Based on available data, it appears that the projected annual openings are 
SUFFICIENTLY SUPPLIED.  

* Most recently available data.

Demand

Demand for the occupation is estimated by the projected number of average openings 
for each year of an eight year period (2014-2022). The annual openings are a total of job 
openings due to growth in the occupation and replacement openings. The Florida 
Department of Economic Opportunity’s projections of the percent growth, average 
annual openings, and wage information for the occupation in Florida are presented in 
Table 15A. The U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics provides information on the typical 
education for entry into the profession and a profile of the occupation.

Table 15A. Florida DEO 2014-2022 Projected Demand 

SOC
Occupation 

Title

2014-
2022

Percent
Growth

Average Annual 
Openings 2014

Average 
Wage

2014 Entry 
Wage

BLS 
Education 

Level
Growth Replacement Total

291031 Dietitians and 
Nutritionists 13.2 56 119 175 $55,474 $38,501 Bachelor’s 

degree

BLS Occupational 
Profile

Plan and conduct food service or nutritional programs to assist in the 
promotion of health and control of disease. May supervise activities of a
department providing quantity food services, counsel individuals, or conduct 
nutritional research.

Source: FDEO 2014-2022 Employment Projections and U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics

The projected growth for Dietitians and Nutritionists is slightly greater than the average 
growth rate for all jobs in Florida (12%), with 13.2% growth projected in Florida. The 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

154



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

121

national projected growth is larger at 21%. The entry wage for Dietitians and 
Nutritionists is double the entry wage for all jobs, and the average wage is moderately 
higher than the average for all jobs. Licensure as a Dietitian and Nutritionist in Florida 
requires a bachelor’s degree, 900 hours of pre-professional supervised practice in 
dietetics or nutrition, and passage of the dietitian exam of the Commission on Dietetic 
Registration. The Florida Department of Economic Opportunity projects 175 annual 
openings from 2014 to 2022 to meet the projected demand for Dietitians and 
Nutritionists. The 119 positions created from replacement openings may be a 
conservative estimate that could be revised upward in the near future.

Supply

Estimates of potential supply are included in Table 15B.  The potential supply, or 
number of graduates for a given year, is broken out by the programs that align with the 
occupation. Supply is drawn from programs in the public and private sectors and the 
sub-totals for each (SUS and Non-SUS) are included in Table 15B. 

Table 15B.
2012-2013 Graduates by CIP for SUS and 
Non-SUS (ICUF, CIE) Institutions

Bachelor's 
degree

Master's 
degree

Doctor's 
degree -
research Total

30.1901 Nutrition Sciences 40 7 47
SUS

University of Florida (Bachelor’s from 01.1001) 40 7 47
51.3101 Dietetics/Dietitian 256 69 0 325

SUS 242 69 0 311
Florida International University 48 40 0 88
Florida State University 86 17 103
University of Florida (from 01.1001) 30 30
University of North Florida 78 12 90

Non-SUS 14 14
Keiser University-Ft Lauderdale 14 14

51.3102 Clinical Nutrition/Nutritionist 3 3
SUS

Florida State University 3 3
Grand Total 299 69 7 375

Source: IPEDS with additional data and clarification provided by some universities

The SUS programs graduated 361 students in 2012-2013. The ICUF program, at Keiser 
University, graduated 14 students in 2012-2013. The supply of graduates is from three 
CIPs – 30.1901, 51.3101, and 51.3102 – and a weighting for multiple occupational paths 
was applied to CIP 30.1901. The adjustment to CIP 30.1901 reduced the supply of 
graduates by 20, with sixty percent of the graduates included as potential supply. The 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

155



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

122

other two CIPs did not require adjusting and 100% of the graduates are included as 
supply in the gap analysis. 

The supply was also adjusted to remove 107 bachelor’s graduates from a Johnson and 
Wales program, CIP 19.0505, for poor fit with the occupation. A portion of relevant 
graduates (40 from Nutrition and 30 from Dietetics) from a University of Florida 
program in CIP 01.1001 was included after review of the program. Students in this 
program will be moved to CIPs 30.1901 and 51.3101 starting in Fall 2014 and will be 
captured in the CIP-SOC crosswalk going forward.

The education for entry into the occupation and licensing are set at the bachelor’s 
degree, so the impact of including the higher degree levels was considered. Removal of 
the seven PhDs from the supply estimate will not significantly change the gap 
calculation. Likewise, the removal of the master’s graduates from supply would leave 
283 bachelor’s graduates to meet the 175 projected annual openings. The supply of PhD 
and master’s graduates likely includes a portion of pre-professionals who would be 
eligible for licensure upon graduation, and were therefore left in the supply totals.

Table 15C shows five years of enrollments for the SUS programs supplying the 
occupation. Enrollment data on ICUF and CIE programs, by CIP, is not available in the 
IPEDS database and was therefore not included.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

156



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

123

Table 15C.
SUS Fall Enrollments by CIP

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

30.1901 Nutrition Sciences

UF
Doctor's degree – research 9 13 13 23 25

51.3101 Dietetics/Dietitian

FIU
Bachelor's degree 281 341 419 475 498

Master's degree 119 123 137 113 101

Doctor's degree – research 10 14 14 16 17

FSU
Bachelor's degree 370 343 327 248 84

Master's degree 64 63 57 52 39

UNF
Bachelor's degree 0 0 259 340 373

Master's degree 0 0 31 37 43

Total
Bachelor's degree 651 684 1005 1063 955

Master's degree 183 186 225 202 183

Doctor's degree – research 10 14 14 16 17

51.3102 Clinical Nutrition/Nutritionist

FSU
Bachelor's degree 0 0 0 38 188

Source: Board of Governors, State University Data System (SUDS)

Florida International University’s baccalaureate program had a significant increase in 
enrollments over the past five years. The programs at University of North Florida also 
had increasing enrollments. Florida State University’s programs in CIP 51.3101 had
declining enrollments, but the baccalaureate program had growth in CIP 51.3102. 

Gap Analysis

Table 15D is a summary of the demand and supply presented above, with a calculation 
of the difference of these estimates. A negative value, in red, or a positive value closer to 
zero suggests a gap where the potential supply may not fill the projected demand.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

157



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

124

Table 15D. DEO 2014-2022 Projected Demand and CIP Supply

SOC
Occupation 

Title
Annual 

Openings
Adjusted 
Supply

Supply –
Annual 

Openings

291031 Dietitians and 
Nutritionists 175 355 180

The supply of 355 graduates, adjusted slightly for multiple occupational paths, exceeds 
the 175 projected annual openings by 180. Additionally, 388 Dietitians and Nutritionists 
were newly licensed in 2014 (with 324 remaining with a Florida address) compared to 
the supply estimate of 355, suggesting a small amount of in-migration. Based on 
significant growth in licensing over the past six years and the number of licensees 
remaining in Florida each year, the occupation appears to be sufficiently supplied.  

Contextual Factors

Out-Migration of Graduates

Table 15E summarizes the Florida employment, earnings (annualized), and continuing 
education of graduates in the October-December quarter after graduation. The 
outcomes data reported to FETPIP on CIE graduates was insufficient to include in the 
analysis. The SUS and ICUF percentages and earnings include five years of graduates 
for a more stable estimate of outcomes. Data on graduates who are self-employed is not 
included, which has the effect of under-estimating the percent employed and potential 
supply to the workforce.  

Table 15E.
FETPIP Post-Graduation Outcomes 2008-09 to 2012-13, by CIP

Sector (degree)
% 

Employed

% 
Employed 
Full Time

Full Time 
Average 
Earnings

% 
Continuing 
Education

30.1901  Nutrition Sciences
SUS (Doctoral -
research) 31% 31% *** 0%

51.3101  Dietetics/Dietitian

SUS (Bachelor’s) 63% 42% $30,980 31%
ICUF (Bachelor’s) 71% 67% $45,988 5%
SUS (Master’s) 57% 51% $42,328 7%
51.3102  Clinical Nutrition/Nutritionist

SUS (Bachelor’s) 67% 67% *** 0%
***Small sample size

Source: Florida Education and Training Placement Information Program (FETPIP)

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

158



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

125

Forty-two percent of the SUS bachelor’s graduates are found working full-time within a 
year of graduation and have less than average entry wages for the occupation. A 
significant portion of these graduates are continuing education. A higher percentage of 
the ICUF bachelor’s graduates (67%) and SUS master’s graduates (51%) are found 
employed full-time in Florida and earning a higher than average entry wage.

Licensing

Tables 15F and 15G include data collected by the Florida Department of Health from the 
professional licensing boards. Table 15F is a comparison between the Florida 
Department of Economic Opportunity’s estimate of individuals currently working in 
the occupation, the number DEO projects to be working in 2022, and the number of 
individuals currently holding an active license in the profession. The number of license-
holders can include individuals who are not actively practicing or not practicing full-
time. Use of this number for supply, without adjustment, would in most cases over-
estimate the occupation’s employment.  However, a large difference between DEO’s 
total employment and the number of licenses can be one indication of an overly 
conservative demand estimate.

Table 15F. Comparison of DEO 2014-2022 Total Employment and 
Current DOH Licensure

FL Department of Economic Opportunity

2014 Total Employment 3,429
2022 Projected Total Employment 3,880

FL Department of Health, Medical Quality Assurance

Total In-State Active Licenses
(as of April 1, 2015) 3,708

Source: FDEO 2014-2022 Employment Projections and FDOH Health Care Practitioner Data 
Portal (accessed April 1, 2015)

The number of in-state, active Dietitian and Nutritionist licenses is close to the DEO 
total employment figure, especially considering no adjustment has been made to 
subtract the license-holders who are not currently practicing. 

Table 15G includes data on the number of new licenses issued each year, for the past six 
years. This provides additional context to the estimate of new, annual supply for the 
workforce. However, a percentage of the newly licensed leave Florida over time. The 
number retained is a snapshot of how many of the individuals licensed in previous 
years still (as of April 1, 2015) have a Florida practice address and hold an active, clear 
license. The majority of those licensed since 2009 and who were not retained have left 
Florida; their license status had not changed.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

159



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

126

Table 15G. DOH Initial Licenses Issued, by year, and Retention 

Year of Initial 
License Issued

Number of 
Initial Licenses 

Issued

Sub-set of 
Column 2 Still 

In-State and 
Active as of 
April 1, 2015

% Retained 
In-State 

(Column 3/ 
Column 2 * 100)

2009 219 145 66%
2010 235 150 64%
2011 259 179 69%
2012 275 216 79%
2013 330 274 83%
2014 388 324 84%

Percent 
Change from 

2009-2014
77%

Source: FDOH Health Care Practitioner Data Portal (accessed April 1, 2015)

The number of Dietitian and Nutritionist licenses issued each year has been increasing, 
with larger increases in 2013 and 2014. In 2014, 388 licenses were issued and 324 remain 
in the state. Based on the growth in licensing and the retention of license-holders in 
Florida, the demand estimate of 175 projected openings would have to almost double to 
become a gap.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

160



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

127

Veterinarians
Summary Observations

∑ Florida projects 162 annual openings for Veterinarians from 2014 to 2022*.  
∑ Florida produced 86 new Veterinary graduates in 2012-2013*.
∑ Fifty-one percent of the past five years of Veterinary graduates were found 

employed in Florida within a year of graduation. 
∑ Florida issued 467 new Veterinarian licenses in 2014* (includes licenses issued to 

Florida graduates and in-migration); 341 with an active license remain in Florida 
the following year.

∑ Based on available data, it appears that the projected annual openings are 
SUFFICIENTLY SUPPLIED.

* Most recently available data.

Demand

Demand for the occupation is estimated by the projected number of average openings 
for each year of an eight year period (2014-2022). The annual openings are a total of job 
openings due to growth in the occupation and replacement openings. The Florida 
Department of Economic Opportunity’s projections of the percent growth, average 
annual openings, and wage information for the occupation in Florida are presented in 
Table 16A. The U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics provides information on the typical 
education for entry into the profession and a profile of the occupation.

Table 16A. Florida DEO 2014-2022 Projected Demand 

SOC
Occupation 

Title

2014-
2022

Percent
Growth

Average Annual 
Openings 2014

Average 
Wage

2014 Entry 
Wage

BLS 
Education 

Level
Growth Replacement Total

291131 Veterinarians 19.5 90 72 162 $102,710 $64,917 Doctoral 
degree

BLS Occupational 
Profile

Diagnose, treat, or research diseases and injuries of animals. Includes 
veterinarians who conduct research and development, inspect livestock, or 
care for pets and companion animals.

Source: FDEO 2014-2022 Employment Projections and U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics

The projected growth for Veterinarians is greater than the average growth rate for all 
jobs in Florida (12%), with 19.5% growth projected for Florida and only 12% nationally. 
The entry wage for Veterinarians is much higher than the entry wage for all jobs, and 
the average wage is almost three times the average for all jobs. The education required 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

161



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

128

for licensure as a Veterinarian in Florida is the professional doctorate, or D.V.M. degree. 
The Florida Department of Economic Opportunity projects 162 annual openings from 
2014 to 2022 to meet the projected demand for Veterinarians. The 72 positions created 
from replacement openings may be a conservative estimate that could be revised 
upward in the near future.

Supply

Estimates of potential supply are included in Table 16B.  The potential supply, or 
number of graduates for a given year, is broken out by the programs that align with the 
occupation. Supply is drawn from programs in the public and private sectors and the 
sub-totals for each (SUS and Non-SUS) are included in Table 16B. 

Table 16B.
2012-2013 Graduates by CIP for SUS and 
Non-SUS (ICUF, CIE) Institutions

Doctor's 
degree -

professional

51.2401 Veterinary Medicine 86
SUS

University of Florida 86

Source: IPEDS with additional data and clarification provided by some universities

The University of Florida has the only D.V.M. professional doctorate program in the 
state, under CIP 51.2401. The UF program had 86 professional degree graduates in 12-
13. The CIP-SOC crosswalk also includes CIP 51.2501 for Veterinary Medical Sciences, 
which had 8 PhD graduates at UF in 12-13. However, a review of the program’s website 
shows the Veterinary Medical Sciences pathway is focused on research and not 
preparing students as practicing Veterinarians. Therefore, the 8 PhD graduates are 
likely to work as researchers and match to a different occupational code, or already 
hold D.V.M. licenses, and have been backed out of the supply. 

Table 16C shows five years of enrollments for the SUS programs supplying the 
occupation. Enrollment data on ICUF and CIE programs, by CIP, is not available in the 
IPEDS database and was therefore not included.

Table 16C.
SUS Fall Enrollments by CIP

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

51.2401 Veterinary Medicine (Doctor's degree – professional)

UF 348 360 371 402 426

Source: Board of Governors, State University Data System (SUDS)

The University of Florida’s professional Veterinary program has had an increase in 
enrollments over the past five years.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

162



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

129

Gap Analysis

Table 16D is a summary of the demand and supply presented above, with a calculation 
of the difference of these estimates. A negative value, in red, or a positive value closer to 
zero suggests a gap where the potential supply may not fill the projected demand.

Table 16D. DEO 2014-2022 Projected Demand and CIP Supply

SOC
Occupation 

Title
Annual 

Openings
Supply

Supply –
Annual 

Openings
291131 Veterinarians 162 86 -76

When considered alone, the supply of 86 graduates is a significant undersupply for the 
162 projected annual openings. A large gap could be created if a high percentage of 
graduates leave the state and in-migration doesn’t fill the demand. However, as shown
in the tables below, 467 Veterinarians were newly licensed in 2014 (with 341 remaining 
with a Florida address) compared to the supply estimate of 86, suggesting large in-
migration. Based on significant growth in licensing and the number of licensees 
remaining in Florida each year, the occupation appears to be sufficiently supplied.  

Contextual Factors

Out-Migration of Graduates

Table 16E summarizes the Florida employment, earnings (annualized), and continuing 
education of graduates in the October-December quarter after graduation. The 
outcomes data reported to FETPIP on CIE graduates was insufficient to include in the 
analysis. The SUS and ICUF percentages and earnings include five years of graduates 
for a more stable estimate of outcomes. Data on graduates who are self-employed is not 
included, which has the effect of under-estimating the percent employed and potential 
supply to the workforce.

Table 16E.
FETPIP Post-Graduation Outcomes 2008-09 to 2012-13, by CIP

51.2401 Veterinary Medicine (Doctor's degree – professional)

Sector
% 

Employed

% 
Employed 
Full Time

Full Time 
Average 
Earnings

% 
Continuing 
Education

SUS 51% 48% $61,712 0%

Source: Florida Education and Training Placement Information Program (FETPIP)

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

163



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

130

Roughly half of the Veterinarian graduates are found working full-time in 
Florida within a year of graduation and with earnings close to the average entry wage 
for the occupation.

Licensing

Tables 16F and 16G include data collected by the Florida Department of Business and 
Professional Regulation (DBPR). Table 16F is a comparison between the Florida 
Department of Economic Opportunity’s estimate of individuals currently working in 
the occupation, the number DEO projects to be working in 2022, and the number of 
individuals currently holding an active license in the profession. The number of license-
holders can include individuals who are not actively practicing or not practicing full-
time. Use of this number for supply, without adjustment, would in most cases over-
estimate the occupation’s employment.  However, a large difference between DEO’s 
total employment and the number of licenses can be one indication of an overly 
conservative demand estimate.

Table 16F. Comparison of DEO 2014-2022 Total Employment and 
Current DBPR Licensure

FL Department of Economic Opportunity

2014 Total Employment 3,683
2022 Projected Total Employment 4,401

FL Department of Business and Professional Regulation

Total In-State Active Licenses
(as of April 1, 2015) 5,657

Source: FDEO 2014-2022 Employment Projections and FDOH Health Care Practitioner Data 
Portal (accessed April 1, 2015)

The number of in-state, active Veterinarian licenses is greater than the DEO 2014 total 
employment and the 2022 projected total employment. This suggests that the demand 
estimate may be overly conservative. Alternatively, the number of license-holders not 
currently in practice, or practicing part-time, may be larger compared to some of the 
other health occupations.

Table 16G includes data on the number of new licenses issued each year, for the past six 
years. This provides additional context to the estimate of new, annual supply for the 
workforce. However, a percentage of the newly licensed leave Florida over time. The 
number retained is a snapshot of how many of the individuals licensed in previous 
years still (as of April 1, 2015) have a Florida practice address and hold an active, clear 
license. The majority of those licensed since 2009 and who were not retained have left 
Florida; their license status had not changed.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

164



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

131

Table 16G. DBPR Initial Licenses Issued, by year, and Retention 

Year of Initial 
License Issued

Number of 
Initial Licenses 

Issued

Sub-set of 
Column 2 Still 

In-State and 
Active as of 
April 1, 2015

% Retained 
In-State 

(Column 3/ 
Column 2 * 100)

2009 242 178 74%
2010 272 200 74%
2011 301 219 73%
2012 365 281 77%
2013 406 329 81%
2014 467 341 73%

Percent 
Change from 

2009-2014
93%

Source: FDOH Health Care Practitioner Data Portal (accessed April 1, 2015)

The number of Veterinarian licenses issued each year has been increasing, with an 
almost doubling of the licenses issued from 2009-2014. In 2014, 467 licenses were issued 
and 341 remain in the state. Based on the growth in licensing and the retention of 
license-holders in Florida, the demand estimate of 162 projected openings would have 
to more than double to become a gap.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

165



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

132

Marriage and Family Therapists
Summary Observations

∑ Florida projects 142 annual openings for Marriage and Family Therapists from 
2014 to 2022*.  

∑ Florida produced 171 new graduates in Marriage and Family Therapy in 2012-
2013*.

∑ Sixty-three percent of the past five years of Marriage and Family Therapy 
graduates were found employed in Florida within a year of graduation. 

∑ Florida issued 108 new Marriage and Family Therapist licenses in 2014* (includes 
licenses issued to Florida graduates and in-migration); 100 with an active license 
remain in Florida the following year.

∑ Based on available data, it appears that the projected annual openings are
SUFFICIENTLY SUPPLIED. The adequate supply of graduates and license-
holders in closely related occupations could fill any unmet demand for Marriage 
and Family Therapists. At the 5-digit SOC, where related occupations can be 
grouped together, the supply of therapists and counselors far exceeds the 
projected number of openings.

* Most recently available data.

Demand

Demand for the occupation is estimated by the projected number of average openings 
for each year of an eight year period (2014-2022). The annual openings are a total of job 
openings due to growth in the occupation and replacement openings. The Florida 
Department of Economic Opportunity’s projections of the percent growth, average 
annual openings, and wage information for the occupation in Florida are presented in 
Table 17A. The U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics provides information on the typical 
education for entry into the profession and a profile of the occupation.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

166



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

133

Table 17A. Florida DEO 2014-2022 Projected Demand

SOC
Occupation 

Title

2014-
2022

Percent
Growth

Average Annual 
Openings 2014

Average 
Wage

2014 Entry 
Wage

BLS 
Education 

Level
Growth Replacement Total

211013
Marriage and 
Family 
Therapists

27.7 88 54 142 $45,219 $31,637 Master’s 
degree

BLS Occupational 
Profile

Diagnose and treat mental and emotional disorders, whether cognitive, 
affective, or behavioral, within the context of marriage and family systems. 
Apply psychotherapeutic and family systems theories and techniques in the 
delivery of services to individuals, couples, and families for the purpose of 
treating such diagnosed nervous and mental disorders. Excludes "Social 
Workers" (21-1021 through 21-1029) and "Psychologists" of all types (19-3031 
through 19-3039).

Source: FDEO 2014-2022 Employment Projections and U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics
The projected growth for Marriage and Family Therapists is significantly greater than 
the average growth rate for all jobs in Florida (12%), with 27.7% growth projected for 
Florida and 31% nationally. The entry wage for Marriage and Family Therapists is 
about $10,000 higher than the entry wage for all jobs, and the average wage is roughly 
$5,000 higher than the average for all jobs. The education required for licensure as a 
Marriage and Family Therapist in Florida is the master’s degree. The Florida 
Department of Economic Opportunity projects 142 annual openings from 2014 to 2022 
to meet the projected demand for Marriage and Family Therapists. The 54 positions 
created from replacement openings may be a conservative estimate that could be 
revised upward in the near future.

Supply

Estimates of potential supply are included in Table 17B.  The potential supply, or 
number of graduates for a given year, is broken out by the programs that align with the 
occupation. Supply is drawn from programs in the public and private sectors and the 
sub-totals for each (SUS and Non-SUS) are included in Table 17B. 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

167



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

134

Table 17B.
2012-2013 Graduates by CIP for SUS and 
Non-SUS (ICUF, CIE) Institutions

Master's 
degree

Doctor's 
degree -
research

Doctor's 
degree -

professional Total

44.0701 Social Work 920 5 1 926
SUS 724 5 729

Florida A&M University 22 22
Florida Atlantic University 98 98
Florida Gulf Coast University 17 17
Florida International University 113 2 115
Florida State University 240 1 241
University of Central Florida 143 143
University of South Florida 48 2 50
University of West Florida 43 43

Non-SUS 196 0 1 197
Barry University 182 0 182
Capella University 1 1
Saint Leo University 14 14

51.1505 Marriage and Family Therapy 150 20 1 171
SUS 45 11 56

Florida State University 8 8
University of Central Florida 21 21
University of Florida 24 3 27

Non-SUS 105 9 1 115
Argosy University-Sarasota 4 4
Argosy University-Tampa 6 6
Nova Southeastern University 55 9 1 65
Palm Beach Atlantic University 15 15
St Thomas University 8 8
Stetson University 11 11
University of Miami 6 6

51.1506 Clinical Pastoral Counseling/Patient 
Counseling 1 12 13

Non-SUS 1 12 13
Argosy University-Sarasota 12 12

S. FL Bible College and Theological Seminary 1 1
Grand Total 1071 37 2 1110

Source: IPEDS with additional data and clarification provided by some universities

According to the CIP-SOC crosswalk, the supply of graduates is from the 44.0701 Social 
Work CIP, the 51.1505 Marriage and Family Therapy CIP, and the 51.1506 Patient 
Counseling CIP. The total number of graduates from all three CIPs is 1,110, but an 
adjustment for multiple occupational paths yields 252 graduates as potential supply 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

168



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

135

(includes just 9% of the Social Worker master’s graduates). However, a review of the 
Florida licensing requirements and program descriptions for Marriage and Family 
Therapy suggests a closer alignment with Mental Health Counseling than the Social 
Work curriculum. It is more likely that the supply from Mental Health Counseling 
overlaps with Marriage and Family Therapy, and it is less likely that the occupation is 
filled by Social Workers.

When just the CIP 51.1505 Marriage and Family Therapy programs are considered, the 
SUS programs graduated 56 students in 2012-2013. The CIE and ICUF programs 
graduated 115 students in 2012-2013. A portion of the graduates may go into 
management or teaching positions, which is particularly likely for the 21 doctoral 
graduates. 

A few additional programs offer specializations in Marriage and Family Therapy 
outside of the 51.1505 CIP, but it is unclear how many of the graduates specialize in 
Marriage and Family Therapy compared with the other specializations of Mental 
Health Counseling and Rehabilitation Counseling.  The supply estimates would 
increase by a small amount by including the Marriage and Family Therapy portion of 
the Counselor Education program graduates at FAMU and the Rehabilitation 
Counseling program graduates at USF. Going forward, UF’s programs will also move 
from the 51.1505 CIP to 13.1101 in Education and will not be captured in the CIP-SOC 
crosswalk.

Table 17C shows five years of enrollments for the SUS programs supplying the 
occupation. Enrollment data on ICUF and CIE programs, by CIP, is not available in the 
IPEDS database and was therefore not included.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

169



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

136

Table 17C. SUS Fall Enrollments by 
CIP

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

44.0701 Social Work

FAMU
Master's degree 58 64 65 58 46

FAU
Master's degree 160 181 216 241 267

FGCU
Master's degree 50 59 58 42 38

FIU
Master's degree 172 207 225 233 201

Doctor's degree - research 10 11 15 17 16

FSU
Master's degree 368 433 465 522 495

Doctor's degree - research 27 28 24 22 26

UCF
Master's degree 267 359 340 347 340

USF
Master's degree 204 138 164 145 144

Doctor's degree - research 17 17 21 19 16

UWF
Master's degree 47 89 63 82 85

Total
Master's degree 1326 1530 1596 1670 1616

Doctor's degree - research 54 56 60 58 58

51.1505 Marriage and Family Therapy

FSU
Doctor's degree - research 28 28 29 28 24

UCF
Master's degree 57 69 69 66 66

UF
Master’s degree 28 21 22 0 0

Doctor's degree – research 31 37 32 31 47

Total
Master's degree 85 90 91 66 66

Doctor's degree - research 59 65 61 59 71

Source: Board of Governors, State University Data System (SUDS)

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

170



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

137

Overall, the enrollments for the Social Work master’s programs have increased, 
primarily due to increased enrollments in the Florida Atlantic University and Florida 
State University programs. Enrollments in the Social Work doctoral programs have 
remained steady. Enrollment in the Marriage and Family Therapy master’s program at 
the University of Central Florida has increased slightly, but enrollment at the University 
of Florida slightly decreased through 2011 and was then reported under a different CIP 
code.

Gap Analysis

Table 17D is a summary of the demand and supply presented above, with a calculation 
of the difference of these estimates. A negative value, in red, or a positive value closer to 
zero suggests a gap where the potential supply may not fill the projected demand.

Table 17D. DEO 2014-2022 Projected Demand and CIP Supply

SOC Occupation Title
Annual 

Openings

Adjusted 
Supply 

(Includes 
Social 

Workers)

Supply
(Marriage and 

Family 
Therapy Only)

211013 Marriage and 
Family Therapists 142 252 171

Supply Scenario – Annual Openings 110 29

Two scenarios are presented in Table 17D, with the first including Social Work 
graduates in the supply total and the second not including them. If Social Work
graduates are included and an adjustment for multiple occupational paths is made, then 
252 graduates are included as potential supply and exceed the 142 projected annual 
openings by 110. If only the Marriage and Family Therapy graduates are included in the 
total supply, then the 171 graduates exceeds the projected annual openings by only 29. 
Based on a review of the licensing requirements and program descriptions, the lower 
supply number is likely a better estimate than the larger, adjusted total that includes 
Social Work graduates.  

The licensing numbers for Marriage and Family Therapists provide additional support 
to the nearly balanced demand-supply calculation. As shown in the tables below, 108 
Marriage and Family Therapists were newly licensed in 2014 (with 100 remaining with 
a Florida address) compared to the lower supply estimate of 171. In addition, 195 intern 
licenses were issued in 2014 to new graduates fulfilling the 2 year supervisory 
experience and exam requirements for full licensure. Based on the number of annual 
licenses falling short of the 142 projected annual openings and only small growth in 
licensing, the occupation appears to be undersupplied or near balance.  

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

171



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

138

Contextual Factors

Out-Migration of Graduates

Table 17E summarizes the Florida employment, earnings (annualized), and continuing 
education of graduates in the October-December quarter after graduation. The 
outcomes data reported to FETPIP on CIE graduates was insufficient to include in the 
analysis. The SUS and ICUF percentages and earnings include five years of graduates 
for a more stable estimate of outcomes. Data on graduates who are self-employed is not 
included, which has the effect of under-estimating the percent employed and potential 
supply to the workforce.  

Table 17E.
FETPIP Post-Graduation Outcomes 2008-09 to 2012-13, by CIP

Sector (degree)
% 

Employed

% 
Employed 
Full Time

Full Time 
Average 
Earnings

% 
Continuing 
Education

44.0701 Social Work

SUS (Master’s) 72% 65% $37,140 5%
ICUF (Master’s) 67% 60% $39,716 2%
SUS (Doctoral) 38% 32% $87,448 3%
51.1505  Marriage and Family Therapy/Counseling

SUS (Master’s) 71% 58% $34,016 8%
ICUF (Master’s) 64% 53% $39,816 1%
SUS (Specialist) 60% 47% $36,660 14%
SUS (Doctoral) 44% 32% $62,308 0%
ICUF (Doctoral) 47% 38% $44,024 0%

Source: Florida Education and Training Placement Information Program (FETPIP)

More than half of the master’s Social Work graduates are found working full-time in 
Florida within a year of graduation and with higher earnings than the average entry 
wage for the occupation. Only 32% of doctoral graduates are found working full-time in 
Florida within a year of graduation, but those found have significantly higher earnings. 
Roughly half of the Marriage and Family Therapy master’s and specialist graduates are 
found working full-time in Florida within a year of graduation and with higher 
earnings than the average entry wage for the occupation. Much like the Social Work 
doctoral graduates, about 35% of the Marriage and Family Therapy doctoral graduates 
were found working full-time in Florida within a year of graduation and with higher 
earnings than the master’s and specialist graduates.  

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

172



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

139

Licensing

Tables 17F and 17G include data collected by the Florida Department of Health from the 
professional licensing boards. Table 17F is a comparison between the Florida 
Department of Economic Opportunity’s estimate of individuals currently working in 
the occupation, the number DEO projects to be working in 2022, and the number of 
individuals currently holding an active license in the profession. The number of license-
holders can include individuals who are not actively practicing or not practicing full-
time. Use of this number for supply, without adjustment, would in most cases over-
estimate the occupation’s employment.  However, a large difference between DEO’s 
total employment and the number of licenses can be one indication of an overly 
conservative demand estimate.

Table 17F. Comparison of DEO 2014-2022 Total Employment and 
Current DOH Licensure

FL Department of Economic Opportunity

2014 Total Employment 2,539
2022 Projected Total Employment 3,241

FL Department of Health, Medical Quality Assurance

Total In-State Active Licenses
(as of April 1, 2015) 1,633

Source: FDEO 2014-2022 Employment Projections and FDOH Health Care Practitioner Data 
Portal (accessed April 1, 2015)

The number of in-state, active Marriage and Family Therapy licenses is almost 1,000 less 
than the DEO’s estimate of 2014 total employment. This is unlike most other 
comparisons of licensing and DEO total employment in this report, where licensing has 
exceeded the 2014 employment estimates. One possible reason for the full licensure 
shortfall is the need for 2 years of supervised work experience post-graduation and the 
requirement to license as an intern during this period. In addition to the 1,633 in-state, 
active full licenses, there were also 867 registered interns in the DOH database. 

Table 17G includes data on the number of new licenses issued each year, for the past six 
years. This provides additional context to the estimate of new, annual supply for the 
workforce. However, a percentage of the newly licensed leave Florida over time. The 
number retained is a snapshot of how many of the individuals licensed in previous 
years still (as of April 1, 2015) have a Florida practice address and hold an active, clear 
license. The majority of those licensed since 2009 and who were not retained have left 
Florida; their license status had not changed.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

173



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

140

Table 17G. DOH Initial Licenses Issued, by year, and Retention 

Year of Initial 
License Issued

Number of 
Initial Licenses 

Issued

Sub-set of 
Column 2 Still 

In-State and 
Active as of 
April 1, 2015

% Retained 
In-State 

(Column 3/ 
Column 2 * 100)

2009 96 70 73%
2010 88 66 75%
2011 90 75 83%
2012 115 110 96%
2013 125 112 90%
2014 108 100 93%

Percent 
Change from 

2009-2014
13%

Source: FDOH Health Care Practitioner Data Portal (accessed April 1, 2015)

The number of Marriage and Family Therapy licenses issued each year has been slowly 
increasing. In 2014, 108 licenses were issued and 100 remain in the state. Even with a 
high retention of license-holders in Florida, the number of full licenses issued each year
does not meet the 142 projected openings and leaves a gap of roughly 40 professionals. 
However, another 197 intern licenses were issued in 2014, with 192 remaining in 
Florida. If both the full and intern license-holders are considered as supply for the 
occupation, then more than 300 Marriage and Family Therapists and Interns sufficiently 
supply the demand.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

174



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

141

Rehabilitation Counselors
Summary Observations

∑ Florida projects 108 annual openings for Rehabilitation Counselors from 2014 to 
2022*.  

∑ Florida produced 72 new graduates in Rehabilitation Counseling in 2012-2013*.
∑ Seventy-four percent of the past five years of Rehabilitation Counseling 

graduates were found employed in Florida within a year of graduation. 
∑ There is no Florida licensure for Rehabilitation Counselors.
∑ Based on available data, it appears that the projected annual openings are

SUFFICIENTLY SUPPLIED. The adequate supply of graduates and license-
holders in closely related occupations could fill any unmet demand for 
Rehabilitation Counselors. At the 5-digit SOC, where related occupations can be 
grouped together, the supply of therapists and counselors far exceeds the 
projected number of openings.

* Most recently available data.

Demand

Demand for the occupation is estimated by the projected number of average openings 
for each year of an eight year period (2014-2022). The annual openings are a total of job 
openings due to growth in the occupation and replacement openings. The Florida 
Department of Economic Opportunity’s projections of the percent growth, average 
annual openings, and wage information for the occupation in Florida are presented in 
Table 18A. The U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics provides information on the typical 
education for entry into the profession and a profile of the occupation.

Table 18A. Florida DEO 2014-2022 Projected Demand

SOC
Occupation 

Title

2014-
2022

Percent
Growth

Average Annual 
Openings 2014

Average 
Wage

2014 Entry 
Wage

BLS 
Education 

Level
Growth Replacement Total

211015 Rehabilitation 
Counselors 9.5 39 69 108 $35,630 $25,459 Master’s 

degree

BLS Occupational 
Profile

Counsel individuals to maximize the independence and employability of 
persons coping with personal, social, and vocational difficulties that result 
from birth defects, illness, disease, accidents, or the stress of daily life. 
Coordinate activities for residents of care and treatment facilities. Assess client 
needs and design and implement rehabilitation programs that may include 
personal and vocational counseling, training, and job placement.

Source: FDEO 2014-2022 Employment Projections and U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

175



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

142

The projected growth for Rehabilitation Counselors is less than the average growth rate 
for all jobs in Florida (12%), with only 9.5% growth projected for Florida. However, a 
20% growth rate is projected nationally. The entry wage for Rehabilitation Counselors is 
about $5,000 higher than the entry wage for all jobs, and the average wage is roughly 
$5,000 less than the average for all jobs. The education set by the BLS as typical for entry 
into the occupation is a master’s degree. Florida does not currently license 
Rehabilitation Counselors, but graduates may become nationally certified by passing an 
exam from the Commission on Rehabilitation Counselor Certification. It is likely that 
some individuals who obtain a license as a Mental Health Counselor, Marriage and 
Family Therapist, or Clinical Social Worker also become a Certified Rehabilitation 
Counselor. 

The Florida Department of Economic Opportunity projects 108 annual openings from 
2014 to 2022 to meet the projected demand for Rehabilitation Counselors. The 69 
positions created from replacement openings may be a conservative estimate that could 
be revised upward in the near future.

Supply

Estimates of potential supply are included in Table 18B.  The potential supply, or 
number of graduates for a given year, is broken out by the programs that align with the 
occupation. Supply is drawn from programs in the public and private sectors and the 
sub-totals for each (SUS and Non-SUS) are included in Table 18B. 

Table 18B.
2012-2013 Graduates by CIP for SUS and 
Non-SUS (ICUF, CIE) Institutions

Master's 
degree

Doctor's 
degree -
research Total

13.1101 Counselor Education 9 9
SUS

Florida Atlantic University 7 7
Florida International University 2 2

51.2310 Vocational Rehabilitation Counseling 57 0 57
SUS 57 0 57

Florida State University 4 0 4
University of South Florida 53 53

51.2314 Rehabilitation Science 6 6
SUS

University of Florida 6 6
Grand Total 66 6 72

Source: IPEDS with additional data and clarification provided by some universities

The SUS programs graduated 70 students in 2012-2013 and accounted for the total 
supply from Rehabilitation Counselor CIPs. According to the CIP-SOC crosswalk, the 
supply of graduates is from CIPs 51.2310 and 51.2314 and requires no weighting 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

176



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

143

adjustment for multiple occupational paths if the Health Specialties Teacher, 
Postsecondary occupation is excluded. A small portion of the graduates may go into 
management or teaching positions. Program graduates from Florida Atlantic University 
and Florida International University were added to the supply calculations based on 
accreditation with the Council on Rehabilitation Education and website information. 
Both FAU and FIU offer a Rehabilitation Counseling specialization or major (CIP 
13.1101) in their Department of Counselor Education.

The University of South Florida’s program notes on its website that graduates can 
obtain licenses as Mental Health Counselors or Marriage and Family Therapists and can 
seek certification as Certified Addiction Professionals or Certified Rehabilitation 
Counselors. A portion of the graduates in Table 18B may therefore contribute as 
potential supply for the other counseling and therapy occupations included in this 
report. USF’s 2013-2014 Annual Report to the Council on Rehabilitation Education 
provides the following information on licensing and certification outcomes for five 
years of graduates: of 179 total graduates for years 2009-2013, 25 students have obtained 
a license in any state (assumed to be the Mental Health Counseling or Marriage and 
Family Therapy license), 75 have obtained a provisional or intern license while 
accumulating supervised hours, and 116 have taken the Certified Rehabilitation 
Counselor (CRC) exam. Based on the five year figures, roughly 65% of graduates 
become Certified Rehabilitation Counselors and 55% seek licensure as Mental Health 
Counselors or Marriage and Family Therapists, suggesting some graduates seek both. 

Florida State University’s programs at all degree levels are currently suspended and 
may reactivate after reorganization. FSU had 3 master’s graduates and 1 specialist 
graduate in 2012-2013. The University of Florida terminated a master’s program in CIP 
51.2314 in 2010, and the University of North Florida terminated a master’s program in 
2011. Both cited a loss of faculty and diminished resources as reasons for the 
terminations. USF has implemented a new PhD program in Rehabilitation Sciences 
targeting the preparation of future faculty for the rehabilitation disciplines.

Table 18C shows five years of enrollments for the SUS programs supplying the 
occupation. Enrollment data on ICUF and CIE programs, by CIP, is not available in the 
IPEDS database and was therefore not included.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

177



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

144

Table 18C.
SUS Fall Enrollments by CIP

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

51.2310 Vocational Rehabilitation Counseling

FSU
Master’s degree 11 9 8 1 0

Doctor's degree - research 8 4 5 3 3

USF
Master's degree 179 170 168 150 127

Total
Master's degree 202 179 176 151 127

Doctor's degree - research 8 4 5 3 3

51.2314 Rehabilitation Science

UF
Doctor's degree - research 0 37 35 38 33

Source: Board of Governors, State University Data System (SUDS)

Enrollments have declined as expected for the suspended programs at Florida State 
University. The master’s program at the University of South Florida has also had a 
decline in enrollments since 2009. The USF enrollments also include the Mental Health 
Counseling and Marriage and Family Therapy specializations in the 52.2310 CIP, so it is 
unclear if the number of Rehabilitation Counseling students declined proportionately to 
the total. Likewise, the enrollments for the Counselor Education programs at FAU and 
FIU include other specializations at the master’s level, and it is not possible to separate 
out the portion of Rehabilitation Counselor students (therefore, not included in Table 
18C).  

Gap Analysis

Table 18D is a summary of the demand and supply presented above, with a calculation 
of the difference of these estimates. A negative value, in red, or a positive value closer to 
zero suggests a gap where the potential supply may not fill the projected demand.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

178



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

145

Table 18D. DEO 2014-2022 Projected Demand and CIP Supply

SOC
Occupation 

Title
Annual 

Openings
Supply

Supply –
Annual 

Openings

211015 Rehabilitation 
Counselors 108 72 -36

The supply of 72 Rehabilitation Counselor graduates is a slight undersupply for the 108 
projected annual openings. Unlike some of the other occupations in this report, 
Rehabilitation Counselors are not required to license and so an annual licensure figure 
is not available for comparison. When considered alone, the annual number of 
graduates from Florida’s CORE-accredited Rehabilitation Counselor programs is not 
sufficient to meet the annual demand.  A larger gap could be created if a high 
percentage of graduates leave the state and in-migration doesn’t fill the demand. 
However, it is also likely that a portion of individuals licensed at Mental Health 
Counselors and/or Marriage and Family Therapists also seek out certification as 
Rehabilitation Counselors and satisfy a portion of the occupational demand. This 
overlap in counseling supply and demand could mean that the sufficient supply of 
Mental Health Counselors spills over to fill any gaps in Rehabilitation Counseling. 

Contextual Factors

Out-Migration of Graduates

Table 18E summarizes the Florida employment, earnings (annualized), and continuing 
education of graduates in the October-December quarter after graduation. The 
outcomes reporting to FETPIP on CIE graduates was insufficient to include in the 
analysis. The SUS and ICUF percentages and earnings include five years of graduates 
for a more stable estimate of outcomes. Data on graduates who are self-employed is not 
included, which has the effect of under-estimating the percent employed and potential 
supply to the workforce. 

Table 18E.
FETPIP Post-Graduation Outcomes 2008-09 to 2012-13, by CIP

Sector (degree)
% 

Employed

% 
Employed 
Full Time

Full Time 
Average 
Earnings

% 
Continuing 
Education

51.2310  Vocational Rehabilitation Counseling

SUS (Master’s) 74% 69% $36,136 6%
51.2314 Rehabilitation Science

SUS (Doctoral) 65% 60% $72,080 0%

Source: Florida Education and Training Placement Information Program (FETPIP)

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

179



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

146

Sixty-nine percent of the master’s graduates, who make up most of the occupation’s 
supply, are found working full-time in Florida within a year of graduation and with 
average earnings for the occupation. Sixty percent of the doctoral graduates are found 
working full-time in Florida within a year of graduation and have significantly higher 
earnings. 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

180



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

147

Art and Music Therapists
Summary Observations

∑ Florida projects 82 annual openings for Other Therapists, including Art and 
Music Therapists from 2014 to 2022*.  

∑ Florida produced 50 new graduates in Art and Music Therapy in 2012-2013*.
∑ Forty percent of the past five years of Art and Music Therapy graduates were 

found employed in Florida within a year of graduation. 
∑ There is currently no Florida licensure for Art or Music Therapists.
∑ Based on available data, it appears that the projected annual openings are

SUFFICIENTLY SUPPLIED. A lack of licensure data means that in-migration 
estimates are not available. Additional supply from in-migration and a newly 
proposed program in Music Therapy at Florida Gulf Coast University are likely 
to fill any unmet demand over the projected period.

* Most recently available data.

Demand

Demand for the occupation is estimated by the projected number of average openings 
for each year of an eight year period (2014-2022). The annual openings are a total of job 
openings due to growth in the occupation and replacement openings. The Florida 
Department of Economic Opportunity’s projections of the percent growth, average 
annual openings, and wage information for the occupation in Florida are presented in 
Table 19A. The U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics provides information on the typical 
education for entry into the profession and a profile of the occupation.

Table 19A. Florida DEO 2014-2022 Projected Demand

SOC
Occupation 

Title

2014-
2022

Percent
Growth

Average Annual 
Openings 2014

Average 
Wage

2014 Entry 
Wage

BLS 
Education 

Level
Growth Replacement Total

291129 Therapists, All 
Other 21.9 46 36 82 $65,853 $45,094 Bachelor’s 

degree
BLS Occupational 

Profile
All therapists not listed separately. (CIP-SOC crosswalks to Art and Music 
Therapy programs)

Source: FDEO 2014-2022 Employment Projections and U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics

The projected growth for Other Therapists, including Art and Music Therapists, is 
greater than the average growth rate for all jobs in Florida (12%), with 21.9% growth 
projected for Florida and 32% nationally. The entry wage for Other Therapists is a little 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

181



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

148

more than double the entry wage for all jobs, and the average wage is roughly $25,000 
higher than the average for all jobs. The BLS sets the typical education for entry into Art 
and Music Therapy at a bachelor’s degree. The Florida Department of Economic 
Opportunity projects 82 annual openings from 2014 to 2022 to meet the projected 
demand for Other Therapists, including Art and Music Therapy. The 36 positions 
created from replacement openings may be a conservative estimate that could be 
revised upward in the near future.

Supply

Estimates of potential supply are included in Table 19B.  The potential supply, or 
number of graduates for a given year, is broken out by the programs that align with the 
occupation. Supply is drawn from programs in the public and private sectors and the 
sub-totals for each (SUS and Non-SUS) are included in Table 19B. 

Table 19B.
2012-2013 Graduates by CIP for SUS and 
Non-SUS (ICUF, CIE) Institutions

Bachelor's 
degree

Master's 
degree Total

51.2301 Art Therapy/Therapist 0 15 15
SUS

Florida State University 15 15
Non-SUS

Eckerd College 0 0

51.2305 Music Therapy/Therapist 18 17 35
SUS

Florida State University 15 14 29
Non-SUS

University of Miami 3 3 6
Grand Total 18 32 50

Source: IPEDS with additional data and clarification provided by some universities

The Art and Music Therapy programs at Florida State University accounted for the total 
SUS supply and graduated 44 students in 2012-2013. The ICUF programs graduated 6
students in 2012-2013. Based on the CIP-SOC crosswalk, the supply of graduates is from 
the 51.2301 Art Therapy and 51.2305 Music Therapy CIPs and requires no weighting 
adjustment for multiple occupational paths. 

Table 19C shows five years of enrollments for the SUS programs supplying the 
occupation. Enrollment data on ICUF and CIE programs, by CIP, is not available in the 
IPEDS database and was therefore not included.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

182



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

149

Table 19C.
SUS Fall Enrollments by CIP

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

51.2301 Art Therapy/Therapist

FSU
Master's degree 26 29 29 30 30

51.2305 Music Therapy/Therapist

FSU
Bachelor's degree 83 88 99 107 119

Master's degree 27 34 38 43 55

Source: Board of Governors, State University Data System (SUDS)

The Art Therapy program at Florida State University has had steady enrollments from 
2009 to 2013. The bachelor’s and master’s programs in Music Therapy at FSU have had 
increasing enrollments. 

Gap Analysis

Table 19D is a summary of the demand and supply presented above, with a calculation 
of the difference of these estimates. A negative value, in red, or a positive value closer to 
zero suggests a gap where the potential supply may not fill the projected demand.

Table 19D. DEO 2014-2022 Projected Demand and CIP Supply

SOC
Occupation 

Title
Annual 

Openings
Supply

Supply –
Annual 

Openings

291129 Therapists, 
All Other 82 50 -32

The Other Therapists, including Art and Music Therapists, occupation is likely 
undersupplied. The 50 graduates, including 35 Music Therapy graduates and 15 Art 
Therapy graduates, fall short of the 82 projected annual openings by 32 per year. It is 
possible that demand for other, non-specified therapists are included in the annual 
openings demand estimate. However, the Music and Art Therapy CIPs are the only 
programs identified by the CIP-SOC crosswalk that are graduating students. CIP 
51.3601 for Movement Therapy was also included, but there were no Florida programs. 
Music and Art Therapy professionals are currently not licensed in Florida, but 
legislation has been proposed in 2015 to license Music Therapists in the state.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

183



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

150

Contextual Factors

Out-Migration of Graduates

Table 19E summarizes the Florida employment, earnings (annualized), and continuing 
education of graduates in the October-December quarter after graduation. The 
outcomes data reported to FETPIP on CIE graduates was insufficient to include in the 
analysis. The SUS and ICUF percentages and earnings include five years of graduates 
for a more stable estimate of outcomes. Data on graduates who are self-employed is not 
included, which has the effect of under-estimating the percent employed and potential 
supply to the workforce.  

Table 19E.
FETPIP Post-Graduation Outcomes 2008-09 to 2012-13, by CIP

Sector (degree)
% 

Employed

% 
Employed 
Full Time

Full Time 
Average 
Earnings

% 
Continuing 
Education

51.2301 Art Therapy

SUS (Master’s) 39% 29% $32,412 11%
51.2305 Music Therapy

SUS (Bachelor’s) 45% 26% $26,952 40%

ICUF (Bachelor’s) 40% 24% *** 0%
SUS (Master’s) 39% 25% $35,416 6%
ICUF (Master’s) 20% 0% *** 0%
***Small sample size

Source: Florida Education and Training Placement Information Program (FETPIP)

Roughly one-quarter of the Art and Music Therapy graduates are found working full-
time in Florida within a year of graduation. Those found are earning less than the 
average entry wage for the Other Therapist occupation, although the average earnings 
information may be confounded by additional therapist jobs that are not Art and Music 
Therapy in the catch-all category. A higher percentage of graduates are employed but 
not working full-time; but with the number found still less than half of the graduates, a 
supply gap is likely without significant in-migration.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

184



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

151

Audiologists
Summary Observations

∑ Florida projects 25 annual openings for Audiologists from 2014 to 2022*.  
∑ Florida produced 48 new graduates in Audiology in 2012-2013*.
∑ Roughly 50% of the past five years of pre-professional Audiology graduates were 

found employed in Florida within a year of graduation. 
∑ Florida issued 74 new Audiologist licenses in 2014* (includes licenses issued to 

Florida graduates and in-migration); 59 with an active license remain in Florida 
the following year.

∑ Based on available data, it appears that the projected annual openings are 
SUFFICIENTLY SUPPLIED.

* Most recently available data.

Demand

Demand for the occupation is estimated by the projected number of average openings 
for each year of an eight year period (2014-2022). The annual openings are a total of job 
openings due to growth in the occupation and replacement openings. The Florida 
Department of Economic Opportunity’s projections of the percent growth, average 
annual openings, and wage information for the occupation in Florida are presented in 
Table 20A. The U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics provides information on the typical 
education for entry into the profession and a profile of the occupation.

Table 20A. DEO 2014-2022 Projected Demand 

SOC
Occupation 

Title

2014-
2022

Percent
Growth

Average Annual 
Openings 2014

Average 
Wage

2014 Entry 
Wage

BLS 
Education 

Level
Growth Replacement Total

291181 Audiologists 32.5 22 3 25 $74,110 $59,675 Doctoral 
degree

BLS Occupational 
Profile

Assess and treat persons with hearing and related disorders. May fit hearing 
aids and provide auditory training. May perform research related to hearing 
problems.

Source: FDEO 2014-2022 Employment Projections and U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics

The projected growth for Audiologists is greater than the average growth rate for all 
jobs in Florida (12%), with 32.5% growth projected in Florida and 34% for Audiologists 
nationally. The entry wage for Audiology is three times the entry wage for all jobs, and 
the average wage is almost double the average for all jobs. The education required for 
licensure as an Audiologist in Florida is the professional doctorate, or Aud.D. degree. 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

185



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

152

The Florida Department of Economic Opportunity projects 25 annual openings from 
2014 to 2022 to meet the projected demand for Audiologists. The 3 positions created 
from replacement openings may be a conservative estimate that could be revised 
upward in the near future.

Supply

Estimates of potential supply are included in Table 20B.  The potential supply, or 
number of graduates for a given year, is broken out by the programs that align with the 
occupation. Supply is drawn from programs in the public and private sectors and the 
sub-totals for each (SUS and Non-SUS) are included in Table 20B. 

Table 20B.
2012-2013 Graduates by CIP for SUS and 
Non-SUS (ICUF, CIE) Institutions

Doctor's 
degree -
research

Doctor's 
degree -

professional
Total

51.0202 Audiology/Audiologist 40 40
SUS 23 23

University of Florida 12 12
University of South Florida-Main Campus 11 11

Non-SUS 17 17
Nova Southeastern University 17 17

51.0204 Audiology and Speech-Language 
Pathology 8 8

SUS 8 8
Florida State University 5 5
University of Florida 2 2
University of South Florida-Main Campus 1 1

Grand Total 8 40 48
Source: IPEDS with additional data and clarification provided by some universities

The SUS programs graduated 31 pre-professional students in 2012-2013. The ICUF 
program, at Nova Southeastern University, graduated 17 students in 2012-2013. The 
supply of graduates is from the 51.0202 and 51.0204 CIPs. The supply of graduates from 
the 51.0202 CIP required no weighting for multiple occupational paths and all 40 
graduates were included in the supply total. For CIP 51.0204, significant weighting for 
overlap with PhD programs in Speech and Language Pathology and Communication 
Sciences (based on a review of program websites) led to the supply being reduced to 
one graduate. The adjusted supply total for the gap analysis is 41 after this calculation.
In addition, the supply in Table 20B has been adjusted by removing 38 post-
professionals from UF’s Aud.D. Distance Learning option for Working Professionals 
program in CIP 51.0202.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

186



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

153

Table 20C shows five years of enrollments for the SUS programs supplying the 
occupation. Enrollment data on ICUF and CIE programs, by CIP, is not available in the 
IPEDS database and was therefore not included.

Table 20C.
SUS Fall Enrollments by CIP

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

51.0202 Audiology/Audiologist (Doctor's degree – professional)

UF 148 121 109 125 113

USF 32 46 52 53 50

Total 180 167 161 178 163
51.0204 Audiology and Speech-
Language Pathology

(Doctor's degree – research)

FSU 25 21 19 13 9

UF 19 17 20 24 21

USF 12 13 12 15 15

Total 56 51 51 52 45

Source: Board of Governors, State University Data System (SUDS)

The University of Florida program, the larger of the two SUS practice doctorate
programs, had a small decline in enrollments over the past five years. A portion of these 
students are enrolled in the Distance Learning option for Working Professionals and 
already hold a license in Audiology. The University of South Florida’s program 
increased enrollments overall from 2009 to 2013.

Gap Analysis

Table 20D is a summary of the demand and supply presented above, with a calculation 
of the difference of these estimates. A negative value, in red, or a positive value closer to 
zero suggests a gap where the potential supply may not fill the projected demand.

Table 20D. DEO 2014-2022 Projected Demand and CIP Supply

SOC
Occupation 

Title
Annual 

Openings
Adjusted 
Supply

Supply –
Annual 

Openings
291181 Audiologists 25 41 16

The supply of 41 graduates, adjusted slightly for multiple occupational paths, exceeds 
the 25 projected annual openings by 16. A gap could be created if a high percentage of 
graduates leave the state and in-migration doesn’t fill the demand. However, as shown 
in the tables below, 74 Audiologists were newly licensed in 2014 (with 59 remaining 
with a Florida address) compared to the supply estimate of 41, suggesting some in-

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

187



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

154

migration. Based on steady licensing each year above the number of DEO’s projected 
openings and the number of licensees remaining in Florida each year, the occupation 
appears to be sufficiently supplied.  

Contextual Factors

Out-Migration of Graduates

Table 20E summarizes the Florida employment, earnings (annualized), and continuing 
education of graduates in the October-December quarter after graduation. The 
outcomes data reported to FETPIP on CIE graduates was insufficient to include in the 
analysis. The SUS and ICUF percentages and earnings include five years of graduates 
for a more stable estimate of outcomes. Data on graduates who are self-employed is not 
included, which has the effect of under-estimating the percent employed and potential 
supply to the workforce.  

Table 20E.
FETPIP Post-Graduation Outcomes 2008-09 to 2012-13, by CIP

Sector (degree)
% 

Employed

% 
Employed 
Full Time

Full Time 
Average 
Earnings

% 
Continuing 
Education

51.0202   Audiology/Audiologist
SUS (Doctoral -
professional) 14% 13% $65,316 1%

ICUF (Doctoral 
– professional) 48% 48% $82,544 0%

51.0204 Audiology and Speech-Language Pathology

SUS (Doctoral –
research) 29% 23% $42,208 0%

Source: Florida Education and Training Placement Information Program (FETPIP)

Only 13% of the SUS graduates were found working full-time in Florida within a year 
of graduation. However, this figure includes students from the University of Florida’s 
Distance Learning option for Working Professionals, who already hold a license in 
Audiology. It is better to estimate the Florida retention of pre-professionals using the 
outcomes of the University of South Florida and Nova Southeastern programs, whose 
graduates are not already licensed. Fifty-three percent of the graduates of the USF 
program were found employed, and 47% were found employed full-time in Florida 
within a year of graduation.  Similarly, the program at Nova Southeastern had 48% of 
graduates found working full-time in Florida. 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

188



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

155

Licensing

Tables 20F and 20G include data collected by the Florida Department of Health from the 
professional licensing boards. Table 20F is a comparison between the Florida 
Department of Economic Opportunity’s estimate of individuals currently working in 
the occupation, the number DEO projects to be working in 2022, and the number of 
individuals currently holding an active license in the profession. The number of license-
holders can include individuals who are not actively practicing or not practicing full-
time. Use of this number for supply, without adjustment, would in most cases over-
estimate the occupation’s employment.  However, a large difference between DEO’s 
total employment and the number of licenses can be one indication of an overly 
conservative demand estimate.

Table 20F. Comparison of DEO 2014-2022 Total Employment and 
Current DOH Licensure

FL Department of Economic Opportunity

2014 Total Employment 547
2022 Projected Total Employment 725

FL Department of Health, Medical Quality Assurance

Total In-State Active Licenses
(as of April 1, 2015) 936

Source: FDEO 2014-2022 Employment Projections and FDOH Health Care Practitioner Data 
Portal (accessed April 1, 2015)

The number of in-state, active Audiologist licenses is above the DEO total employment 
and projected employment to 2022. This suggests that the demand estimate may be 
overly conservative. Alternatively, the number of license-holders not currently in 
practice, or practicing part-time, may be larger compared to some of the other health 
occupations.

Table 20G includes data on the number of new licenses issued each year, for the past six 
years. This provides additional context to the estimate of new, annual supply for the 
workforce. However, a percentage of the newly licensed leave Florida over time. The 
number retained is a snapshot of how many of the individuals licensed in previous 
years still (as of April 1, 2015) have a Florida practice address and hold an active, clear 
license. The majority of those licensed since 2009 and who were not retained have left 
Florida; their license status had not changed.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

189



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

156

Table 20G. DOH Initial Licenses Issued, by year, and Retention 

Year of Initial 
License Issued

Number of 
Initial Licenses 

Issued

Sub-set of 
Column 2 Still 

In-State and 
Active as of 
April 1, 2015

% Retained 
In-State 

(Column 3/ 
Column 2 * 100)

2009 65 34 52%
2010 69 41 59%
2011 55 31 56%
2012 61 43 70%
2013 64 51 80%
2014 74 59 80%

Percent 
Change from 

2009-2014
14%

Source: FDOH Health Care Practitioner Data Portal (accessed April 1, 2015)

The number of Audiologist licenses issued each year has stayed steady, with a larger 
increase 2014. In 2014, 74 licenses were issued and 59 remain in the state. Based on the 
steady licensing and the retention of license-holders in Florida, the demand estimate of 
25 projected openings would have to double to become a gap.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

190



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

157

Epidemiologists
Summary Observations

∑ Florida projects 1 annual opening for Epidemiologists from 2014 to 2022*.  
∑ Florida produced 31 new graduates in Epidemiology in 2012-2013*.
∑ Thirty-five percent of the past five years of Epidemiology graduates were found 

employed in Florida within a year of graduation. 
∑ Licensure is not required in Florida, but the DEO estimates only 40 

Epidemiologists are currently employed in Florida and the occupation will grow 
by 20% to 48 Epidemiologists employed in 2022.

∑ Based on available data, it appears that the projected annual openings are 
SUFFICIENTLY SUPPLIED.

* Most recently available data.

Demand

Demand for the occupation is estimated by the projected number of average openings 
for each year of an eight year period (2014-2022). The annual openings are a total of job 
openings due to growth in the occupation and replacement openings. The Florida 
Department of Economic Opportunity’s projections of the percent growth, average 
annual openings, and wage information for the occupation in Florida are presented in 
Table 21A. The U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics provides information on the typical 
education for entry into the profession and a profile of the occupation.

Table 21A. Florida DEO 2014-2022 Projected Demand

SOC
Occupation 

Title

2014-
2022

Percent
Growth

Average Annual 
Openings 2014

Average 
Wage

2014 Entry 
Wage

BLS 
Education 

Level
Growth Replacement Total

191041 Epidemiologists 20.0 1 0 1 $71,531 $44,262 Master’s 
degree

BLS Occupational 
Profile

Investigate and describe the determinants and distribution of disease, 
disability, or health outcomes. May develop the means for prevention and 
control.

Source: FDEO 2014-2022 Employment Projections and U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics

The projected growth for Epidemiologists is greater than the average growth rate for all 
jobs in Florida (12%), with 20% growth projected in Florida and only 10% nationally. 
The entry wage for Epidemiologists is higher than the entry wage for all jobs, and the 
average wage is almost double the average for all jobs. Licensing is not a requirement 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

191



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

158

for Epidemiologists and the education for entry into the profession is a master’s degree.  
The Florida Department of Economic Opportunity projects 1 annual opening from 2014 
to 2022 to meet the projected demand for Epidemiologists. Changes in health care 
practice around disease prevention and infection control could increase the demand for 
Epidemiologists in the coming years. However, even if the demand is revised upward, 
the supply of 31 Epidemiology graduates and a large number of graduates from general 
public health programs around the state should be adequate to fill the demand.

Supply

Estimates of potential supply are included in Table 21B.  The potential supply, or 
number of graduates for a given year, is broken out by the programs that align with the 
occupation. Supply is drawn from programs in the public and private sectors and the 
sub-totals for each (SUS and Non-SUS) are included in Table 21B.

Table 21B.
2012-2013 Graduates by CIP for SUS and 
Non-SUS (ICUF, CIE) Institutions

Master’s 
degree

Doctor's 
degree -
research

Total

26.1309 Epidemiology 27 4 31
SUS

University of Florida 2 2
Non-SUS

University of Miami 27 2 29
Grand Total 27 4 31

Source: IPEDS with additional data and clarification provided by some universities

The University of Florida graduated 2 doctoral students in 2012-2013. The University of 
Miami graduated 27 master’s students and 4 doctoral students in 2012-2013. The supply 
of graduates is from the 26.1309 CIP and is a one-to-one for the occupation. This 
requires no weighting adjustment for multiple occupational paths if the Health 
Specialties Teacher, Postsecondary occupation is excluded. A portion of the doctoral 
graduates may go into management or teaching positions. 

Table 21C shows five years of enrollments for the SUS programs supplying the 
occupation. Enrollment data on ICUF and CIE programs, by CIP, is not available in the 
IPEDS database and was therefore not included.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

192



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

159

Table 21C.
SUS Fall Enrollments by CIP

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013

26.1309 Epidemiology

UF
Master's degree 2 1 0 0 1

Doctor's degree – research 9 17 17 23 23

Source: Board of Governors, State University Data System (SUDS)

Enrollments in the University of Florida master’s program have been very small (with 
no graduates in 2012-2013), but the doctoral program has had increasing enrollments. In 
addition to the Epidemiology program at UF, the SUS has programs in CIP 51.2201 
General Public Health. There were six SUS institutions with master’s programs (1,149 
enrolled in 2013) and four SUS institutions with doctoral programs (241 enrolled in 
2013).

Gap Analysis

Table 21D is a summary of the demand and supply presented above, with a calculation 
of the difference of these estimates. A negative value, in red, or a positive value closer to 
zero suggests a gap where the potential supply may not fill the projected demand.

Table 21D. DEO 2014-2022 Projected Demand and CIP Supply

SOC Occupation Title
Annual 

Openings
Supply

Supply –
Annual 

Openings
191041 Epidemiologists 1 31 30

Changes in health care practice around disease prevention and infection control could 
increase the demand for Epidemiologists in the coming years. However, even if the 
demand is revised upward, the supply of 31 Epidemiology graduates and a large 
number of graduates from general public health programs around the state should be 
adequate to fill the demand.

Contextual Factors

Out-Migration of Graduates

Table 21E summarizes the Florida employment, earnings (annualized), and continuing 
education of graduates in the October-December quarter after graduation. The 
outcomes data reported to FETPIP on CIE graduates was insufficient to include in the 
analysis. The SUS and ICUF percentages and earnings include five years of graduates 
for a more stable estimate of outcomes. Data on graduates who are self-employed is not 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

193



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

160

included, which has the effect of under-estimating the percent employed and potential 
supply to the workforce.  

Table 21E.
FETPIP Post-Graduation Outcomes 2008-09 to 2012-13, by CIP

26.1309 Epidemiology

Sector
% 

Employed

% 
Employed 
Full Time

Full Time 
Average 
Earnings

% 
Continuing 
Education

ICUF (Master’s) 38% 38% $105,016 3%
SUS (Doctoral –
research) 33% 0% *** 0%

ICUF (Doctoral 
– research) 29% 29% *** 0%

***Small sample size
Source: Florida Education and Training Placement Information Program (FETPIP)

Less than half of the Epidemiology graduates are found working full-time in Florida
within a year of graduation, but those found had significantly higher earnings than the 
average entry wage for the occupation. By comparison, 41% of the master’s graduates 
and 39% of the doctoral graduates for the SUS programs in CIP 51.2201 General Public 
Health were found employed full-time in Florida within a year of graduation. Based on 
the size of total employment and the low number of projected openings for 
Epidemiologists in Florida, graduates likely consider a national market for 
employment. There is no licensure for Epidemiologist in Florida so a good estimate of 
net migration is not available.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

194



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

161

EMERGING AND EVOLVING OCCUPATIONS

As part of its environmental scan, the Health Initiatives Committee and Advisory 
Group considered emerging and evolving health occupations.  Emerging occupations 
are newly forming occupations in which new skills and competencies in the workforce 
are becoming formally recognized.  Evolving occupations are occupations that currently 
exist but are being redefined by changes in necessary skills and competencies.

One area of particular concern is personalized medicine and the need for a workforce 
with practice-oriented and increasingly complex biomedical knowledge and skills. 
Further review of programs that prepare graduates for the practice of personalized 
medicine, in subjects like Genetics, Pharmacogenetics, and Bioinformatics, may be 
warranted. Genetics and Bioinformatics may be program areas that are evolving and in 
the future it may be necessary to prepare more Genetic Counselors and more medical 
science graduates with practice-oriented skills in personalized medicine. 
Pharmacogenetics on the other hand may be an emerging area where student and 
workforce demand will grow as new technologies are developed.

Another area of concern is preventive and population health and an increasing need for 
community-based health workers. Occupational Health and Safety Specialists and 
Environmental Health Scientists were two occupations that could not be fully evaluated 
for this gap analysis based on the current classification of programs. The role of Health 
Educators, Community Health Workers (typically not required to have a Bachelor’s 
degree), Epidemiologists, Occupational Health and Safety Specialists, and 
Environmental Health Scientists may evolve to be needed in a greater number of 
workforce settings and demand may increase as health promotion and prevention 
programs expand.

CONCLUSIONS AND NEXT STEPS

Nurses and Physicians are the most likely of the 21 occupational groups presented in 
the results section of this report to be under-supplied. Physical Therapists, Occupational 
Therapists, and Dentists had contextual factors that indicate they are sufficiently 
supplied but should be monitored for changes to supply or demand. For those 
occupations with Florida licensure, only Marriage and Family Therapists had fewer 
licenses issued in 2014 than the projected annual openings. However, considerable 
overlap in the counselor and therapy occupations leads to the conclusion that overall 
supply is sufficient to fill any unmet demand for the specific counselor and therapy 

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

195



DRAFT
May 18, 2015

162

occupations. Several occupations had fewer graduates in 2012-2013 than the projected 
number of projected openings, but licensing data suggests that in-migration may offset 
this gap. Enough licenses for Physical Therapists, Occupational Therapists, and 
Veterinarians appear to be issued each year to meet the projected annual openings, but 
a gap could be created if in-migration falls, if a high percentage chooses not to work (or 
only part-time) in the field, or if demand increases above the projections.  

Nurse Practitioners and Nurse Anesthetists appear to be under-supplied when the 
retention of license-holders in Florida is considered. This may not be a problem of 
producing enough Florida graduates, since 720 pre-professional Nurse Practitioners 
and Nurse Anesthetists graduated in 2012-2013 and the projected annual openings for 
both occupations is 497. Rather, retention of graduates and license-holders may be the 
problem, as more than half of the 2014 licensees (388 of 688) left the state within a year 
of licensing. Similarly, the annual licensing for Dentists also falls short of meeting the 
511 projected annual openings when considering that only 443 of the 569 licenses issued 
in 2014 currently remain in-state and active. However, in this case, the addition of 100 
new graduates a year from the Lake Erie College of Medicine Dental program should 
offset this shortage beginning in 2016.

The next steps of Health Initiatives Committee will be to consider the analysis and draw 
conclusions on which occupations are under-supplied. Population growth and the 
distribution of the population (and health care needs) around the state are two trends 
that influence all of the occupations reviewed for this report and are additional factors 
to consider as the Committee moves forward. Florida’s population will continue to 
grow.  The state’s demographics are not expected to stabilize or to decrease, as other 
states project.  Instead, all projections show continued increases in population as far out
as these projections are made. Florida’s health care needs are not evenly distributed 
throughout the state.  Rural areas, in particular, can be under-supplied, even as the state 
as a whole has sufficient supply in any given health care occupation. For these reasons, 
the conclusions for this gap analysis may differ at the regional level or for the adequate 
care of specific populations.

Based upon the report’s findings and consideration of additional factors, the Board will 
develop a Strategic Plan for Health Initiatives to advance the quality, coordination, and, 
where appropriate, growth of educational programs, across the State University System 
to better position Florida to respond to future workforce needs.

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

196



Figure 3. Summary of Projected Annual Demand and Annual Supply by Occupation

Total 
Employed

Total
In-State 
Active 

Licenses

2012-2013
Graduates
Un-Adjusted* 

2012-2013
Graduates

Adjusted**

New
Licenses 
Issued in 

2014

New
2014 Licenses 
Still In-State 

(April 2015)

Adjusted
Graduates -

Demand 

New
Licenses -
Demand 

291141 Registered Nurses                                                               167,360 201,318 6,979 13,103 8,653 22,965 14,256 1,674 7,277
291171 Nurse Practitioners                                                             6,478 14,515 357 580 523 256 223 -101
291151 Nurse Anesthetists                                                              2,400 2,814 140 140 165 44 0 -96
291069 Physicians and Surgeons, All Other
291062 Family and General Practitioners
291063 Internists, General
291067 Surgeons
291061 Anesthesiologists
291065 Pediatricians, General
291064 Obstetricians and Gynecologists
291066 Psychiatrists

3 291051 Pharmacists 19,171 20,947 844 828 828 1,471 1,071 -16 227
4 291123 Physical Therapists 12,462 12,348 527 417 417 1,066 676 -110 149

291021 Dentists, General
291022 Oral and Maxillofacial Surgeons
291023 Orthodontists
291029 Dentists, All Other Specialists

6 291122 Occupational Therapists 6,402 6,537 320 242 242 664 442 -78 122
7 291127 Speech and Language Pathologists 7,295 7,624 306 518 517 738 562 211 256
8 292011 Medical and Clinical Laboratory Technologists 10,040 12,493 303 1,208 1,208 940 638 905 335
9 211022 Medical and Public Health Social Workers 5,553 7,638 302 925 475** 706 589 173 287
10 291071 Physician Assistants 4,846 6,355 250 464 464 740 583 214 333
11 211014 Mental Health Counselors 5,182 8,681 245 1,150 1,150 799 730 905 485
12 193031 Clinical, Counseling, and School Psychologists 4,556 4,867 239 405 292** 319 274 53 35
13 211023 Mental Health & Substance Abuse Social Workers 4,165 3,000**** 186 1,779 282** NA NA 96 NA
14 211091 Health Educators 3,286 NA 177 850 850 NA NA 673 NA
15 291031 Dietitians and Nutritionists 3,429 3,708 175 375 355 388 324 180 149
16 291131 Veterinarians 3,683 5,657 162 86 86 467 341 -76 179
17 211013 Marriage and Family Therapists 2,539 1,633 142 1,110 171** 108 100 29 -42
18 211015 Rehabilitation Counselors 3,282 N/A 108 72 72 NA NA -36 NA
19 291129 Art and Music Therapists (Therapists, All Other) 1,693 NA 82 50 50 NA NA -32 NA
20 291181 Audiologists 547 936 25 48 41 74 59 16 34
21 191041 Epidemiologists 40 NA 1 31 31 NA NA 30 NA

Annual Gap Analysis

-306 -68

2014 Workforce

4,727***

569

52,534***

10,449

975

205511 205

1,638

Projected 
Annual 
Demand 

2014-2022

Annual Supply

2,542***

Report 
Chapter

5

2

SOC Occupation Title

1

*** Includes licenses for Medical Doctor and Osteopathic Physician

** Adjusted Supply is the total of graduates after an adjustment for multiple occupational pathways has been applied. For four occupations (Medical and Public Health Social Workers; Clinical, Counseling, and School Psychologists; 
Mental Health and Substance Abuse Social Workers; and Marriage and Family Therapists) more than one adjusted supply estimate is provided in the occupational chapter (see Table D. and the chapter narrative). Figure 3 above 
includes the adjusted supply from the likeliest scenario.

****Licensure is not required for Mental Health and Substance Abuse Social Workers. Rather, the 3,000 estimate in the 2014 Workforce column is the number of current Florida Certified Addiction Professionals, issued by the Florida 
Certification Board.

41,838

10,188 443

* Unadjusted Supply is the total of graduates before any adjustment for multiple occupational pathways has been applied. Unadjusted Supply includes all of the pre-professional (previously not licensed) program graduates and may 
include some program graduates that were initially left out of the CIP-SOC crosswalk but were added based on website reviews and university correspondence noting a relevant, license-eligible program.

See occupational chapter for 
additional details on GME and 
demand-supply by specialty 

area

1,934 975

Board of Governors Committee Meetings - Health Initiatives Committee

197


	Introductory Materials
	Agenda Cover
	Activities Schedule

	Facilities Committee
	Approval of Committee Meeting Minutes; Governor Huizenga
	Agenda Item for Committee action
	Minutes, March 18, 2105

	Facilities Return on Investment (ROI); Mr. Chris Kinsley, Assistant Vice Chancellor, Finance and Facilities, Board of Governors
	Agenda Item for Committee information
	Checklist
	Presentation

	Public Private Partnerships Guidelines; Mr. Kinsley; Ms. Vikki Shirley, General Counsel, Board of Governors
	Agenda Item for Committee discusion
	Key Issue Response Summary
	Up Front Approval Proposal


	Health Initiatives Committee
	Gap Analysis for Health Occupations; Ms. Amy Beaven, Director, STEM/Health Initiatives, Board of Governors
	Agenda Item for Committee information
	Supply/Demand Workforce Gap Analysis on Health-Related Programs as Part of the Environmental Scan of the Board of Governors Health Initiatives Committee
	Errata Sheet
	Gap Analysis Report
	Gap Summary Table




